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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

Since the middle of the 19th century, Chief The Key and his followers had 
resided in the vicinity of the Shoal River in southwestern Manitoba, where 
they hunted, fished, and pursued employment with the Hudson's Bay Com- 
pany. Their homeland was part of the territory ceded to the Crown by the 
terms of Treaty 4 in 1874, although The Key Band did not adhere to treaty 
until September 1875. They had some ground under cultivation by the time 
of their adherence to treaty, but they did not receive a reserve until 1878, 
when some 31,000 acres of land were surveyed for them at Swan River. In 
1880, officials of the Department of Indian Affairs decided that the likelihood 
of annual flooding made the location of the reserve unsuitable and 
encouraged the Band to relocate to the Fort Pelly district, about 90 miles to 
the southwest. 

Chief The Key, together with 12 families, was agreeable to the move, and 
this group relocated permanently to Fort Pelly in 1882. The majority of the 
Band, however, refused to leave their traditional homeland. Under the leader- 
ship of Headman John Beardie, the group resident at Shoal River petitioned 
the Department of Indian Affairs in 1882, 1884, and 1885 for their own 
reserve at that location, stating that they had no interest in relocating to a 
new reserve at Pelly and repudiating the leadership of Chief The Key. The 
department did not consider it advisable to grant their request, however, and 
proceeded on the assumption that the entire Band would eventually settle at 
Pelly. As a result, a reserve sufficient in size for 190 people was surveyed in 
1883 for The Key Band at Pelly, even though only 83 band members resided 
at that location. The new reserve, Indian Reserve (IR) 65, was formally con- 
firmed by Order in Council in May 1889 and withdrawn from the operation 
of the Dominion Lands Act in June 1893. 

In 1889, the Department of Indian Affairs finally acceded to the repeated 
requests of the Shoal River Indians and began to survey a number of small 
reserves for their use in the vicinity of Shoal River. Several of the orders in 



council codrming these reserves appeared to indicate that they had been set 
aside for the entire Key Band, but at least one of them referred merely to "the 
Indians of Treaty No. 4." Until 1902, the Shoal River Indians were listed on 
one paylist with the followers of Chief The Key and required to travel to PeUy 
for their annuity payments. From 1902 onward, however, the Shoal River 
Indians were placed on a separate paylist entitled "Shoal River Band Paid at 
Shod River Reserve," and administrative responsibility for them was trans- 
ferred to a separate agency. 

In the meantime, the followers of Chief The Key had established them- 
selves at PeUy and had begun to cultivate grain and garden crops, although 
their progress was slow. They appeared to be more successful at stock rais- 
ing, and, in support of this activity, the department set aside 20 square miles 
of haylands in 1893 for communal use by the three PeUy Agency Bands, 
including The Key Band. By 1899, however, approximately one-half of the 
haylands were required by the Department of the Interior for other purposes, 
leaving only 6,000 acres for the use of the three bands. 

As a result, in 1902-03, the Department of Indian Affairs put forward a 
plan to exchange less valuable lands within the three reserves for the remain- 
ing haylands. Officials of the department instructed Agent H.A. Carruthers to 
approach The Key Band to discuss the surrender and exchange proposal, and 
a meeting was held at IR 65 on December 14, 1903. At that time, a majority 
of the Band indicated their assent to the surrender of a strip of land on the 
west side of the reserve in exchange for a portion of the haylands, as well as 
the surrender and sale of a strip of land on the east side of the reserve to 
fund the acquisition of machinery and horses for the Band. Chief The Key 
voted against the proposal, in the agent's opinion, because it was "the thin 
edge of the wedge, and ... his whole Reserve would ultimately be taken from 
him." According to the agent, Chief The Key acknowledged, however, that the 
plan was in the best interests of the Band. In any event, the 1903 surrender 
proposal never materialized, and the department did not discuss the subject 
of surrenders with The Key Band again until 1908. 

In the early years of the 20th century, the dominion government initiated a 
policy of encouraging non-aboriginal agricultural settlement on the prairies. 
In support of this policy, the Department of Indian Affairs promoted surren- 
ders and sales of reserve land in those areas where it considered that the 
Indians were holding tracts of farming land beyond their possible require- 
ments. To facilitate the policy, the Indian Act was amended in 1906 to per- 
mit the department to advance up to 50 per cent of the anticipated sale 



proceeds to a band immediately on surrender. The advance could be used to 
provide agricultural provisions, support for the elderly, and other such items, 
thereby giving departmental officials considerable flexibility in negotiating 
surrenders. 

In the spring of 1908, Dr E.L. Cash, the local Member of Parliament and 
one-time departmental medical officer for the Pelly Agency, wrote to the 
department about a possible surrender of The Key reserve. In response, Dep- 
uty Superintendent General Frank Pedley advised him that the department 
was not aware of any desire by the Band to surrender its reserve. In July 
1908, Agent W.G. Blewett at PeUy told Inspector W.M. Graham that members 
of The Key Band wished to sell 13 sections of their reserve land because they 
had "too much land and not enough horses and implements." The land to be 
surrendered was identified as a one-mile-wide strip on the west side of the 
reserve, and a one-and-one-half-mile-wide strip on the east side of the 
reserve. It was also stipulated that each band member would receive an 
immediate payment of $80 at the time of surrender. Blewett supported the 
proposal, as did Graham, although the latter noted that he required a deci- 
sion concerning the right of the Shoal River Indians to vote on the surrender. 

In January 1909, Graham reported that he had held a meeting with mem- 
bers of The Key Band to discuss the surrender and had persuaded them to 
surrender 17 sections of reserve land instead of the 13 sections originally 
contemplated. He also noted that the Band had requested that the immediate 
payment be increased to $100, an amount he considered reasonable. 

No immediate action was taken to obtain the surrender, and in April 1909 
Agent Blewett wrote to his superiors conveying the concern expressed by 
members of The Key Band over the delay. Graham finally arrived at The Key 
reserve to take the surrender on May 18, 1909, and subsequently reported to 
the Deputy Superintendent General that "nearly all the members of the Band 
were present and the vote was unanimous." The surrender document bears 
the purported marks of five band members and the signatures of two other 
band members, although no record exists of how many attended or voted in 
favour. A surrender paylist bearing the same date as the surrender indicates 
that 87 band members were paid the contemplated $100 advance. An &da- 
vit of Inspector Graham and of Chief The Key, dated May 19, 1909, attests 
that the surrender meeting was held and that the surrender was assented to 
by a majority of the male members of the Band of the Full age of 21 years and 
present at the meeting. This document bears Graham's signature and the 
purported mark of Chief The Key. 
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AU the documentation was forwarded to the Privy Council, and the surren- 
der of 11,500 acres was accepted by Order in Council in June 1909. The 
surrendered land was offered for sale by public auction on December 1, 
1910, although not all of it was sold at that time. In November 1910, a 
second parcel of land was surrendered for sale to the Anglican Church, and 
the following year the unsold land from the first surrender was again offered 
for sale by auction. Shortly afterwards, members of the Band made inquiries 
about the interest payments that were due them under the terms of the 1909 
surrender, and Funds from this source were distributed to the Band in 1913 
and 1914. There is no evidence that any band member ever made a contem- 
porary complaint about the 1909 surrender. 

ISSUES 

The broad question before the Indian Claims Commission in this inquiry is 
whether the claim of The Key First Nation discloses a breach of Canada's 
"lawful obligations" to the First Nation under the Specific Claims Policy. 
Canada and the First Nation have agreed that an assessment of the validity of 
the claim requires consideration of the four issues that follow: 

Issue 1: Was there a valid surrender in 1909 of a portion of The Key reserve 
by The Key Band? 

In particular, were the Treaty 4 provisions regarding the consent of hands to 
the alienation of their reserve lands complied with? 

Issue 2: Was the Indian Act, RSC 1906, c. 81, complied with? 

In particular, did a majority of the male members of The Key Band who were 
21 years of age and over assent to the surrender? 

Issue 3: Were the Shoal River Indians members of The Key Band at the time 
of the surrender in 1909, and, if so, were they entitled to vote on the 
surrender? 

Issue 4: Did Canada have any pre-surrender fiduciary obligations to The Key 
Band and, if so, did Canada fulfil or did Canada breach any such fiduciary 
obligations with respect to the surrender of 1909? 
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In particular, was the surrender obtained as a result of undue influence or 
misrepresentation? 

LEGAL ANALYSIS AND FINDINGS 

ISSUE 1: TREATY 4 "CONSENT' 

The First Nation submits that the terms of Treaty 4 establish a higher thresh- 
old of "consent" required for reserve land surrenders than the provisions of 
the Indian Act and, in particular, that the treaty-mandated "consent" should 
be interpreted by reference to the First Nation's tradition of clan governance. 
In accordance with the decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in R. v. 
Marshall, the First Nation relies on extrinsic evidence, in this case oral his- 
tory evidence, in support of its submission that the Band's traditional deci- 
sion-making process was intended to have the force of a treaty right. Canada 
relies on a previous determination of the Commission to the effect that no 
c o d ~ c t  exists between the terms of the treaty and the surrender provisions of 
the Act, as the former did not establish a required level of consent or a 
means of expressing consent to surrenders. Further, Canada submits that 
there is no compelling extrinsic evidence to support the First Nation's sub- 
mission that the treaty should be interpreted in the way it alleges. The Com- 
mission, in considering the submissions and the decision of the Supreme 
Court in Marshall, notes that the legal test appears to require that the com- 
mon intention of the parties at the time the treaty was made be ascertained. 
In this inquiry, the Commission finds that there is no evidence that, at the 
time Treaty 4 was d e ,  the parties intended to establish within its terms a 
standard or threshold of consent for the surrender of land. As a result, there 
is no evidence of a contlict between the terms of the treaty and the provisions 
of the Act. 

ISSUE 2: COMPLIANCE WITH IADLW ACT PROCEDURES 

The surrender provisions of section 49(1) of the Indian Act contemplate five 
mandatory components: that a meeting be summoned for the express pur- 
pose of considering the surrender; that the meeting be held in accordance 
with the rules of the band; that it be held in the presence of an authorized 
officer; that a majority of the male members of the band 21 years of age and 
older attend the meeting; and that a majority of those members vote in favour 
of the surrender. The parties have focused their submissions on the first and 
fourth of the above criteria. 
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The First Nation submits that there is insufficient evidence to establish that 
there was compliance with the mandatory requirements of the Act, based on 
the general lack of detailed documentary evidence concerning events on the 
day of the surrender, the lack of oral history concerning the event, and the 
testimony of a handwriting expert to the effect that the " X  marks on the 
documents were not authentic. Canada submits that the existing documents 
should be accepted at face value in support of the conclusion that the 
requirements were met, as the pre-surrender and post-surrender conduct of 
the Band is consistent with such a conclusion. Canada questions the eviden- 
tiary value of the oral history in this inquiry and takes the position that the 
testimony of the handwriting expert is irrelevant. 

The Commission notes that the Specific Claims Policy places the burden 
on the claimant to establish that Canada breached its lawful obligations in 
obtaining the surrender. In this context, the Commission holds that the 
absence of oral history evidence is not determinative of the issue of compli- 
ance with the Act, and that all the evidence must be considered to arrive at a 
conclusion. 

With respect to the handwriting expert's testimony, the Commission holds 
that, even if his evidence were to be accepted in its entirety, it would not 
determine the fundamental questions about the meeting and the proper 
majority consent, since it is possible that band members authorized another 
individual to make the " X  marks on their behalf. As a result, this evidence is 
not relevant to the determination. 

Owing to the scarcity of documentary evidence about events surrounding 
the surrender itself, the Commission has examined evidence that preceded 
and followed the surrender, an approach it believes is consistent with the 
intention-based approach mandated by the Supreme Court in the Apsassin 
case. Based on this evidence, which is consistent with a theory that proper 
procedures were followed, the Commission concludes that the First Nation 
has not discharged the burden upon it to establish that Canada did not com- 
ply with the surrender provisions of the Indian Act. 

ISSUE 3: SHOAL RIVER INDIANS 

The provisions of the Indian Act require that a surrender be assented to by a 
majority of eligible voting members of the Band who habitually reside on or 
near, and are interested in, the reserve in question. 

The First Nation has taken the position that the surrender is invalid 
because the Shoal River Indians did not vote on it, and that the addition of 
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their numbers to the eligible voting population would mean that the Act's 
majority voting requirements were not met. Canada takes the view that the 
Shoal River Indians were an autonomous band within the meaning of the Act 
and, as a result, were not part of the eligible voting population. In the alter- 
native, Canada submits that the Shoal River Indians were not habitually resi- 
dent on or near, or interested in, IR 65 at the time of the surrender and were 
therefore meligible to vote on that basis. 

Although the Indian Act does not define a "hand," the Commission has 
previously held that a body of Indians must live as a "collective community" 
under the auspices of the Act, in order to he considered a "band" within the 
meaning of the Act. Based on the evidence concerning the mutual intention 
of the Shoal River Indians and the followers of Chief The Key to live as sepa- 
rate autonomous entities, the Commission holds that the two were not one 
"band for the purposes of the surrender provisions of the Act. 

In the alternative, given the fact that the Shoal River Indians did not travel 
to IR 65 after 1902 for any purpose, and given their repeated disavowal of 
any interest in the reserve, the Commission holds that they were not habitu- 
ally resident on or near, or interested in, the reserve at the time of the sur- 
render. As a result, the Commission holds that the Shoal River Indians were 
not eligible to vote on the surrender and that its vahdity cannot be challenged 
on the basis of their failure to vote or to attend the meeting. 

ISSUE 4: PRE-SURRENDER FIDUCIARY DUTY 

The Supreme Court in Apsassin has established at least four benchmarks by 
which the Crown's conduct in the exercise of its pre-surrender fiduciary duty 
will be measured: where the Band's understanding of the terms of the sur- 
render is inadequate; where the Crown has engaged in "tainted dealings"; 
where the Band cedes or abnegates its decision-making authority; and where 
the surrender is so foolish and improvident that it must be considered 
exploitative. 

Further, as there is evidence that the dominion government faced c o d ~ c t -  
ing pressures in the form of presening the land for the Band, on the one 
hand, and, on the other, making it available for agricultural settlers, Canada 
hears the onus, according to Justice McLachlin in Apsassin, to demonstrate 
that it did not breach its fiduciary duty to the Band. 

Counsel for the First Nation has submitted that representatives of the 
Department of Indian Affairs were under a duty to inform band members of 
various options, consequences, and factors relevant to the surrender in order 
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to ensure that their understanding was adequate, within the meaning of 
Apsassin. Given the passage of 90 years since the surrender, the Commission 
concludes, as did the trial judge in Apsmsin, that Canada is not required to 
establish by positive evidence that each and every matter raised by counsel 
for the First Nation was explained to the Band in 1909. Canada is required, 
in the Commission's view, to establish that the members of the Band under- 
stood that, by assenting to the surrender, they were giving up forever all 
rights to their reserve. Based on the evidence that Chief The Key reportedly 
understood in 1903 that a surrender involved a "taking" of land, and based 
on the actions of the Band in 1908 and 1909 in initiating surrender discus- 
sions and renegotiating the terms of the surrender, the Commission finds that 
the Band's understanding of the 1909 surrender was "adequate" within the 
meaning of Apsassin. 

With respect to the issue of whether Canada's conduct was "tainted," the 
Commission notes that, in 1909, the dominion government had in place poli- 
cies to encourage surrenders in order to facilitate non-aboriginal settlement. 
The Commission is also mindful of Inspector Graham's report that he "per- 
suaded" the Band in January 1909 to surrender 17 sections of land instead 
of the 13 originally contemplated. The Commission finds on the evidence, 
however, that surrender discussions between the parties took place over a 
ten-month period and that, on one occasion, the Band renegotiated a term in 
its favour. The Commission also notes that the circumstances of this surren- 
der did not include a concerted and sustained campaign of pressure on the 
Band to surrender its land. As a result, the Commission holds that Canada 
has discharged the onus upon it to establish that its dealings with the Band 
were honourable. 

In determining whether The Key Band ceded or abnegated its decision- 
making power over the surrender to the Crown, the Commission has noted 
that there is no evidence that the Band was lacking in effective leadership at 
the time of the surrender, or that representatives of the department sought to 
obtain a surrender despite all obstacles. Rather, the Commission finds that 
the Band initiated surrender discussions, that it renegotiated one of the terms 
in its favour, that it made inquiries as to when the surrender might be 
expected, and that, after the fact, it took an interest in the receipt of sale 
proceeds. As a result, the Commission holds that the Band did not cede its 
decision-making power over the surrender to the Crown. 

With respect to the issue of whether the surrender was "exploitative," the 
Commission takes the approach that the determination must be made from 
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the perspective of the Band at the time of the surrender. In accordance with 
our decisions in previous inquiries, the Commission has looked at the impact 
of the surrender on the Band's way of life and, in particular, whether the 
land remaining after the surrender would be sufficient to satisfy its foresee- 
able agricultural needs. As a result, the Commission finds that, although the 
surrender took almost one half of the reserve, it did not take only the best 
land; moreover, the Band was left with some 8,000 acres of arable land and 
some 5,000 acres of grazing land. Given that the Band comprised 80 to 90 
members at the time, and that it had cultivated only some 100 acres of the 
reserve, the Commission finds that the land remaining was sufficient to pro- 
vide for the Band's foreseeable agricultural needs. As a result, the Commis- 
sion holds that the surrender was not "exploitative" within the meaning of 
Apsassin. 
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PART I 

INTRODUCTION 

BACKGROUND TO THE INQUIRY 

This report addresses a specific claim submitted to the Minister of Indian 
Affairs by The Key First Nation1 on June 19, 1989, alleging that a 1909 sur- 
render of 11,500 acres from Indian Reserve (IR) 65 near Norquay, Saskatch- 
ewan, was invalid because the Government of Canada had "breached its law- 
ful and beyond lawful obligations in obtaining the alleged surrender of Key 
Reserve lands in 1909."2 More specifically, the First Nation alleges that the 
surrender was obtained through undue influence, negligent misrepresenta- 
tion, and non-compliance with the surrender provisions in section 49 of the 
1906 Indian Act. 

Following a review by the Department of Indian Affairs and Northern 
Development (DIAND) and the Department of Justice, Carol Cosco, Claims 
Analyst at Specific Claims West, DIAND, in a letter dated March 2, 1993, 
informed the Chief and Council of The Key Band of the federal government's 
position with regard to each allegation.3 According to Ms Cosco's letter, the 
Government of Canada was of the view that the government officials of the 
day had not only acted according to the law, but had also acted in the best 
interests of the First Nation when arranging the surrender and sale of The Key 
Band reserve lands in 1909. 

Two years after Canada's rejection of the claim, The Key First Nation for- 
mally requested that the Indian Claims Commission (ICC) conduct an inquiry 

I Alternativehi referred to as 'The Key Band; the "Fint Nation." or the "Band," depending on the historical 
contWL1 

2 See Chief Dennis O'Soup to Pierre Cadiem, Minster of Indian Main, June 19, 1989 (ICC Documents, p. 661), 
and "Key Land Claim Submission: preplred lor the Federation 01 Saskatchewan lndim Nations undated (ICC 
Documentr, p. 665). 

I Carol Cosca, SpeciJc Wavns West, D m ,  lo Chief and Council. The Key Band. March 2, 1993 (ICC Docurnen&. 
pp. 7 2 F 3 2 ) .  
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into the 1909 surrender claim? The Commissioners informed Canada of their 
decision to conduct the inquily in September 1995.5 

MANDATE OP THE COMMISSION 

The mandate of this Commission is set out in federal Orders in Council pro- 
viding the Commissioners with the authority to conduct public inquiries into 
specific claims and to issue reports on "whether a claimant has a valid claim 
for negotiation under the [Specific Claims] Policy where the claim was 
already rejected by the Ministe~."~ This Policy, outlined in DIAND's 1982 
booklet Outstanding Business: A Native Claims Policy - Specific Claims, 
states that Canada will accept and negotiate claims that disclose an outstand- 
ing "lawful obligation" on the part of the federal g~vernment.~ The term 
"lawful obligation" is defined in Outstanding Business as follows: 

The government's policy on specit?c claims is that it will recognize claims by Indian 
bands which disclose an outstanding "lavdd obligation," i.e., an obligation derived 
from the law on the part of the federal government. 

A lawful obligation may arise in any of the following circumstances: 

i) The non-fulfillment of a treaty or agreement behveen Indians and the Crown. 

ii) A breach of an obligation arising out of the Indian Act or other shlules pertain- 
ing to Indians and the regulations thereunder. 

ii) A breach of an obligation arising out of government administration of Indian 
funds or orher assets. 

iv) An illegal disposition of Indian land. 

Furthermore, Canada is prepared to consider claims based on the following 
circumstances: 

i) Failure to provide compensation for reserve lands hken or damaged by the fed- 
eral government or any of its agencies under authority. 

4 Band Council Resolution (BCR) 226. March 2, 1995 (ICC Gle 2107-21-01). 
5 Daniel BeUegarde and James Prentice, Coxhairs, ICC, to the Honourable Ron Irwin. Minister of lndian and 

Northern h&a, and he Honourable AUan Ra& Minister of Justice and Attomy General, September 25, 1995 
(ICC fik 2107-21-01). 

6 ~om&Tision issued &plember 1. 1992, pursuant to Order in Council PC 1992-1730, July 27, 1992. amending 
the Commission issued to Chief Commhioner Hawj S. LaForme on August 12, 1991, punuant to Order in 
Council PC 1991-1329, July 15, 1991; reprinted 

7 DLWD, Oulsldndiq Bwinesx A Natilw Waim 
Senicer, 1982), 20; reprinted in (1994) 1 lCCP 
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ii) Fraud in connection with the acquisition or disposition of Indian reselve land by 
employees or agents of the federal government, in cases where fraud can be 
clearly demonstrated? 

This report contains the Commission's findings and recommendations on the 
merits of The Key First Nation's 1909 surrender claim. 

8 Outstanding Business. 20; reprinted in (1994) 1 lCCP 179. 180. 
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PART I1 

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

PRIOR TO TREATY 

The people of The Key First Nation are descendants of the Saulteaux9 - an 
Ojibway group that migrated west from the Great Lakes region towards the 
end of the 18th century. The history of the Saulteaux/Ojibway migration from 
Ontario to the prairies of western Canada has been addressed elsewhere and 
need not be recounted in detail here.1° For the purpose of this report it is 
sufficient to recount that, as active participants in the fur trade, the Saulteaux 
moved west into the south-central regions of present-day Manitoba as their 
allies, the Cree, moved farther west into Saskatchewan and Alberta. According 
to the trade historian Arthur J. Ray, the Cree vacated the territory in southern 
Manitoba to maintain their position as middlemen in the fur trade within the 
Hudson Bay basin, as well as to exploit the provisioning trade that had devel- 
oped as the competing fur trade companies became more dependent on the 
use of pemmican as a staple. Therefore, when the lands of southern Mani- 
toba were depleted of furs, the Cree moved west to hunt the buffalo." 

This migration eventually resulted in the Saulteaux extending themselves 
from southern Manitoba, northwest into the Swan River and Cumberland dis- 
tricts of west-central Manitoba, and into Saskatchewan along the Assiniboine 
River as far its con5uence with the Souris River. In this manner, the 
Saulteaux came to reside along the forest fringe or "parklands" of southern 

9 The Saulteaux are one 01 lour tribes that together constiete Le Ojibway Nation. The others are Le Ottawa. 
Missasauga, and Poh-watorni tribes. The Saulteau first came into contact vnth European traders on he eastern 
sho t s  of L& Superior. The term "Saulteaux" was originally applied to one particular group of Ojibway people 
that had persistent d d n g a  with the French fur traders near present-day Sault Ste Marie. The traders cded  
them "Sauheur" - the French word for "people of the mp iW - ~ferr ing to their origins 31 Saul1 Se Muie. 
The plural lam 01 the term is "Saulteaux? For more information, see Alan D. McMillan. Nalics Peopler and 
Ctjlu~es ofcanado (Vancouver: Douglas & Mclntyre, 1988). 93-101. 

lo For a concise account of Ojibway migrations during the historical era, see Laura Pecrs, The Ojibway o/Wesl- 
em C a d % ,  1780-1870 (Winnipeg: URiversity of Manitoba Press, 19941, 3-61, 

I1 See Anhur J. Ray. Indians and the Fzr Trade: TbeirRoler asHunters, T~apperersmdMiddem in tbe Iands 
Sourbwest o/Hu&n Bay. I@%-I870 (Toronto: University of Toronto Press. 1974). 102. 
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Manitoba and Saskatchewan - the area of land where the forest and prairie 
converged. 

Once established in the parklandlforest fringe, the Saulteaux adapted 
some of the cultural traits of their allies, the Plains Cree and Assiniboine. 
From the shelter of the parkland, they entered the plains to participate in the 
seasonal buffalo hunt. The Saulteaux, however, did not fully abandon the 
cultural traits practised during their residency in the Great Lakes district - 
fishing continued as a significant source of foodstuffs, and medicine rituals 
such as the Midewiwin lodge remained in common use. The traditional clan 
organization of membership, based on patrilineal inheritance organized into 
the primary totems of the crane, catfish, bear, martin, wolf, and loon clans, 
also remained intact.12 In general, Saulteaux life remained tied to the annual 
cycle of subsistence based on set patterns of hunting, fishing, and plant gath- 
ering, a system compatible with participation in the fur trade. 

The Followers of Chief Ow-tah-pee-ka-kaw - "The Key" 
According to one historian of The Key First Nation, the followers of Chief Ow- 
tah-pee-ka-kaw - "He Who Unlocks" or "The Key" - had resided along the 
Shoal River in the Dawson BayISwan Lake region of southwestern Manitoba 
since the middle of the 19th century.'3 The waterways west of Lake Winnipeg 
and the Red River settlement - particularly the Assiniboine River, Dauphin 
River, Lakes Manitoba and Winnipegosis, and the Swan and Saskatchewan 
rivers - had long served as the means of transportation for the fur trade. As 
such, The Key Band's residency along one of these prominent water routes 
provided its members with ready access to various fur-trading posts. The 
advantageous location at Shoal River also provided the group under Chief 
The Key with new neighbours who would become band members. According 
to the Reverend Harry B. Miller, several members of the Brass family - 
descendants of an Orkneyman employee of the Hudson's Bay Company 
(HBC) and his aboriginal wde - chose to settle with the Band after their 
retirement from active service with the company: 

Peter and Susan Brass parented a family of nine; Eve boys and four girls. The b o ~  
were Peter, John, George, William and Thomas ... AU Eve of the boys, it would appear, 
entered either the apprentice program or the labour force of the Hudson's Bay 

12 See Man D. McMi!lan. Nalirxl Peopks and Culturer of Can& (Vancouver: Douglas & Mclntyre. 19881. 
%95. 14&41. 

13 Rer H m y  B. Miller, T h  Too Were Pioneers Tk SIory of lb. Kqr Indian R e m  No 65 and ibe Centen- 
niol of :be Cbnnb, 188&1984 (Melde, Suk.: Seniors Consulting SPrvlce, 1984). 16 (LCC Exlibit 6 ) .  





INDIAN C L A I M S  C O M M I S S I O N  P R O C E E D I N G S  

Company, through which experience they acqu i~d  the skills that, in later life, were to 
prove so beneficial as they set about to build homes, schools, mission house, and 
church; and to establish themselves on the Key Reserve ... Following the time of 
apprenticeship, each sewed the Company throughout the Swan River district until 
retiring and joining Chief Key and his followers at Shoal River." 

The membership of The Key Band included both Saulteaux and mixed-blood 
individuals at the time of treaty. Both groups lived in harmony with each 
other under the acknowledged leadership of Chief The Key. 

Adherence to Treaty 4 
The early 1870s represented a period of great transition among the Indian 
Nations that resided within the 75,000 square mile area of Treaty 4. Once the 
buffalo disappeared and white settlers moved into the area, some bands took 
steps to convert from the life of the hunter-gatherer to reserve agricultural- 
ists. The increasing scarcity of buffalo and other game led to periods of hard- 
ship, even starvation, and greater competition for the remaining food 
resources. Furthermore, the sale or transfer of their homeland from the 
administration of the HBC to the jurisdiction of the Dominion of Canada in 
1869-70 had created a feeling of great unease among the aboriginal peoples 
of the plains. In an effort to provide their people with the means to survive 
within h s  ever-changing climate, many Indian leaders subsequently called 
on the Queen to negotiate binding treaties that would assist their people in 
adapting to the new realities of western expansion while at the same time 
protecting their rights to the unoccupied lands of western Canada.15 The Gov- 
ernment of Canada also sought to conclude peaceful arrangements with the 
aboriginal peoples occupying "Rupert's Land - the vast territory acquired 
from the HBC. As a result, the first of the "numbered treaties" between 
Canada and the Saulteaux and Ojibway Indians of southern Manitoba and 
northwest Ontario - Treaties 1, 2, and 3 - were concluded between 1870 
and 1873. 

During the summer of 1874, the dominion government initiated the pro- 
cess by which Treaty 4 was to be signed with the Indian Nations residing 
within the "Fertile Belt" located along the southern portion of the North-West 

I4  Rw Harry B. Miller, These Tw Were Pioneem: The SIoty of lbs Kq Indian K e s m  M, 65 and the Centen- 
nial of the Cbrmb, 18961984 (Melde, Sask.: Senion Consulting Service. l984), 9 and 16 (ICC Fxhibit 6) .  

15 E. Bllir Sonechild and Bill Wdser, al I U  De& Indians and the N o h -  Wesl Rebellion (Edmonton: Filth 
H o w  Publishen, 1997). 5-8. See?= Olive P. Dickuan, Camfa's Firsl Nalions: A Hislory ofFounding 
Peoplesjmrn Earliest Times (Toronto: McClehd & Stewan. 19921, 273-83. 
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Territories, within present-day Saskatchewan and southwestern Manitoba. 
Authorization was granted by Order in Council PC 944, dated July 23, 1874: 

On a memorandum, dated 20th July 1874, from the Honorable the Minister of the 
Interior, staling that he has had before him a Minute of the Council of the North West 
[sic] of the 14& March last, recommending that Treaties should this year be con- 
cluded with the Tribes of Indians inhabiting the Territory therein indicated, l$ng West 
of the Boundan/ of Treafy No. 2, and behveen the International Boundary line and the 
Saska~chewan. 

That he has also had before him sevetal Despatches from the lieutenant Governor 
of later date urging the necessity of these Treaties. 

That looking lo these representations and to the fact that the Mounted Police Force 
is now moving into the Territory in question with a view to taking up their winter 
quarters at Fort PeUy, and considering the operations of the Boundary Commission 
which are continually moving westward into the Indian Country, and also the steps 
which are being taken in connection with the proposed Telegraph Line horn Fort 
Carry westward, al l  of which proceedings are calculated to further unsettle the Indian 
mind, already in a disturbed condition; he recommends that three Commissioners be 
appointed by tlis Excellency the Governor General for the purpose of making Treaties 
during the current year with such of the Indian Bands as they may Gnd it expedient to 
deal with.'" 

At the time, Alexander Morris WAS Lieutenant Governor of the area that then 
comprised Manitoba and the North-West Territories, including present-day 
Saskatchewan and Alberta. Together with David Laird, the federal Minister of 
the Interior, and W.J. Christie, a retired factor with the HBC, Morris was 
commissioned by the Government of Canada to conclude the proposed treaty 
with the various Indian Nations of the Fertile Belt. 

In August 1874, the Treaty Commissioners departed to meet with the 
Indian Nations that bad agreed to convene at Fort Qu'AppeUe the following 
month. From September 8 until September 15, 1874, the three Treaty Com- 
missioners discussed the terms of the proposed treaty with the assembled 
Chiefs. Initially reluctant to agree to the terms offered by the Crown's repre- 
sentatives, the Indian leaders eventually accepted the promises contained 
within the treaty agreement and, in exchange, agreed to cede their people's 
rights to the lands within the treaty boundaries. Their agreement, however, 
was not given without some apprehension. Morris's reports noted some of 
the Chiefs' concerns that the position of the HBC was unfairly advantageous, 

16 Tmdy No 4 betwen Her M&s@ tbr Qwm and the Cree and Saulteaw Tdbes of Indians a6 Quilppelle 
and Fort Ellice (Ottayn.: Queen's Printer, 1966). 3 (IU: &bit 15). 
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and that the rights of existing and future generations of the aboriginal peo- 
ples were not adequately protected. Morris attempted to allay these concerns 
in discussions with the Chiefs as he outlined the government's position with 
regard to the treaty: 

What the Queen and her Councillors would like is this, she would like you to leam 
something of the cunning of the white man. When Esh are scarce and the bullalo are 
not plentiful she would like to help you put something in the land; she would like that 
you should have some money every year to buy things you need. If any of you would 
settle down on the land, she would give you cattle to help you; she would like you to 
have some seed to plant She would like to give to you every year, for twenty years, 
some powder, shot and twine to make nets of. I see you here before me to-day. I will 
pass away and you will pass away. I will go where my fathers have gone and you also, 
but after me and after you will come our children. The Queen cares for you and for 
your children, and she cares for the children that are yet to be born. She wwld like 
to take you by the hand and do as I did for her at the rake of the Woods last year. We 
pmmised them and we m ready to promise now to give Eve dollars to every man, 
woman and child, as long as the sun shines and water Eows. We are ready to promise 
to give $1,000 every year, for twenty years, to buy powder and shot and twine, by the 
end of which time I hope you will have your little farms. If you will settle down we 
would lay off land for you, a square mile for every family of five," 

On September 15, 1874, the final day of the conferences, the Commissioners 
convinced the assembled Cree and Saulteaux Indians to sign Treaty 4, which 
was substantially identical to Treaty 3, concluded the year before. Morris 
recorded the event as follows: 

The Chiefs then signed the ueaty, after having been assured that they would never be 
made ashamed of what they then did. 

One of the Chiefs on being asked to do so signed; the second called on said he 
was pmmised the money when he signed, and returned to his seat without doing so. 
The Lieutenant-Governor called him fonvard - held out his hand to him and said, 
rake my hand; it holds the money. If you can tmst us forever you can do so for half an 
hour; sign the treaty. The Chief took the Governor's hands and touched the pen, and 
the others foUowed. As soon as the treaty was signed the Governor expressed the 
satisfaction of the Commissioners with the Indians, and said that Mr. Christie and Mr. 
Dickieson, the Private Secretary of the Minister of the interior, were ready to advance 
money presents, but the Indians requested that the payments should be postponed till 

17 Alexander Morns. The Treaties o / C a d  with t& Idhw (Toronlo: Belfords Uark, 1880; Cales Reprint. 
1970, 92-93 (ICC Documents, p 30). 
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next morning, wbicl1 was agreed to. The Chiefs then formally approached the Com- 
missioners and shook hands with them, after which the conference was adjo~med.'~ 

The treaty document included the following provisions: 

The Cree and Saulteaux Tribes of Indians, and all other the [sicl Indians inhab- 
iting the district hereinafter described and dehed, do hereby cede, release, surren- 
der and yield up to the Gwemment of the Dominion of Canada for Her Majesty the 
Queen, and her successors forever, all their rights, titles and privileges *atsoever to 
the lands included within the following limits. ... [The treaty then sels forth a metes 
and bounds description of the land ceded.] 

As soon as possible after the execution of this treaty Her Majesty shall cause a 
census to be taken of all the Indians inhabiting the tract hereinbefore described, and 
shall, next year, and annually afternards for ever, cause to be paid in cash at some 
suitable season to be duly notified to the Indians, and at a place or places to be 
appointed for that purpose, within the territory ceded, each Chief twenty-Eve dollm; 
each Headman, not exceeding four lo a band, Efteen dollars, and to evely other 
Indian man, woman and child, Eve doUm per head; such payment to be made to he  
heads of familes for those belonging thereto, unless for some special reason it be 
found o@ectionable.'f 

The treaty further provided that reserves were to be selected by officers of the 
government in consultation with the interested band, "to be of sufficient area 
to allow one square mile for each family of five, or in that proportion for 
larger or smaller families" (128 acres per person). Treaty 4 also contained a 
number of provisions providing for the protection of reserve lands after the 
reserves had been established: 

... the doresaid resewes of land, or any part thereof, or any interest or rights therein, 
or appurtenant thereto, may be sold, leased or ofhenvise disposed of by the said 
Government for the use and benefit of the said Indians, with the consent of the Indi- 
ans entitled thereto Erst had and obtained, but in no wise shall the said Indians, or 
any of them, be entitled to sell or othenvise alienate any of the lands allotted to them 
as resewes." 

The treaty commitments regarding agricultural assistance were also very 
specgc: 

18 Alexander Moms. Tbe Tmliss of Cnnadn wit6 the Indians (Tomnto: Eellords Clark. 1880: Coles Re~rint .  
1970, 123 (ICC Documents, p, 25). 

19 Tmty No 4 between flmM@sty tbe pueen and tbe C m  and Saulfmw Tribes oJlndUns at QuXppeIle 
and For) 6Uhe ( O t m  Queen's Printer, 1966). 5 - 8  (1% Exhibit 1 0 .  

zo Treaty ~o 4 bet- Her M&~sly tbe ~ u e e n  and tbe C m  ond Sauitwus Tribes oJIndUm at QuXppeUB 
ond For1 Ellice (Omam: Queen's Printer. 1966), 6 (ICC Exhibit I 0  
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It is Iuaher agreed between Her Majesty and the said Indians that the followhtg arll- 
cles shall be supplied to any hand thereof who are now actually cultivating the soil, or 
who shall hereafter settle on their reserves and commence to break up the land, that 
is to say: two hoes, one spade, one scythe and one axe for every family so actually 
cultivating, and enough seed wheat, barley, oats and potatoes to plant such Land as 
they have broken up; also one plough and NO harrows for every ten families so 
cultivating as aforesaid, and also to each Chief for the use of his band as aforesaid, 
one voke of oxen. one bull. four cows. a chest of ordinarv camenter's tools. five hand ' .  
saw( five angers; one &s-cut saw, bne pit-saw, the necessary fles and one grind- 
stone, all the afmsaid articles to be given, once and for all, for the encouragement of 
the practice of agriculture among he Indian~.~' 

Many of the First Nations within the boundaries of Treaty 4 agreed to this 
document in 1874. It would be a full year, however, before Chief Ow-tah-pee- 
ka-kaw (The Key) brought his people within the treaty. 

THE KEY BAND ADHESION TO TREATY 4 

In the summer of 1875, the Government of Canada directed W.J. Christie and 
M.G. Dickieson to "obtain the adhesion of other bands which had not been 
present at Qu'Appelle the previous year."22 Having taken adhesions at Fort 
Ellice, Qu'Appelle Lake, and Fort Pelly between August 19 and September 18, 
the Treaty Commissioners and their entourage arrived in Shoal River on Sep- 
tember 22, 1875. Two days Later, on September 24, Commissioners Christie 
and Dickieson took adhesions to Treaty 4 from the Cree and Saulteaux Indi- 
ans inhabiting that area. The adhesion presented to the Indians stipulated 
that those signing agreed to accept "the several provisions, payments and 
reserves" of the treaty signed at Qu'Appelle in 1874. Signing on behalf of the 
27 Saulteaux Indian families assembled for the occasion was Chief The Key.23 

In their report to the Minister of the Interior, Treaty Commissioners Chris- 
tie and Dickieson remarked that The Key Band was located to the "west side 
of the Woody River, which rises in the Porcupine Mountains and falls into the 

21 TwaQ No 4 b e l m  He~MajaQ Ibe Queen and ths Cree and Saultemrr Tribes oflndhns of Quxppette 
and Port E U h  (oram: Queen's Printer, 1966), 7 (I!% Exhibit 15). 

22 Alexander Morris. Tbe Tmdies of Can& with Ibe lndiam (Toronto: EeUords Clark 1880; Coles Reprinl, 
1970, 79 (ICC Document, p. 23). 

23 See WJ. Christie and M.G. Dk!desan. Tredy Commissionen, to the Honorable Minister af the Interior lDavid 
L%irdl,October 7, 1876. A n n 4  Reprf of Ibe Depimenf  of Indian Affairs for lbe Year EndsdJum 30, 
1876, mii (ICC Documeots, pp. 55-63), and Treaty No 4 bellwem HerMajesQ tbe Queen and Ibe Cree and 
SaulIearu T"bes gf lndirms at @'Appelk and Porf EUice (Onma: Queen's Printer, 19661, 11-12 (ICC 
Exhibit 15). Although the ChristiuDickison repon gives the population of the Band as 127, a recapilulalion of 
the numbers paid with The Key in 1876 show a tolal of 132 paid. See "hymens lo Indians al Fort Pelly and 
Shoal Lake."AmmalReport oftbe D B p ~ I m n f  ojlndian Affairs for Ibe Year EndedJune30, 1876, arx (ICC 
Documents. p. 64). 
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Swan Lake to the west of the Swan River,"and that they "[had] been settled 
there for quite some time, have ground under cultivation, and possess a 
number of cattle and horses." Speaking of the entire group taking adhesion 
at Shoal River (the Key and Keeseekoose Bands), Christie and Dickieson 
reported that "[bloth these Bands have made considerable progress in Earm- 
ing, as is evinced by the number of cattle and horses owned by them, and are 
anxious to receive assi~tance."~" 

The Key Band Reserve Surveyed at Swan River in 1878 
According to a report submitted in 1876 by Angus McKay, the Indian agent 
for Treaty 4, the Band under "Chief Oot-ap-ap-ehk-ah-he-kaw, Or, He Who 
Unlocks" comprised 34 families, residing along the south bank of the Woody 
River, in possession of "quite a number of cattle - a few horses and some 
small potato  garden^."^' The Band had probably been residing at this loca- 
tion for many years, and it is not surprising that the land was included in the 
list of proposed reserves given to surveyor William Wagner in 1875. Specific 
instructions for surveying a reserve for The Key Band were not issued at that 
time, however, because Wagner had several other reserves to survey that sea- 
son and would not be able to complete all the ~ o r k . 2 ~  As a result, The Key 
Band waited several more years before receiving reserve lands. 

In the meantime, dissension concerning reserve selection emerged within 
several of the bands - including The Key Band - that were waiting for their 
reserves to be surveyed. By May 1877, however, Lieutenant Governor David 
Lairdz7 had met with the bands and was able to report that most of the differ- 
ences had been settled and the bands were ready to have their reserves sur- 
~eyed.2~ With regard to The Key Band, Laird reported that its members no 
Longer wished £or a reserve to be located at their traditional settlement on the 
south bank of the Woody River, but had identified lands at a new location 
"on Swan River, about 15 miles above Swan Lake." In Laird's opinion, the 
location of the newly proposed reserve was ideal, being "about 20 miles from 

24 W.J. Christie and M.G. Dickieson. Trealy Commissioners, lo the Honourable Ministester of h e  inlerior IDavid 
lord),  October 7, 1875, Ann& Report of the Department of ldbn Affairs for the Year Endedjuns 30, 
1875 (ICC Documenrs. p. 60). 

25 A. McKay, Winnipeg, to Superiotendent General of indian AKdrs (SGIA), October 14, 1876, National Archives 01 
Canada (hereaher NA), RG 10, MI. 3642, 61e 7581 (ICC Documents, p. 80). 

76 WJ. Christie to M i t e r  of lhe lnlerior. October 7. 1875. N& RG 10. vol. 3625. Gle 5489 (ICC Documents. 
p i  14-15). 

27 David Laird wu the Minisler d the interior/Superintendent General of indim flairs from 1873 to 1877. in 
1877, David Mills replaced Lsird as Minister 01 the interior, though Laird reuined the office 01 Lieutenant 
Governor of the Nod-West Terdlolories. 

28 David Iaird. Lieutenant Governor and indim Superintendent, Swan Riwr, to Minhter of the inledor, May 9, 
1877, N.4 RG 10, vol. 3619. Me 8187 (ICC DocumenIs, pp. 83 and 86). 
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the telegraph line" and out of the way of incoming settlement. He therefore 
supported the Band's s e l e c t i ~ n . ~ ~  

In January 1878, Wagner was sent to the Swan River district to begin sur- 
veying The Key Band reserve. On inspecting the lands identified by the Band, 
he concluded that the tract was not appropriate for a reserve and persuaded 
the Indians to select higher ground farther up river, but still near enough to 
Swan Lake to access their fishing grounds. At this location, about 90 miles 
northeast of Fort PeUy, he surveyed a reserve of 31,300 acres: 

The Band of which The Key is Chief consists of Indians and Hdbreeds Living on 
two separate localities near the entrance of the Swan River into the Swan lake. 

The land[s] around both of these settlements are very low and are rrgularly inun- 
dated every year with the exception of the rising grounds on which the houses are 
located. This was one of the reasons which induced the members of the Band to 
select a more high situated locality for their future abode. ... 

The land as a general rule is rough & very broken by many swamps with the 
exception of about 1000 acres at the South East comer, where the land can be 
brought under Class 2. This space is extensive enough for all their wants. 

The timber consists chiefly of Poplar with a fair sprinldi~g of Spruce. Around the 
hay marshes are willows ... ." 

Wagner's optimism about the utility of this reserve soon proved to be 
incorrect. 

The Reserve at Swan River 
Although certain members of the Band had been settled there for some time, 
Chief The Key moved onto the reserve at Swan River in the spring of 1878. 
According to a report issued by Indian Agent Alan McDonald in November 
1878, the Chief "had moved to the Reserve in the spring and has already built 
his dwelling storehouse and stables." Likewise, a "few of his fouowers had 
broken up land and are fully determined on making the Reserve their 
h0me."3~ In his report the following year McDonald was less specific, noting 
merely that several Chiefs - including The Key - had "established themselves 

29 h v l d  laird. Lieutenant Governor and India Superinlenden4 Swas River, to Minister of the Interior, May 9, 
1877, NA, RG 10. MI. 3649. fde 8187 (LCC ~ a & m e n u ,  pp. 8 3  and 86). 

9 Wlliam Wagner. Dominion land Sulwyor (DIS), "Reld Notes of Survey of Indian R e s e m  Treaty No. 4, The 
KW'S Band. Survwed durine lanttm 1875." lune 1878 llCC Documeoe. oo. 87-90). ~ ~ " ,  , -. ., . 

51 & M~cD&&, &dim &em, 10 SupennlendeM Cenenl b! hsam; t%wnber 24,1878, Canada, M a -  
ment, SBssioMI Pap14 1879, NO. 7, "Annual Repon of the D e p m e n t  of Indian Main for he Year Ended 
June 30, 1878; 6 5 4 4  (ICC Documens, p. 99). 
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on their reserves, and they, and the members of their bands, have com- 
menced to cultivate the soil ...."32 

Despite evidence showing the Band's willingness to pursue farming and 
stock raising on its reserve at Swan River, certain unforeseen events in 1880 
caused the Department of Indian AFfairs to decide to relocate the reserve. 
Inspector T.P. Wadsworth's annual inspection in the spring of 1880 coin- 
cided with a period of sipftcant flooding in the Swan River district. Wad- 
sworth determined that such flooding would likely occur on a regular basis, 
and that the best course of action would be for the entire Band to relocate. 
His report to the Superintendent General stated: 

1 found the Key located in a vast wooded marsh, and living miserably on a few turnips 
and a lidle h h .  This reserve is useless, as the flies are so desperately hard on the 
cattle, and there is no farming land. The little patches they have are small islands in 
the morass. Efforts have been made by Agent Macdonald to move this reserve to the 
neighbourhood of Farm No. 2 [near Fort Pellyl but without avail; after a long conver- 
sation with the "Key," he has promised to meet me on October 26, at Farm No. 2 and 
give me his decision. I think he will move in early spring, and I have promised him 
part of [fanning instructor] Johnston's Farm for one year to plant his seeds in. Key 
has seven Government cattle, and the hand own 37 p r i ~ t e  canle.'' 

As indicated in Wadsworth's inspection report, Chief The Key had been per- 
suaded by Agent Alan MacDonald to inspect the lands along the Assiniboine 
River near Fort PeUy, Saskatchewan. According to the oral history of the 
Band, a scouting party was formed to travel to the Fort PeUy district, view the 
land there, and report back to the rest of the Band.34 Although a record of 
events EoUowing this inspection is lacking, it is evident that, by the summer of 
1882, a decision had been made to abandon the reserve along the Swan 
River. 

Tbe willingness to relocate along the Assiniboine in the Fort PeUy district, 
approximately 90 miles southwest of their traditional homeland, was not 

32 Alan MacDonald, Indian hget ,  lo Superinlenden1 General of Indian AEairs, November 2, 1879. Cmada. Pach- 
men6 Sssrional Prlpen, 1879, No. 7, "Annull Repan of the Depvunent of Wian AEdrs for the Year Ended 
June 30, 18'79'' 1 0 ~  (ICC Documents, pp. 11%01). 

33 T.P. Wadswoh, lupector 01 Indian Agencies, to SGU, September 27, 1881, excerpl included within the repon 
of Sir l o b  L Macdonald. SGU. in Annual Reoort oftbe aeDmfmnf of ldim Affairs lor tba Year Ended 
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shared by all band members. In fact, a majority of Chief The Key's followers, 
under Headman John Beardie,3I chose to remain within the Shoal River area. 

The Creation of The Key Band Indian Reserve 65 
The Department of Indian Affairs was made aware of the circumstances sur- 
rounding the split in The Key Band in August 1882, when Indian Agent H. 
Martineau reported an encounter he had had with the Shoal River group 
under Headman John Beardie. On information provided to him by Beardie, 
Martineau reported that "Chief 'La Clef or 'The Key' with a few of his follow- 
ers has abandoned his Reserve at Swan River, in hopes of getting another 
reserve at [Fort] Pelly or thereaho~t."'~ A report from Indian Agent L.W. 
Herchmer, dated October 10, 1882, indicates that the "new Reserve at Pelly" 
had been established by that time and that the Indians residing there were 
quite ~omfortahle.3~ Although lands had been selected by Chief The Key and 
his followers, a survey had not yet been conducted. 

On December 20, 1882, the Prime'Minister and Superintendent General of 
Indian Affairs, Sir John A. Macdonald, requested a full review of the matter. 
In reply, E.T. Galt, the Assistant Indian Commissioner at Winnipeg, reported 
the following: 

ln answer to your lener of the 20th ult, No. 4576 relative to the land on which the 
Indians of Chief Key's band have their improvements, I have h e  honor to slate that (he 
Reserve originally set apart for them, situate North East from FOR PeUy on the West 
Side of Swan River ... has been totally abandoned. Twelve of the families have taken 
up a location outside and a short distance to the West of the Hudson's Bay lands at 
Fort PeUy. It was to this point that the Indians were taken by the Agent, they have 
substantial improvements at this point. ... 

As settler$ are coming in and set- rapidly in the neighbourhood of Fort PeUy it 
is desirable in order to prevent complications to have Kee-see-koos' Resewe surveyed 
(it adjoins thaI of Cote's) also that of The Key if the Department should think proper 
to grant them the land on which the twelve families have settled.% 

In accordance with this request, Indian Commissioner Edgar Dewdney com- 
municated with Lindsay Russell, the Deputy Minister of the Interior and Sur- 

31 He is llsa referred lo in some documents as 'lohn Bnrdy: but d be rekcred to in this text as "Emdie:' 
36 H. M d w u ,  Indian hgent, to SCW August 21, 1882, Cylpda, Pulimenl, S o s r i o ~ I  Pa&%, 1883, No. 5 (ICC 

Documents, p. 114). See also W. Mdneau, hdiao Ageot, Lo James Gnhun .  mdian Superinmdent, Winnipeg, 
August 18, 1882, N& RG LO, vol. 7770, 6le 21117-2 (ICC Documents, pp. 105-07). 

37 L.W. Herchmer to [ d m  Cammissioner. Oetobei 10. 1882. NA. RC 10. vol. 7770. Fie 27117-2 (KC Dacu- . . .  
menu, p. 111). 

38 e, G&, hsristyll Indian Commissioner, to the Right Honorable Superintendent Genenl of indim flairs. 
January 29, 1883, NA, RC 10, vol. 7770, Gle 21117-2 (ICC Documents, pp. 115-16). 



veyor General of Canada, to request that a survey be made of the new lands 
occupied by The Key Band.39 Approval was granted and, in the spring of 
1883, A.W. Ponton, the Dominion Iand Surveyor (DIS), began surveying a 
number of reserves in the Treaty 4 area. Reporting in July of that year, Pon- 
ton informed his superiors that his work on the surveys for Chiefs The Key 
and Keeseekoose near Fort Pelly would be postponed until the cold weather 
set in, as it would he easier to traverse the river front and swamp areas.40 
Notwithstanding this delay, the survey of The Key IR 65 was completed by the 
end of 1883, at which time survey plans were submitted to the Indian Corn- 
missioner at Regina.41 The confirming Order in Council described the new 
reserve as follows: 

This reserve is situated on the left bank of the Assiniboine River, about two miles 
west of Fort PeUy, on the old cart trail to Touchwood Ws. ... 

This resetue is generally thickly wooded with poplar, balm of gilead and groves of 
spruce and tamarac. The soil is chiefly of a sandy loam, the stretches of prairie in the 
vicinity of the reserve being of superior quality. There are extensive hay swamps in the 
north-east and south east corners of the reserve?" 

As surveyed, the reserve FuffiUed treaty land entitlement for 190 people 
(190 x 128 acres per person = 24,320 acres), even though only 83 band 
members - including the Chief and three headmen - resided there at the 
time. The size of the new reserve was based on the assumption of the Depart- 
ment of Indian Affairs that the Band would remain intact, residing together at 
one location.43 As a result, the department initially refused to grant a reserve 
to the Shoal River faction in the belief that it would eventually join The Key at 
Fort Pelly. IR 65 was subsequently codrmed by Order in Council PC 1151 
dated May 17, 1889, and withdrawn from the operation of the Dominion 
Lunds Act by Order in Council dated June 12, 1893.44 

19 E. Rewdney, Indian Commissioner, to L. RuseU, Depuiy Minirte~ afthe Interior. March 19, 1883, Nh RG 10, 
vol. 7770, Fde 21117-2 (ICC Documents, pp. 10547 ) .  

W A.W. Ponlon, DiS, to Edgar Dewdney, lndian Commissioner, July 13, 1883, NA KC 10, vol. 7770, Gle 21117-2 
(ICC Documen8, pp. 121-24). 

41 See Edgar Dewdney, lndian Commissioner, to SCU, December 14, 1883, NA, RG 10, vd. 7770, Cie 211117-2 
(ICC Documenq pp. 121-26). 

42 Order in Council PC 1151, May 17. 1889 (ICC Documents, p. 194). 
43 See LW. Herchmer, Indian Agent, lo !he hdlan Commissioner, October 10, 1882, NA, RG lo, voi. 7770, Ele 

27117-2 (1CC Documents, p. 111); L.W. Herchmer, lndianhent,  lo !he Indian Cornmissimer, March 16, 1884, 
N& RG 10, wl. 7774 We 27117-2 (ICC Doeumem, pp. 133-35); and T.P. Wadswonh, inspeclor of lndian 
Agencies, lo SGU. Seprember 17, 1884, in Annud RePo* of Ibe De@rtmnl of Indim Affairs for [be Year 
Ended Ihmmbsr31, 1884,9394 (102 Documen%, pp. 131-32). 

44 Order in Council PC 1694. June 12, 1893 (ICC Docmen&. pp. 272-74). 



THE SHOAL RIVER FACTlON AFI'ER 1881 

As we have seen, at 24,320 acres, the original Key Band IR 65 fulfilled treaty 
land entitlement for 130 people, although only 83 band members lived at the 
Fort Pelly location.45 The majority of hand members opted to remain in their 
traditional homeland near Swan River, Manitoba. The position of these peo- 
ple was explained in 1882 by Headman John Beardie: 

We the undersigned want a Resetve to live on at Shoal lake. We were told and we std 
hear that all Indians get a Resetve where they were brought up and chis is our reason 
for wishing a Reserve here as we don't wish to leave our b i d  place. 

Further we wish it h w n  that we never said or promised to go to PeUy, the Chief 
"Key" left our late Rt?.Setve without w r  consent so he can have a resetve at Pelly, but 
as for us we don't wish or intend to follow him there, therefore we wish you as agent 
to lay our case before the Gov't6 

The followers of John Beardie reiterated their opposition to the relocation 
plan in 1884: 

We belonged formerly to Chief Key's Band numbering altogether thirty seven heads of 
W e s .  Our Agent had a Resetve given us on the banks of the little Swan River, as 
you will see on the Map showing the Indian Reservations. During the year of excep- 
tional high water, w r  Reserve was somewhat flooded, and became unfit for culture: 
at present the same Reserve is perfectly dry and b e  soil good; large polatoes and 
other vegetables have been raised there in previous yan with great success. Unfortu- 
nately, for us, out Agents paid us a visit during the high water and as they had a rough 
time coming through, formed their opinion of our ReSetve accordingly. They told us 
that it would be impossible for us to subsist on our Resene, as nothing would grow, 
and besides that the mads were too bad For bringing in supplies, &c, &c. After some 
hesitation they at length prevailed on our Chief, with twelve Followers to go up to Fort 
Pelly and have a Resetve there. A third of those who went up were halfbreed Indians 
who could work [2 words unreadable] &c. We tbe majority (of twelw) numbwing 
twentyrfour beads ofjamilies refused to go andj%rtber infirmed our agent not 
to include us in tbe surveying oJ the R e m e  at PeUy as we intended to remain 
down bere. Since then we have been asking for a R e s m  to be given us here, but 
so far lue have had not even the satisfdion of a reply. 

The place we have now selected For a Resrve is at the mouth of Shoal River where 
we have every adv-e. The place afiords good Fishing all the year through the land 

T.P. Wadworth, Inspeclor of Indian Agencies, DepvtmPnl of Indian Affairs, Edmonton, to Superinlendent Cen- 
e d  ollndian AEd8a, Seplember 17, 1884, Canada, Parliament. ,%sSiomIPapen, 1885, No. 3, "Annull Repon 
d the D e p m e n l  al Indian &furs far the Yrar Ended December 31, 1884: 93 (ICC Docurnen&, p. 137). 
John Beardie, Headman, lo indim hgent, Trealy 4, Angus1 26, 1882, Nh. RC 10, "01. 7770. Ole 27117-2 (ICC 
Documem, @. M9-10). 
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is high and good, Timber plentihl, suitable for all our purpose [sic] - and our 
hunring grounds are war. The facilities for receiving supplies &c are advantageous, as 
we have water communication from here to the Railroad station at Westbourne, eigh- 
teen miles from Portage la Prairie. Mr. Indian Agent Martineau's supervision extends 
6fty Ayes from here, that is the Reserve at Duck Bay on the same lake as we are 
simated .... 

We (herefore request You to have a Reservation laid out for us as early as possible, 
at che desired point. W e  have already lost so much time in awaiting replies &c [sic]; 
that we intend to begin working this coming spring. With your order seed could as yet 
be given us, in time for spring use, but of course, no time should be losL4' 

Initial plans to allow a reserve at Shoal River were cancelled by the 
department, however, because the land was deemed unsuitable for agricul- 
ture. According to Indian Agent L.W. Herchmer in his 1885 report, "there is 
no use giving a Reserve at Shoal River as there is no land fit to work in that 
vicinity, and it will never be required for White Settlement, consequentiy, as 
long as these Indians choose to live by fishing they could remain at Shod 
River, and when desirous of becoming civilized they could join their Reserve 
at P e l l ~ . " ~ ~  

In Herchmer's view, it was merely a matter of time before the entire Band 
became settied on IR 65 at Fort Pell~.~9 He was wrong. Although they had no 
reserve, the Shoal River people remained where they were, and there is no 
evidence in the documents assembled for this inquiry that any of them relo- 
cated to the Fort Pelly reserve. In fact, there is evidence showing that those 
members remaining at Shoal River eventually thrived by hunting, fishing, and 
raising cattle.iO Furthermore, in February 1885, the members of the Shoal 
River faction appeared to repudiate the leadership of Chief The Key, as well 
as any interest in IR 65, in a letter to Inspector E. McCoU that echoes their 
letter of the previous year to Deputy Superintendent General Vankoughnet: 

We belonged formerly to the Keys band, numbering altogether nineteen heads of fami- 
lies. A Reserve was given us on the banks of the Swan River. Unfortunately during the 
exceptional high waters the Reserve was flooded, and unt3 for culture. At present the 
same Reserve is high and dry and the soil good. ... During the high waters our agents 

47 John Beardie eta]., Shoal Wer, to L. Vmkoughnq Depuly Superintendent General of lndian AIWm, Januuy I, 
1884, RG 10, vol. 7770, fde 27117-2 (la Documents, p. 129). Emphasis added. 

48 L.W. Herchmer, Indian bent ,  lo  Indian Commirsioner, Depanmenl of hdian Maim. May 6, 1885, NA, RG 10. 
vol. 3575, Ne 215 (ICC Documents, p p  14241) .  

49 L.W. Herchmer, lndian &el, lo hdim Commissioner, D e p m e n l  of Indian AJaim. May 6. 1885, NA, RG 10. 
vol. 3571, Me 215 (ICC Documents, p. 143). 

M WE. Jones, Acting lndian Agent, to Indian Commissioner, Department of Indian ABairs, November 3, 1888 (ICC 
Documents, p. 159). 
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paid us a visit, and as they had a rough time coming through, they formed their 
opinions accordingly, And told us it would be impossible for us to live there, as 
nothing would grow. ... They at length perslraded our Chief "The Key" together with 
hvelve followers to go up to PeUy, and have a Reserve surveyed for them there. We the 
majority having nineteen heads of families refused. We told our agent not to have our 
names included in the surveying of the Reserve, as we were going to remain here, 
probably our names may have been included, but that is not our fault ...il 

In 1888, J.A. Markle, the agent For the neighbouring Birtle Agency, paid treaty 
annuities to the Shoal River people at the site where they had built their 
homes, and submitted the following report: 

I visited that portion of the "Keys" Band residing at Shoal River, and as you are aware, 
these Indians have for some years offeted opposition lo be removed la the Reserve set 
apart for them near Fort PeUy and have asked that one be given them on the Shoal 
River, a report of my visit, and an opinion as to whether it would be advisable to meet 
their wish, may not be out of place .... 

I bund all to be we1 clothed, in good health, and their only trouble seemed to be 
that the Department would insist on their removing to the Reserve near Fort PeUy. 
They informed me that for ten months of each year they are able to rake all the fish 
they can possibly use, and no one need be in want the other two months if they only 
dry suBcient fish for that time. 

Ducks are also plentiful during the summer, and as this is a good fur bearing part 
of the couny, they had sold during the past year fur to the value of $5000.00 and as 
near as I could lm had earned fully $1000 mote in other work. There has only 
been one death in the past year. I am of the opinion it would be a mistake to remove 
these Indians to the Reserve near PeUy even providing they were willing to come, and 
if it were done they would have to be fed at least '/z of the year and I am of the 
opinion that, if another good place can be found in bat district, where b h  is easily 
taken, it would be to the best interest of the Indians and Depatlment to set apaFt 
another Reserve and allow any who are now on the Reserve near Fort PeUy to remove 
to it if they so wish, as I believe the Indians who have Reserves similarly situated are 
in a much better position than those who have Reserves inland." 

Reserves 65A to 65E in and around Shoal Lake and Dawson Bay 
The department apparently heeded Markle's advice, and over the succeeding 
years established a number of small reserves for the use of the people at 
Shoal River. In September 1889, J.C. Nelson surveyed a one-square-mile fish- 

51 John Bnrdie, &adman "far the Band,' to E. McColl, Februa~y 20. 1885, N& RG LO, "01. 3575, file 215 (la 
Documen!?,, pp. 13Hl ) .  

52 J.A. Mar&, I n h  Age114 DepaMlenl of h&m .&?in, to lndian Commissioner, Depanmenl of Indim Main, 
Sep~ember 5, 1888, NA, RG LO, vol. 3805, 61e 51162 (ICC Documenu, p. 141). 



ing station at the north end of Shoal River on Dawson's Bay." Nelson's survey 
plan No. 218 indicated that the reserve - Dawson Bay IR 65A - was intended 
to be a fishing station for the "Indians of the PeUy Agency." The reserve was 
confirmed by Order in Council on August 5, 1930, and set apart merely for 
"use of the Indians."j4 In 1889, a small plot (5.6 acres) within this area was 
occupied as a trading post by a squatter named Hartman, but was later aban- 
doned by him. Nelson surveyed the "Hartman Claim" in 1893 and it was 
contlrmed by Order in Council PC 1216 on July 11, 1895, as an a a t i o n  to 
IR 65k55 

In December 1893, Nelson surveyed several "new reserves" at Swan Lake 
and Dawson's Bay. These reserves were 

Dawson's Bay IR 658, containing 2,272 acres 
Swan Iake IR 65C, containing 1,939 acres 
Dog Island IR 65D, containing 275 acres 
Dawson Bay IR 65E, containing 53.40  acre^.'^ 

Nelson considered that all the reserves belonged to The Key Band: 

The reserve now consists of one larger and six smaller portions of land. The principal 
par1 is situated at Pelly and was surveyed by Mr. A.W. Ponton, DLS in the year 1883. 
The other pans surveyed season, as situated at the north-westerly end of Lake 
Winnipegosis, with the exception of a small area at the mouth of Birch River on the 
westerly shore already mentioned of Swan Cake ...57 

The Orders in Council codrming these reserves were issued in 1895. Those 
for IR 658 and 65D specify that the lands were set apart for the "Band of 
Chief The Key."58 IR 65C was "set apart and reserved for the purpose of an 

53 W. Austin, Department of Indian AXain, to Depuq Superintendent Genenl of lndiin A5airs. December 29, 
1890, NA, RC 10, vol. 3807, fde 52936 (ICC Documenu, p. 245). 

54 Jim Calla, excerpt from "TLE Repon -Shoal River." 1980 (ICC Documents, p. 644). 
55 John C. Nelson, In Charge Indian Rererve Survey, to Superintendent General of indim ABain, December 16, 

1893, Annual Re oftbe DBparftmsnr of Indian Affairsfor !be Yew EndedJum 39 1694 (ICC Docu- 
ments, pp. 2 6 7 s G . h .  Poupore, Director, Lands and Membership, Depanmerd of Indian &rs, to W.Y. 
L o w ,  Asislant Regional Director, Lands, Membership and Esutes, lndian and E s h o  AUain, May 27. 1976 
(ICC Documem, p. 638); Jim Gallo, excerpt from 'TLE Repan - Shod River." 1980 (ICC Documents, p. 644). 

56 W.V. Iawry. Asistan1 Regional Director, Lands, Membenhip and &fates, indim mi &lama Atlals, to R.W. 
Winstone, Chief, Cram m d s .  OepaRment of Renewable Resources and Transporntion Services, Winnipeg. 
Manitoba, June 17. 1977 (ICC Documents, p. 642). 

17 John C. Nelson. In Charge Indian Reserve Surveys, to Superintendent C e n e d  of Indun Aflairs, December 16, 
1693, A n d  Re rl of tk Department oflndian Affairsfor tbe Year EtuledJune 30, 1694 (ICC Docu- 
ments, pp. 267 4. 1 

58 Order in Council, July 20, 1895, N.4 RC 10, "01. 3575, Glo 215 (ICC Documen., p. 278) [note: OC refers to 
this reserve as 65d m errorl; Order in Couned September 20, 1@5, N4 RC 10, vol. 3575. Me 215 (ICC 
Documens, p. 282). 
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Indian Rese~e,"~P and IR 65E was set aside for the "Indians of Treaty No. 
4."60 Afte~ 1895, the annual reports for the ~elly Agency indicate that both 
locations maintained schools and that the Church of England had established 
missions that were well attended.61 

Separate Annuity Paylist for the Shoal River "Band" in 1902 
Up to and including the 1901 annuity paymenls, both portions of The Key 
Band were listed together on one annuity paylist, which required that the 
members of the Shoal River faction travel to Pelly for their payments. In 
1885, these individuals had complained about this routine, calling it "very 
hard treatment."62 It appears that the only exception to this practice occurred 
in 1888, when Agent MarMe paid the Shoal River people in their community. 
In 1902, however, the two groups were shown on separate paylists, and the 
administration of the Shoal River people was transferred to a different 
agency. Indian Agent R.S. McKenzie wrote: 

The supemision of that portion of Key's band residing at Shoal River has been tms- 
f e r ~ d  to the Lake Maniloba Inspeclorate as it was impossible to give them the neces- 
sary aaUention owing to the condition of the trails and the distance [fmm the Agency 
hadquarten) ." 

The heading of the 1902 paylists for the Shoal River reads: "Shoal River Band 
paid at Shoal River Reserve, August 18, 1902." John Beardie was paid as 
headman." 

The historical records of the department do not specifically address the 
issue of the designation of Shoal River as a separate band, although Inspector 
Graham apparently believed that such an action would require a "departmen- 

59 Order in Cound,  July 13, 1895, NIC RC 10, MI. 3575, file 215 (ICC Documents, p. 275). 
60 Jim Gallo. weerpl from "TLE Repon - Shad River," 1980 (1% Doeumenls, p. 644). 
61 WE. Jones, Indian Agent. Depvunenl of India Main, to Superintendent Cenenl of Indian Main, August 5, 

1895. Annual X e p M  of i& depmtmmt of Indian Aff~~irsfor t6e Year EndedJune 30, 1896 (ICC Docu- 
men&, pp. 2 7 W ) ;  W.E. Jones, Indian Agenl, Department of Indian Albin, to Su eatendent General d 
Indim Alhirs, Augut9, 1898, Annual Repotl oftbe Lbportmnr o/,ndian A*Jr t& Yew BndedJune 
30,1899 (ICC Documen&, pp. 291-92); W.E. Jones, Indian Age*, Oepamenl ot Indian Ahin, lo Superinten- 
dent Gened of Indim Main, August 30, 1899, Ann& Kepm ofthe deparhent of lndirm Afi i rs  for the 
YemEndedJune30. 1899 (ICC Documents. pp. 30WI). 

62 John Beardie. Headman [and one olherl "for h e  Bad" lo E. MdoU, February 20, 1881, N& RC LO, 
vol. 3573, Me 211 (LCC Documen4 pp. 13841). 

63 R.S. Mamie,  I n d i a  Agent. Depanmenl of Indian &in, to Superintendent General of Indian Albin, Ju$14, 
1902. Annual Rep& of l& Dcpnrt-1 ofIndian Aff~irsjbr t& Yem EndedJun. 30, 1902. 160 (IU: 
Documears, p. 326). 

64 D e p m e n t  of I n d i a  Maiq Annuity pylylisl, August 8, 1902, DIAND, Genedogid Unil (ICC Documents, 
pp. 329-36). 
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tal order."65 In 1977, W.V. Lowry, the department's Assistant Regional Direc- 
tor of Lands, Membership and Estates, reported that, " [allthough the Shoal 
River Band was paid with The Key Band until 1902, the two bands are now 
recognized as separate groups."66 

No evidence was produced to show that the two Bands ever authorized any 
distribution of the reserve kdnd between them. In 1924, however, the Shoal 
River Band, "resident on our Reserve No. 65a," surrendered IR 65D and IR 
65E in exchange for additions to IR 65A and IR 65B and a new reserve, IR 
65F.67 The Orders in Council confirming the additions and new reserve stated 
that the lands were "set apart for the use of the Indians" and did not mention 
a particular band by name.@ 

LIFE ON THE KEY BAND INDIAN RESERVE 65 BEFORE 1909 

As discussed above, The Key Band had resided at Shoal River for many years 
before relocating to the Fort PeUy district. The historical record shows that, 
at the time they entered Treaty 4 in 1875, band members "had ground under 
cultivation, and possess[ed] a number of cattle and h0rses."~9 The agricul- 
tural and ranching progress the Band had made to this date was a product of 
its own efforts. One of the basic terms of Treaty 4, however, provided that 
bands would receive agricultural implements, seed, and certain livestock to 
assist them in their transition to farming and stock raising. This issue was 
addressed by the Treaty Commissioners in their report on the adhesion of the 
Indians at Shoal River: 

No agricultural implements have been forwarded to Shoal River, and as these bands, 
as before stated, manifest a great desire to  cultvate the soil, evely encouragement and 
assistance should be given them, and to this end we would recommend that arrange- 

65 W.M. Graham ta Secretaq Deparunent of Indian A5drf, Augur! 13. 1908, NA, RG 10, vol. 4039, Ole 329759 
(ICC DoeumenB, pp. 455-56). 

66 W.V. Lowry, Asssistunt Regional Director, lands. Membership and Mates, Indian and Pskimo Main, to R.W. 
Winzone. Chief, Cmw Lands, D e p w e n t  of Renovlble Resources and Tnnsponation Selvices, Winnipeg, 
Manitoba. June 17, 1977 (ICC Documents, p. 642). 

67 Surrender Instrument and related documents, June 2, 1924 (ICC Documents, pp. 546-51); Orders in Council, 
PC 1364,June 14, 1930 (ICC Documents, pp. 567-71). 

68 Orders in Council, PC 1364, June 14, 1930 (ICC Documens, pp. 567-11). PhysicaJly, members of the Shoal 
River Band were hcated in mo sepmte communities. about 70 miles span Discussions proposing a division 
of the Band "to improve band admi&tration and in order to have a cound more attuned to the l a d  needs 
and desires of the indiidual commuwtid' began aboa 1977. In 1982, the Minister d Indian apprmd 
the M i o n  assented to in a plebiscite by a majority of the mo groups. Two bands were created, Shod River 
and Indian Birch. The reserws were didded bewen them: Shoal River Bvld received IR 65A, B. and F; and 
the Indian Birch Band received S m  & Rwne 65C. 

69 W. Christie and M.G. DidLuon, Treaty Commissionen, to the Mi&Yr of the Interior, October 7, 1875, Nk RG 
10, vol. 3625, file 5489 (ICC Documenfs, pp. 7-21). 
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mem be made to foward the agricultural implements and carpenters twls as well as 
seed grain and potatoes as early as possible next spring 

The location of the original reserve held by The Key Band did not lend itself 
to successful agriculture, despite the Band's "desire to cultivate the land." 
The location of this reserve was described as "poor farming country" by 
Indian Agent A. M C K ~ ~ , ? ~  and the quality of the land was one of the determin- 
ing factors that persuaded a portion of the original Band to relocate to the 
Fort Pelly district in 1882. On establishing themselves on their new reserve 
near Fort Pelly, the members of The Key Band set about constructing the 
infrastructure of their new community. Houses were erected by the summer 
of 1883, and plans soon followed for the construction of a day school and 

The Band's attempts at farming, although slow, were also encour- 
aging. For example, in 1883 the agent at Birtle noted that the Band had 
"done fairly well, have neat houses and small fields, but being totally ignorant 
of farming and unable to plow, advance slowly." In order to assist them, he 
"engaged a competent h&-breed to instruct them in plowing for two 
months" and "lent this band cattle." In his opinion, the Band "appear[ed] 
anxious to impr~ve."~s Indeed, by the following summer some improvement 
had been noted. In 1884, T.W. Wadsworth, the Inspector of Indian Agencies, 
submitted the following report with regard to his inspection of IR 65: 

These Indians are doing very well, having this year 6liy acres in crop, twenty of wheat, 
twelve of potatoes, sixteen of barley and two acres of garden, as against fourteen acres 
all told in 1883, and their cattle have increased from thirty-nine head, in 1883, to 
forty-wen head thls year, with more calves to come. The chief asks to use his oxen in 
freighting when they are not required for farming. ... They asked for a mower, fanning 
mills, sickles, milk pans, two chums, six breaking ploughs, two iron harrows and two 
wagons. The chief wants two iron-bound carts in lieu of a Light wagon, and two sets 
[ofl pony plough harness [sic] for the use of the band; he also asked for clothing. At 
each house can be seen a saw pit, the Indians having whip saws of their own." 

70 W Christie and M.C. Dichon, Treaty Commissioners, to the MiNsler of the Interior, October 7, 1875. NA, RC 
lo ,  vol. 3621, Me 5489 (ICC Documents, pp. 7-21). 

71 A. McKay, Indian Agent, lo SW Oaober 11, 1876, NA, RC 10, MI. 3642, fde 7581 (ICC Documents, 
nn 47-52) ,. , . . , - , 
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74 T.P. W a h n k ,  Ins enor of Indian Apncios, to SGU, September 17, 1884, in AnnuolReporl o/lbeDBpart- 
mmI o/l& AAirsfor tk Year Gndedhcmr6BI 31, 18M, 93 (ICC Documents. p. 137). 



The Band's initial progress in agriculture, however, began to decline 
towards the end of the decade, after the department removed the full-time 
farming instructor from the PeUy district. According to Indian Commissioner 
Hayter Reed's 1888 inspection report of all three reserves in the Fort Pelly 
district (The Key, Keeseekwse, and ate  ), the crops raised by the Bands 
were "of small value, and they have been deprived of the benefit of the vege- 
tables, which I observed had, in the absence of White supervision, been 
allowed to be choked out by weeds."15 The Band's lack of progress was 
compounded, according to Reed, by a serious local decline in small game 
and fur-bearing animals. As a result, he sent W.E. Jones, one of his subordi- 
nates employed at the Touchwood Hills Agency, to spend "a month or so on 
the spot and make such investigations as will enable us to reach a just con- 
clusion as to the actually existing condition of things, and the prospects." 
Reed stated that, although it was apparent that some action was required to 
remedy the above situation, he would await Jones's report before initiating 
any administrative ~hanges.7~ 

On October 7, 1888, W.E. Jones arrived in Fort Pelly and conducted a 
house-by-house inspection of the three reserves located there. His extensive 
observations concerning The Key Band at Fort Pelly reveal the degree of 
decline in the community: 

I visited the Keys reserve here, this Band is considerably divided up, only a part of 
them residing on their reserve, these have done but little in the shape of Earming, and 
I am SOIF/ to say what crop they had was frozen, many of these people are far from 
being healthy, being attlicted with scrofula. ... 

These people come from the Shoal River, where fish was plentiful. They have had 
no chance to learn anything of the usage of implements for farming: in my opinion it 
was a great mistake that these Indians were removed from Shoal River and placed on 
their present reserve. I am sure you were not advked fully in the matter. 

Their argument is this, you (the Department) asked us to go tn Fort PeUy on a 
reserve there, and you would help us. We have done so, we knew nothing of farming, 
and you sent no one to help us. We did the best we could ourselves and it has Med, 
we have nothing and we want you to help us by giving work to those who can work, 
and relief to others. 

The other part of the Keys band are al l  Swampy Crees, and are living at the north 
mouth of Shoal River. They were born and brought up there. I visited these Indians, a 
distance of 90 miles. They are totally ignorant of any other means of earning a living, 

75 Hayter Reed, Indian Commissioner, to Edgar Devdney, SCIA, Seplember 6. 1888, Nh RG 10, vol. 3805, file 
51162 (ICC Documents, pp. 149-56). 

76 Hayier Reed, Lndian Commissioner, M Edgar Dewdnq, SCU. September 6, 1888, NA, RC 10. val. 3805, file 
51162 (ICC Documents, pp. 149-56). 
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except by Eshing and hunting: their chief food is fish, this they heyk they must have. 
When it was suggested to Chief Key and his band that they remove to Fort PeUy, these 
Indians some 19 families, the majority of the Band said they would not go, for the 
reasons that they were better off where they were, and warned the Chief not to take up 
land on their account. On their not going up to the Reserve, all their cattle and 
implements were taken from them. A year after John Beardy, H.M. [Headman] began 
a correspondence with the Supt. General as to their troubles. This continued through 
1884 & 5 when they were told to take the correspondence and go to Regina. 

These people have not received any relief from the Deparrment. They have done 
for themselves, and have quite a number of cattle, if they had been removed here, 
they would have bad to have been fed, or else return to where they are; in my opinion 
they have shown good sense in their actions, also save the Dept. a lot of money and 
trouble. I would recommend that they be allowed to remain where they are for some 
time yet until we have more land prepared on their Reserve, and are sure we can 
raise crops there. They want secured a small portion of land for a Gshing station, at 
the north mouth of Shoal River. 

This could be a 6shing station for aU Fort PeUy Indians in the iuture. ... 
On Cotes Reserve a large quantity of hay can be cut possibly 6 or 700 tons, and 

about 4 or 500 tons on Kee-see-koose, but little can be got on the Keys, so if cattle 
can be provided for these people, and if it is closely attended to, hay can be secured 
for them. Oxen will be required for next springs work." 

As a result of the above inspection, the department authorized Jones to con- 
tinue on in the Pelly district on an experimental basis until it could be deter- 
mined whether his presence there had a beneficial effect on the progress of 
the three Bands?8 In the spring of 1889, he submitted his first report as 
acting agent. He reported that the Bands had "done a lot of work during the 
winter, hauling in their hay from where it was cut, getting out rails and logs, 
also some of them sawing quite a lot of lumber," but that the hunters "had a 
miserable ca tch and would not be able to reduce the debts they had con- 
tracted in the fall. Therefore, Jones recommended "a further provision for 
these Indians here, to carry them through the fiscal year."79 His Annual 
Report submitted later the same year was marginally more encouraging. 
While progress in the area of gardening had enabled the bands to support 
themselves reasonably well during the summer months, the hunt bad been 
poor and many of the animals they usually hunted had disappeared?"n 

77 W.E. Jones lo Hayter Reed, Indian Cammissioner. November 3, 1888 (ICC Documents, pp. 15840). 
78 Hayter Reed, Indian Commissmner, to DSCH, June 12, I890 (ICC Documents, p. 225). 
79 W.E. Jones, Acting Lndian Agent, to Hayter Reed Indian Commissioner, Apnl 20, 1889 (ICC Documents, 

00. 17678). 
so W.E. Jones, ;\cling Indian Agent, to SGU, Axus1 29, 1889, in Annual Report of lba Oepartmenl of Indian 

~j'ai~sfol  fba Year E d 4  apcenber31, IW, 63 (ICC Exhibit 7, vol. 3). 



general, the Bands did not yet appear to have recovered from earlier set- 
backs and were making slow progress in the transition to full-time farming. 

Concerned that the Pelly Agency Bands would lose interest in the pursuit 
of farming and stock raising, Assistant Indian Commissioner A.E. Forget rec- 
ommended that a communal hay reserve he established for the exclusive use 
of the three Pelly Bands, The Key, Cote, and Keeseekoose. After being 
approved by senior officials within the Department of Indian AtIairs, the 
request was forwarded to the Department of the Interior for approval, and 
confirmation was received in May 1890. Approximately 20.5 square miles of 
land were thereby established as a hay reserve for the Indians of the Pelly 
Agency?' 

It appears that, after 1889, all three Bands in the Pelly Agency made nota- 
ble progress towards the department's goal of promoting community self- 
suffi~iency.8~ By the summer of 1890, despite having suffered through a few 
poor seasons during the 1880s, the members of The Key Band had estab- 
lished a reputation with Inspector Wadsworth as intelligent, self-sufficient 
people. After Wadsworth inspected the reserve during the summer of 1890, 
he was cautiously optimistic: 

Key Reserve. The Chief of this Band came from Shoal River, Lake Winnipegosis several 
years ago, bringing with him only a portion of his Band, they now number sixty eight 
souls, elwen heads of families. Those still remaining at Shoal River number one hun- 
dred and fifti-souls. 

This Chief, together with his two brothers, are hunters and beyond growing a few 
potatoes, give but little attention to farming. However, up to the present time, they 
have lived comfortably and required but little assismce from the Agent. The other 
families were originally boat builders and voyageurs; they are intelligent, handy men, 
and take ereat interest in farmine and cattle raisine. Thw have comfortable houses. - ,  
g d  s t i e s ,  corrals, stock yar&, root houses, milk houses etc. Their acreage $ 
crops this year was not large (25). Their potatoes, onions and turnips are a magmf- 
cent crop but their grain is a failure on account of the frost. The land of the Reserve 
where they have settled is light sandy soil, but with Fall plowing, early sowing and 
copious spring rains, should produce g a d  crops. 

81 For hnher information about the creation and extinguishment af the "PeUy Ha lanW reserve, see A.W. Ponton, 
DIS, lo the Secret;uy, DU. December 28, 1898 ( l a  Documenu, pp. 295-97j; Order in Council dated March 
15, 1899 (ICC Documen&, p. 298); F. Pedley, DSCk to P.G. Keys, S e c r e t q  Depamnent of the Intenor. 
Februacy 21, 1903 (ICC Documenu, p. 350); F. Pedlq! DSCIA, to H.A. Carruthen, Indian @gent, October 22, 
1903 (ICC Documenn, p. 353); and D. Laird, Indian Commisioner, to F. Pedlq, DSCIA. December 26, 1905 
llrr F ~ h i h i t  I n  \."" .",. 

82 Por a complete analysis of eonternporaly DIA poliq with regard to Lndivl reserve farming and stock d i n g ,  
see Sarah Caner, Lost Harvests: Pmitie I&" Reserve P ' n e r s  and Cowmmnt Policy (Mootred and 
Kingston: McGa-Queen's University Press, 1991). 
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Cattle - They have seventy five head of cattle from sixteen c'ows they have this year 
reared fiheen calves. I saw most of the cattle, they are in excellent condition, the cows 
are milked and the cahm fed. Butter is made. The calves are in enclosed fields with 
access to water. 

These people have considerable private farming propetty namely twelve horses, 
four cows, five young cattle, two mowers, two wagons, one cart, two bobsleighs, three 
buckboards. They work four [Illegible] horses at Earn work, they have also a good 
deal of poultry, apparently insigruGcant in value but they are an important addition @ 
their resources, eggs being always saleable at good prices.83 

Statistics compiled from the Annual Report for that year show that the Band 
also owned 13 oxen and 12 horses, together with 17 houses and 14  stable^.^ 
The figures listed in the Annual Report also reveal that the Band planted a 
total of 26 acres in various crops, with varying degrees of success. For 
instance, band member John Redlake planted 2.5 acres of wheat that was 
destroyed, likely by early frost.85 The Band, however, had more success grow- 
ing hardy crops such as oats, barley, potatoes, and turnips, and managed to 
harvest 88 bushels of oats on 6 acres, 90 bushels of barley on 8.5 acres, 
267 bushels of potatoes on 4.5 acres, and 193 bushels of turnips on 
4 acres.86 

From these statistics, it can be determined that each male head of family, 
even those categorized as "hunters," made an effort to put some crop in the 
ground. The degree of success attained by the various members varied a 
great deal. On the whole, however, it is not surprising that Wadsworth would 
have concluded that "they have lived comfortably and required hut little 
assistance from the Agent." Together, the Inspector's report and statistics 
depict a group that had sustained a measurable degree of success in their 
effort towards adaptation of an agricultural lifestyle. 

The situation was much the same in 1895, the last year in which the 
Department of Indian Affairs collected and published crop production statis- 

83 T.P. Wadswonh, Inspector of Indian Agencies, to SGK October 6, 1 8 9 ,  Nh, RG 10, MI. 5844. Gle 73400 (ICC 
Documents, pp. 22%37). 

84 See "Appruxlmale ReNrn al Grain and Roots Sown and Hamesled, Furl PeUy; in AnnualRepn'f of lbe Depart- 
ment ojlndian Affairs/& lbe Year Ended Dember 31, 1890. 258-59 (ICC Exhibit 7. vol. 3). 

85 See "Return Showing Crops Sawn and Hvvested by indvidlvldual indims in Pe$ Agency, Season of 189." in 
A n n d  Re@ oftbe Dcpot'hmnt of Indian Affairs for lbs Year Ended December 31, 1890. 270-71(ICC 
Exhibit 7, vol. 3). 

% See ''Return Showing C r o p  Sawn and Harvested by individual Indians in PeUy Agenry. Season oi 1890," in 
A n n d  Rep& of lbe D e p o r l m l  of Indian Affairs for tbs YMr Ended December 31, 1890. 270-7i(ICC 
Exhibit 7, MI. 3). 
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tics for individual bands.87 A review of those statistics reveals that The Key 
Band members had maintained similar production levels to those attained in 
1890, with the exception of decreases in wheat and turnip yields. In all other 
measured categories, the Band had increased its crop production from the 
levels reported in 1890. For example, 250 bushels of oats were produced 
from 12.5 acres, 155 bushels of barley were produced from 7.75 acres, and 
460 bushels of potatoes were hafvested From 5.75 acres.88 Furthermore, the 
Band increased the number of acres planted within its communal garden. 
Finally, the statistics show that 770 tons of hay were harvested from the vari- 
ous hay swamps on the re~erve.~9 Wadsworth's inspection report for the year 
in question adds Further detail. 

Key: Six Indians of this band are farmers, namely; William Brass, George Bms, 
Thomas Brass, John Redlake, William Brass, Jr., Chief Key and his two brothers. Very 
few, if any, of the haltbreeds of this country have as good home surroundings as the 
Erst five men named Their houses are excellent buildings, are partitioned and have 
also sleeping aparhnents upstairs. 

The farmers of this band occupy eleven houses and Meen stables. They have ten 
work oxen, one hundred and eighteen cows and young canle, twenty-two horses, 
seventy fowls, Eve farm wagons, two mowers, two horse rakes and have already ten 
acres in grain sown. 

Wm. Brass, St's. family are great butter makers and raise turkeys as well as other 
poultry. This band has also the use, on loan, in addition to the above mentioned 
private property, of two mowers, two horse rakes and two farm wagons. For Indians 
they have not many horses, but those they have are of superior breed. 

The large portion of this band who live at Shoal lake are reported as a very good 
lot of Indians. They number nearly one hundred and sixty souls. Iast year they raised 
sufficient potatoes for use and seed, and one man this spring had eighty bushels to 
sell. Their principal subsistence is from Eshing and hunting. 

Reporting on the entire agency, Wadsworth continued: 

Live Stock: I rounded up the cattle at the Merent Indian farms, and 1 assured myself 
o f i h e o n a b l e  correctness of the live stock registers, from which the quarterly 
returns are made up. 

\hec 18%. ~ h t  r n n ~ a ,  Hcpum of l l~r  lxplnml.nl 01 ltdlrtt rlilln yrldu:~~rl ,uu,lc;h urly 11 lllc r&ntl? level 
R c n u x  the$,, h ~ u r o  t~tcludrl ill lbum jut 1 p r n  agpnm, 1h0 h nut, ~utalununa~rl) lend II~CIIIIPI%P> ,.a<ll! 10 
tb .u,p*imcru ul nndvldual hub\ 

ss See "Return Showing Crops Sown and Harvested by lndiridual Indians in PeUy Agency, Season of 1895." in 
Annual Heporl of /be ikparImenl of Indian Affairsfor lbe Year hdedjune 30, 1185. 430 (ICC Mibi t  7, 
""I 1) . -. , . , . 

89 See "Return Showing Crops Sown and Halvesled by Individual Indians in PeUy Agenq. Season of 1895: in 
Annual Repa? oftbs Deparlntenf of Indian Affairsfor tbe Year EnledJune 30, 1895, 430 ((IW: Exhibit 7, 
vol. 3).  
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The animals are in good condition, better than 1 have ever seen them so early in 
the spring in this part of the cwntry. 

There are already a good number of spring calves. The spring being so favourabfe, 
I thought it a pity there were not more. At every fm there was hay on hand and to 
spare. The stables were in good repair, and there were a few young bulls which had 
not been castrated last M, but while I was there the oversight was being rectified ... 

I feel warranted in stating that every stable is fitted with stanchions and that every 
animal is legibly branded "U)." 1 say this from the fact that of a l l  the stables I entered, 
1 found them litled up as stated, and I do no1 rwdl obsew~ng one mind ~ithout the 
brmd. I uuibute this favourable ,we oldlairs to the indefatigable perslacnce of llic 
agent, who never allows an lndian to rest in peace until a thing is done that bas to be 
done; and as they are becoming forehanded in their work, they appear to be satisfied 
and contented with their situation ....90 

Taken together, the Inspector's report and statistics reveal that the Band 
was increasing its efforts to raise crops in 1895. It is more dilEcult, however, 
to quantify the Band's success in stock raising that year, given that both Wad- 
sworth and, in the following report, Agent Jones limited their comments to 
the significant increase in the agency as a whole: 

The earnings of the Indians have increased over those of last year, and the Indians 
have the will to do more if they had the opportunity, but all such resources as the 
selling of hay or wood (a small quantity has been sold to the school) is cut o& as we 
are fifty miles from the towns and settlements. ... 

Their stock consists of one hundred and forty-three horses, thitteen bulls, one 
hundred and sixteen oxen, two hundred and ninety-five cows, one hundred and 
thirty-three steers, one hundred and Ofteen heifers, one hundred and fifty-seven calves 
(up to 30th June), one hundred and forty-six sheep and lambs; total canle, eight 
hundred and ~venty-nine, also the sheep and horses above mentioned. This is the 
showing now of the property of the Indians here (one hundred and sixty head has 
been consumed, sold and died), as compared to two hundred and eighty head owned 
by them in the year 1889, an increase in a period of six years of seven hundred and 
ten head. The increase in value over last year of live stock held by Indians will amount 
to about $4,725.9' 

Nevertheless, Jones did confirm that some members of The Key Band shared 
in this success. With respect to William Brass Sr and family, Jones stated: 

90 See Annual R e p ?  of tbe Deparhetlt ofirwiian Affairs for lbe Year Endedrne 30, 1895, 115-22 (ICC 
Exhibit 7, wl 3). 

91 W.E. Jones, Indian Agent, Cote. kiniboia, to SGU, August 5, 1895, in AnnualRepod oflbe Depnrhsnl of 
Indian Affairs for lbe Yeor EndedJune 30, 1895, 102-05 (ICC Exhibit 7, uoi. 3). 
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William Brass, st., in 1889 had Eve head of cattle; he now owns thirty-five head of 
cattle, six horses, hvo double wagons, mower and rake. Last year he sold and con- 
sumed six head of cattle. This Indian has a good house, always clean, a d a q  house; 
his daughter, Susan, milking six cows, making butter and selling it to h e  traders at 
Fort Pelly. They keep about thirty fowls and raise a number of turkeys every year.g2 

Jones also stated that John Redlake, George Brass, and Thomas Brass were 
"proportionately well ofl" in comparison with William Brass and other suc- 
cessful examples from the entire agency. h general, therefore, the depart- 
ment's Annual Report for 1895 suggests that the members of The Key Band 
were also sustaining their progress in stock raising. 

Although statistical evidence for the years after 1896 is sparse, documen- 
tary evidence indicates that the Band maintained a slow but steady increase in 
agricultural production. In 1898, Inspector Alexander McGibbon reported 
that the Band had 22 acres under crop and had broken Eve additional acres 
of garden.93 The same report stated that band members had 212 head of 
cattle, 25 horses, and nine sheep." While the total acreage in crop during 
this year was marginally lower than had been the case during the previous 
decade, the figures for Livestock and garden production reflect an increase 
and reveal that the Band was expanding in new directions such as sheep 
raising. 

This pattern continued into the next century during the years immediately 
preceding the surrender. In 1903, for example, L.J.A. Leveque, the Inspector 
of Indian Agencies, submitted the following report regarding the Band's 
performance: 

Resources and Occupations.- The majority of this band make their living by hunting 
and fteighting; only a few follow husbandly or cattle-raising for a Living. 
Cattle.- - AU the stock inspected, numbering one hundred and twenty-one head. The 
property of seventeen individuals, were found in fairly good condition; an abundance 
of hay was left over. Part of this band had been transferred to the Lake Manitoba 
inspectorate and took ninety-four head of cattle with them. 
9. - There were about sixty acres of land under cmp, which is a slight increase 
over last year,Y5 

92 WE. Jones. Indian Agent, Cote, Asilaboia, lo SGIA, Augua 5, 1895, in Ann& Reporl of tbe OBplrlmeK4 of 
lndian Affairsfor tbe Year EddJune  30, 1895, 103 (ICC Exhibit 7, "01. 3). 

93 Alexander McBbbon, Inspector of lndian Agencies, to SGIA. September 27, 1898, in Annual Report of tbe 
Department oflndim Affairs for tbe Year Endedjuna 30, 1898, 193-94 (ICC Exhibit 7, MI. 3).  

94 Alexander McBbbon, Impectar of lndian Agencies, lo S G h  September 27, 1898, in Annual Report oflbe 
Departmnt of ldian Affairsfor tbe Year E d d j u n e  30, 1898, 193-94 (ICC Exhibit 7, 701. 3). 

95 LJ.A. Lweqw, Inspector of lndian Agencies, lo S G h  Septembet 8, 1903, DepaMleot of Indim Maim. "hnud 
Report ior fhe Y e a r  1903; pp. 228-30 (ICC Exhibit 7, MI. 4). 
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It is interesting to note that, despite Leveque's assertion that only a few mem- 
bers of the Band farmed or raised stock for a living, their stock statistics 
remained more or less constant from previous years." The acres under crop 
had increased to 60 - the highest number on record to that date and more 
than double the average acreage cropped during the 1890s. The historical 
record also reveals that, in 1903, the Band expressed a clear interest in 
expanding its mixed-farming production and asked the department to pro- 
vide moneys to assist the establishment of younger band members in the 
direction of commercial crop production. This initiative led to a series of 
meetings between the Band and departmental representatives, resulting in a 
surrender proposal that would have provided better land and some capital 
for band members to acquire the implements required to increase produc- 
tion and to assist young men who wished to make a start in agri~ulture.~' As 
we will see, nothing resulted from these discussions, but it appears that the 
older men within the Band - including Chief The Key - believed that the 
initiative was in the best interests of the Band, as it would enable the Band as 
a whole to enjoy further progre~s.9~ 

The evidence in this inquiry indicates that the Band continued to increase 
its agricultural activities in the years immediately preceding the 1909 surren- 
der. In 1905, Agent H.A. Carruthers reported: 

These people are practically making a Living without any help in the way of food from 
the Department, chieUy by the proceeds of a t l e ,  hunting, freighting and selling hay 
and wood. A good start was made in farming by three young men this summer ... 
whom I assisted with oxen, the three of them breaking eighty-five a c e s  of new 
land ...W 

The Annual Report for the following year indicates that the three young men 
referred to by Carruthers had seeded the 85 acres broken by them the previ- 
ous year and that, on their own initiative, they were brealung new land.IW 

In the spring of 1908, Agent W.G. Blewed advised his superiors that "grad- 
ually each year this band is purchasing the necessary implements and 

% The statistics referred to take into accaun~ he separation of the Shaal River faction in 1902. 
97 See H.A. Carruthers, lndian Agent, to the Indian Commissioner, December 21, 1903, Nh RC 10, rol. 3561, fde 

82-1 (ICC Documentr, pp. 358-61). 
98 H.A. Carrulhen, lndian Agent. PeUy Agency, to h i d  Laird. l n h  Commissioner. March 11, 1904, Nh RG 10, 

vol. 3561. fde 82-1 (ICC Documents, pp. 369-70). 
99 H d  Carnabem, ladim @ I ,  PenyAgency, IN, prank ~edley,  DSCLI. ~ugusf 25, 1905, A n n w l ~ ~ p ~ l  offbe 

DeWmenr o f l n d h  Afdrsfor Ibe Year EndidJune 30, 1905 (ICC Documents, p. 408). 
Iw HA. Carrulhea, lndian Agent, PeUy Agency, to Frank Pedky, DSGLI. July 4. 1906, Ann& Reprl of 16e 

Department of Indian Afiirrfor I6e Year EndidJune 30, 1906 (ICC Documena. p. 431). 
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machinery for more farming."1o1 In March 1909, he reported that the Band 
had "almost all the necessary implements and are buying all needed from 
their own resources."lm 

From an early date, therefore, it appears that the Band displayed an inter- 
est in developing a farming and stock-raising economy. Despite some early 
setbacks, which departmental officials attributed to the absence of a farming 
instructor, the Band sustained or increased its agricultural efforts up until the 
date of surrender. 

Proposed Surrender for Exchange, 1903-06 
Increased settlement in the Fort Pelly district brought repercussions for The 
Key, Keeseekoose, and Cote Bands as early as 1898. As noted previously, an 
area of approximately 20 square miles had been reserved for Pelly Agency 
Bands in 1893 to provide additional haylands for the Bands' burgeoning 
stock-raising enterprises. In 1898, however, the Department of the Interior 
informed Indian Affairs that a portion of these reserved haylands would be 
required for a proposed settlement of Doukhobors. 

By Order in Council dated May 15, 1899, approximately half of the Pelly 
haylands - "all of Fractioned Township 31, lying West of Kee-see-koose's 
Indian Reserve" -was removed from the administration of the Department of 
Indian Affairs and placed at the disposal of the Department of the Interior for 
redistribution as a communal reserve for Doukhobor settlers.1°3 This deci- 
sion would eventually have an impact on all three Bands in the Pelly Agency. 

The department considered it imperative that the Pelly Agency Bands make 
full use of the remaining communal hay reserve, comprising approximately 
6,000 acresLo4 within fractional Township 30 and located directly west of Cote 
IR 64. In 1902, Alexander McGibbon, the Inspector of Indian Agencies, res- 
urrected a plan originally proposed by Agent Jones ten years previously, 
whereby less valuable lands on The Key, Keeseekoose, and Cote reserves 
would be surrendered in exchange for productive lands located within what 
remained of the Pelly haylands reserve.1°5 The proposal gained momentum in 

101 W.G. Blewes, lndian Agent, Pelly Agency, to E m k  Pedley, DSGM, Apd 2. 1908. Annual Report of tbe Oeparf- 
men1 of In& Affni~rsfor !be Year EndedManb 31, lY08 (ICC Documen&, p. 447). 

102 W.G. Blewen, lndian Agent, PeKy Agency, to Department of Indian Maim, March 3, 1909,AnnualRepori of tbe 
Department of India Afairs for !be Year EndedManb 31, 1909 (IK Documents, p. 468). 

I03 Order in Council dated May 15. 1899 (11% Documents, p. 298). 
I04 On the hsue of acreage, see D. Laird, Indian Commissioner, to Fnnk Pedley, December 26. 1905 (ICC 

Exhibit 16). 
lo5 See W.E. Jones, Indian Agent, to DL4, Much 22, 1892 (1CC Documents, p. 261), and extract of repan: Alex. 

Mffiibbon, Inspector of lndian Agencies, lo DM, June 24, 1902 (ICC Dacumenu;, p. 315). 



August 1902 when departmental Secretary J.D. McLean voiced his approval of 
the scheme insofar as it concerned the Cote Band: 

The Depa-tment notes what you say ... as to the necessity for holding the Hay lands 
adjacent to Co@s Reselve pending further consideration by the Indians of the ques- 
tion of endeavouring to secure them permanently by the surrender of a portion of 
their R e ~ e l w . ' ~  

By October, the proposal was expanded to address the requirements of the 
Keeseekoose Band as weU. Subsequently, a flurry of correspondence ensued 
in an attempt to identify the lands sought by the Cote and Keeseekoose Bands, 
to designate which lands would be made available for a surrender in 
exchange, and to determine whether the Department of the Interior would 
agree to an exchange when it was proposed.lo7 

In the meantime, H.A. Carruthers had assumed the position of agent for 
the Pelly Agency and had taken an interest in the exchange initiative. In June 
1903, Carruthers indicated that he would soon submit "a somewhat different 
proposal with a view to securing the desired hay land."108 His proposal 
included The Key Band in the surrender-for-exchange initiative. In the fall of 
1903, Carruthers discussed the issue with the Assistant Indian Commissioner, 
J.A.J. McKema, who provided the following detailed instructions: 

Referring to the discussion we had in regard to the proposal that those Indians of 
Key's Reserve who are desirous of starting farming should have secured for them 
Township 30, Range 32, and the hvo South rows of sections in Township 31, Range 
32, W.P.M., which subject is referred to in the letter of the Department to you of the 
2Znl ultimo, a copy of which you kindly transmitted to me, I beg to remind you of the 
application of Cote's band for a portion of said Township 30, in lieu of which they 
were prepared to surrender a portion of Section 31 included in their reserve. You will 
remember that Chief Cote brought this question up, and that I told him it was delayed 
pending decision as to the disposal of the whole of Township 30. I have since learned 
that there was a proposal by Agent McKenzie on behalf of Kisikouse's band for an 
exchange of part of their reserve for a portion of Township 31. You were to have a 
further meeting with Key's band to ascertain definitely their mind as to the proposed 

106 hmct of a letter fmm 1.D MclRm. S e e r e m  DU Aumsl 16. 1902. M. RC LO. val. 7 7 7 0 . h  27117-1. 01 2 ,. . "  . . ,  , . 
(ICC Documen&, p. 33;). 

la7 See, lor example. D. laird, Indian Commissioner, to lndian ken4 P d y  Agency, January 17. 1903 (ICC Docu. 
men&, p. 347); RS. McKenrie, Indian Agent, lo D. Laird, Febmary 3, 1903 (ICC Documen&, p. 348); D. Laird, 
Indian Commissioner, to Secretary, DDU. February 13, I903 (ICC Documen&, p. 349); F. Pedlq: DSCU, to P.C. 
Kwes. Secrewnr oe~anment of he Interior. Febmvv 21. 1903 (ICC Documen&. o. 350): and ID. McLean. ~. ~ -~ ., 
~ecreiary, DIA, '~  P.C. Keyes, Secretary, Depanment of lhehtenor~hcanh 18, 1903 (ICC Docum&&, p. 351): 

108 MKBnl  Lndian Coinmissionor to J.D. MUeul, Secretary, DVI, June 16, 1903, NA, ffi 10, uol. 3501, 61e 82, 
pt 1 (ICC Daeuments, p. 352). 
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exchange, and to report the result. I think it well to deal with all proposed exchanges 
of land in your agency together, and any necessary surrenders prepared and for- 
warded together. I therefore decided to delay reporting to the Department as to the 
exchange desired by Cote until you have had a further conference with Key's band. It 
would be well then for you to transmit to me a Iull report respecting the pmposed 
exchanges, describing as accurately as possible the lands &cted.'W 

Acting on the instructions provided by McKenna, Carruthers arranged a 
meeting with The Key Band to further discuss the surrender proposal. The 
terms of the proposal were laid out in detail on this occasion. Although the 
events of this meeting were ultimately of no consequence, since Carruthers 
was merely polling band members to assess their support for the proposal, 
the following excerpts from his report are illuminating: 

1 have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 9". November 
last; relative to certain lands for Key's reseme, in Township 30, Range 32, West 1st. 
P.M. I have since learned from the Department of the Interior that all lands in Tp. 31. 
Rge 32, belong to the Doukhobors. 

I now beg to inform you that 1 spent the afternoon of the 14th. instant in the 
school house on Key's reserve, with the Indians of that band, who had a month's 
notice of the day of the meeting, and talked over at length, as to the wish and advisa- 
bility of Key's band requesting thaf they be allowed to exchange an equal number of 
acres, lying to the West side of Stony Creek, as shown on attached plan, which runs 
through this reserve, for an equal number of acres, being all the land, lying between 
the Assiniboine and White Sand riven, in Township 30, Range 32, W. 1 P.M. Also, as 
to this Band selling eight square-miles, more or less, as shown on attached plan, fmm 
the East side of their reserve, in order that those who wish to farm, on their new land 
between the two rivers, may be fitted out in horses and machinery to enable them to 
do so, after which, the cattle raisers to be given mowers, rakes and wagons, and the 
old people clothing &c. as may be arranged later, the Band a threshing machine, the 
balance to be funded by the Department to fit out other members of the Band who 
may want to slart farming later. 

After a long talk a vote was taken, each male member of the Band, of the full age 
of twenty-one years being allowed to vote. I enclose you herewith the original voting 
list, by which you will see that the pmposals were carried by a majority; only the 
Indians voted against it, the Treaty Halfbreeds and workers all voted for it. ... 

The Band would like to know, if the Department could not ouffit some of the 
young men this Spring, and recoup itseif when the land is sold, as otherwise over a 
year would be lost before land would be surveyed, sold and they onffitted."0 

lG9 JAd. McKenna. Assismt Indian Commissioner, to HA. Carmlhen. November 9. 1903 (ICC Documents, 
OD. 155-56). 

110 i i .  i ~ r r u h > r i .  I d ~ m  yent, tu ihe I n d m  Comm~rnoltcr. Drr;mbzr !I 1903. YA RC 10. vol 3561, file dZ,I 
tlCC Ducurnenct, yp 3 5 8 4 1 )  M we hive seen, under tne pcun,lom a1 T r e q  i. h e  Rand had Deen pmnded 
u ~ m  1 doe-tome lsrulnce o l  ~ n c u l r u r l l  unplements ' I T l h r  fullou~ng mch shall oe s u ~ l n e d  to an" nand 
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A handwritten voters' list submitted with the Carruthers report indicated that 
nine of the 14 eligible male band members listed voted in support of the 
proposal. The vote was formally witnessed by the Reverend Owen Owens, the 
resident Church of England missionary, among others.l1] 

Since Assistant Commissioner McKema had already expressed concern 
about the previously tendered application of the Cote Band to execute a simi- 
lar surrender for exchange, Carruthers stated that he was more inclined to 
exchange the majority of the coveted haylands with The Key Band because 
Chief Cote's Band already had "a splendid reserve and a fair quantity of hay." 
As the Cote Band had "a prior claim on the hay lands in question," however, 
Carruthers suggested that it be provided with "a strip, say three miles, more 
or less, long, on the west side of the Assiniboine River, by a half mile, more 
or less, wide, from the West edge of said river; they to forfeit an equal oum- 
ber of acres in the N.E. corner of their reserve."tt2 In this manner, the imme- 
diate needs of both bands would be accommodated. 

In February 1904, McKenna forwarded Carruthers a number of questions 
concerning the issue of surrenders for exchange in his agency and requested 
further information about the informal meeting held with The Key Band the 
previous December. McKenna noted that any arrangement made with The Key 
Band about the PeUy haylands exchange would also have to satisfy the Cote 
and Keeseekoose Bands, since the lands were held by all three.llVhe 
detailed reply returned by Carruthers outlined The Key Band's reasons for 
supporting the proposal. Carruthers wrote that all five men who voted against 
the proposal were closely related to the Chief, either by blood or by mar- 

therwl h o  are now aetulllv cuitivdtinz the soil. or who shall hereaher set& on their reselves and commence 
to brezk up the lmd, thd d to sw: & hoes, one spade, one s&e and one axe for mew family so a d y  
r u l ~ ~ ~ ~ w ~ ~ . ~ m d  enoutJ, wed uf~tqi barley. ~ l l r  andpotatoes lu blant such lmd u the llnc broken (up, als" 
onc plough a n l  r r c  harr.>vr fur o q  un Fmlhr.r so ruluvsung u d o r n ~ l d  ' It is rcaonabl~  to pr<,ume 
thr~ .  ov 1903. thr. 'one olounh and mo h~rrou- orov~dett tu the Rand unier irmn vouia h a ?  bprn wlrn nut 
and ldneed of repvr dr reilaciment To do so. ;he nand reuuaed access to capllll Furthermore, the trealv 
did not provide f6r implements such as seed drills, hay moien, ga;g ploughs; disc hacraw, or threshing 
machines -mech ized  implements !ha were essentid to !he profillbe operaon of a miaed-firming enter- 
p b e .  Despite Agent W.C. Blweit's comments in 1908 and 1909 that he Band had been purchasing the imple- 
men& it reouired. the 1903 and 190W9 surrender discussions aooov to show !ha the Band reuuired addi- 
tional capitd inveslmem in order 10 buid on the progress it had'hade in mixed farming to that'date. 

111 Those voting for the surrender induded Geor~e Brass, headman; Peter O'Soup; Thomls Brass; Wm. Rms Jr, 
Urx. Lli-aiJr, Jos Rm, U m  Bnss ,  hndiuan. L'hs Thonu. and (ololllbn Bras T h o 9  I U U O ~  ganu 
lncludcd Chef fl19 K q .  %m~ vdy uav kel~rk Ka mo PI mt mn, lnrhr nppo,  uld P1) prv quwh The ,tgnhlurc 
ul e~rh nand tllrmoer lua, n:ordeo w t h  3n "X' r?nrcrenunc h h  'mWK ' w ~ h  the 2ic:onon of Pccr 0 9 ~ u o .  
Peter Brass Ir, and Charles Thomas. who signed onheir a$ b e h z ~ e e  "Vote I&" ~ ' W S  Reserve this 
day of ~ e c & b e r  1903" (contained in  exhibit 16). 

112 H.A. Carruthers, lndian Agent, to the Indian Commissioner, December 21, 1903, W RC 10, vol. 3561, Me 82-1 
(ICC DonmenlF. nn ?%?Ail) , ~ , r r . . ,  - ~~, 

113 JAJ. McKenna, Assistant Indian Cammbsioner, to H.A. Carnuthers, l n d d  Agent, February 18, 1904, NA, RC 10, 
vol. 3561. tlk 82-1 (ICC Documen&, pp. 3 6 5 4 ) .  



riage. He noted, however, that he had recently discussed the situation with 
the Chief, who "openly acknowledges that he considered the plan was for the 
good of the Band," and would sign the surrender if submitted, but on the 
condition that the Band would never again be asked to cede its lands. Car- 
ruthers reported that, in his opinion, the Chiefs initial refusal to consent was 
due to the belief that the surrender "was the thin edge of the wedge, and that 
his whole Reserve would ultimately be taken from him."114 In conclusion, 
Carruthers emphasized the need to obtain adequate farming land for the 
future generations of The Key Band: 

The whole question resolves itself into his. lf this piece of land is not obrained for 
Key's people, before it is withdrawn, as Township 31 was, what is to become cf the 
young men in the future? Are they to go on for generations, eking out a precarious 
existence as they do now, depending on the few cattle they raise and what freighting 
and work they can get and the sale of a Little wood and hay? It is the last chance to get 
a piece of land for them, as aU other lands have been raken up."% 

With the receipt of Carruthers's second report, McKenna forwarded the issue 
and all related documentation to Ottawa for resolution.11b At this stage, the 
initiative slowed to a halt. For reasons that are not important to the present 
inquiry, a definitive response from the Department of the Interior was 
delayed for a period of many months, despite regular inquiries from Indian 
Affairs. 

On December 13, 1905, the Department of Indian Affairs took matters 
into its own hands by obtaining a surrender for exchange involving 20,000 
acres within Cote 1R 64.Il7 The Department of the Interior was then informed 
that no further action would be required on its behalf because the Minister of 
the Interior had already approved the Cote surrender for exchange with lands 
in the Pelly haylands. It subsequently became clear, however, that the 
remaining haylands jointly held by the three Pelly Agency Bands were the 
desired "exchange" area identified in the surrender agreement executed by 
the Cote Band. The new arrangement would consume all the available land, 
with nothing remaining for The Key Band. Asked to report on the advisability 

I14 H.A. Carruthers, Indian Agent, PeUy, to David Laird, lndim Cammissioner, March 11, 1904 (ICC Documents, 
OD. ?6%70). .. - . 

115 H A .  carruthers, Indian Agent. Peb, to Da*d Laird, Indim Cammissioner, March 11, 1904 (ICC Documents, 
nn i h ~ 7 n )  "p >", ,",. 

116 JAJ. McKeMa, Assistant hdian Commissioner, to DSGIA. A p d  9, 1904. NA, RG LO, val. 3562, file 82-1 (ICC 
Documents, pp. 375-76). 

117 D. bird. Indian Commissioner, to Frank Pedley, DSGU, December 26. 1905. NA, RG LO. wi. 3561, He 82-1 
(102 Wubit 16). 



of this plan, departmental Surveyor Samuel Bray replied that it was stdl "pos- 
sible to arrive at some understanding" with The Key Band without favouring 
one band over the other. He recommended that the issue be referred to 
Inspector W.M. Graham for a report.l18 Graham tendered his response on 
January 18, 1906. In his opinion, it was not necessary "to take any action 
effecting an exchange of land for Key's Band," since he concluded that "Key's 
Indians have sufficient land for their requirements."l19 

Despite the fact that Carruthers had regularly called for a surrender for 
exchange that would benefit both The Key and the Cote Bands,120 and despite 
the support of Chief Surveyor Samuel Bray, the department ultimately adopted 
Graham's recommendations and added the entire residual Pelly haylands to 
the Cote Reserve in exchange for a surrender of equal acreage from that 
reserve. The Key Band received no further benefit from the haylands, which 
had been reserved for the use of all three Pelly Agency Bands in 1890. 

THE 1909 SURRENDER 

The ascension of the Laurier government to power in 1896 ushered in a new 
era of immigration and western expansion in Canada. Under the direction of 
Clifford Sifton, Minister of the Interior from 1896 to 1905, the new govern- 
ment implemented an aggressive immigration policy aimed at attracting agra- 
rian settlers from around the globe. Thousands of immigrants arrived in 
Canada to take advantage of the free dominion lands that the government was 
offering to willing homesteaders. Many of these immigrants joined migrants 
from the rest of Canada, where farm Lands had become increasingly ditricult 
to acquire. Together, these groups relocated within the vast, fertile stretches 
of western Canada, especially the southern portions of present-day Manitoba, 
Saskatchewan, and Albe~ta.'~' Since western expansion was one of the major 
concerns of the era, it is not entirely surprising that the second portfolio held 
by the Minister of the Interior - Superintendent General of Indian Affairs - 
received less attention. Under S i o n  and his predecessors, "Indians were 

118 Samuel Bray, Chid Survqor, la D S G 4  January 12, 1906 (1CC Dmumenls, p. 414). 
119 W.M. Graham. Inspeaor of Indian Agencies. to the Secretary, DU, January 18, 1906, Nh RG LO, MI. 7770. Gle 

27117-2 (ICC Documen&, p. 439). 
Im See Ha Camruthen, Indian Agent, lo Indian Commisioner, December 21, 1903 (ICC Documenls, pp. 35863), 

March 11. 1904 (LE Documents, pp. 369-72); and H.A. Car~therr.  Indian hgenc to the Secretary, DU, June 
7, 1904 (ICC Dacurnenrs, pp. 384-861, Auugusl 2. 1904 (ICC Documents. p. 396). and March 10, I905 (ICC 
Documents. pp. 4034M). 

121 For an overriew of dodnion lands policy, see DJ. Ha4 "CMord Sihon: Unmigration and Setdement Policy, 
18961905,* in Howard Palmer, ed., T68 & f k t  of tbe West (Calgary: Universiq of Calgary Press, 1977); 
Gerald Fries-, The a d i o n  Wniries: A H i s t ~ y  (Tomto: Univemity oi Toronto Press, 19871, 242-74; and 
Chester Manin. 'Darinia ImdF' Policy (Toronto: Maelland & Stewzn. 1973). 
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viewed always in the context of western development: their interests, while 
not ignored, only rarely commanded the full attention of the responsible min- 
ister."lz2 This would change under Sifton's successor, Frank Oliver, who, 
from 1905 to 1911, took a more aggressive approach to Indian Affairs. 

Historian Sarah Carter has argued that the major preoccupation of Indian 
Affairs administrators during the Laurier era "was to induce Indians to sur- 
render substantial portions of their reserves, a policy which ran counter to 
efforts to create a more stable agricultural economy on reserve~."~~3 Like- 
wise, Professor Brian Titley has argued that the Iaurier government - espe- 
cially Oliver - followed a policy of "acceding to the demands of those who 
coveted Indian land."124 Most bureaucrats of the day believed that the policy 
of having First Nations divest themselves of "unused or "u~ecessary" areas 
of their reserves was justsed in the face of continued immigration to the 
western provinces. The following extract from the Deputy Superintendent 
General's Annual Report for 1908 is illustrative: 

So long as no particular h a m  nor inconvenience accrued from the Indians' hold- 
ing vacant lands out of proportion to their requirements, and no profitable disposition 
thereof was possible, the department firmly opposed any attempt to induce them to 
divest themselves of any part of their reselves. 

Conditions, however, have changed and it is now recognised that where Indians 
are holding tracts of farming or timber lands beyond their possible requirements and 
by doing so seriously impeding the growth of settlement, and there is such demand as 
to ensure profitable sale, the product of which can be invested for the benefit of the 
Indians and relieve pm tam the countsy of the burden of their maintenance, it is in 
the best interests of all concerned to encourage such sales.'2' 

According to Oliver, "the interests of the people must come first, and if it 
become a question between the Indians and the whites, the interests of the 
whites will have to be provided for."L26 It appears that this policy was imple- 

122 D.J. Hd, "CliBord Sftoon and CanCanadian Indian Admioismlian, 1896-1905," P ~ i t i e  Pomm 2, 2 (1977): 128. 
123 Sarah Caner. h 1  H-51s. P m i d  lndirm Resene Fnnners and Comment Policy (Montreal and Kingston: 

McCi-Queen's UniversiIy Press, 199l), 244. 
124 E. Brian Titley, A Namw Vision Dunurn CampheU ScoU ond tbe AdministmtBn of Indim Affairs in 

C a d  (Vancouver: UBC Press, 1986), 21. The fiat amendment, p w e d  in 1906, dowed for 50 per cent of 
the purchase price to be distributed to the First Naon d the h e  of sale. The former allowance hzd been 10 
per cent. The increase acted as a powerful incentiw lor negotlatin surrender because Fin1 Nations were shon 
of accessible CY?. The second amendment, p w e d  in 1911, enabed the removal of lndims from any reserve 
that uar locale ullh~n ar beside a town of 8,000 or more residenls. See The HisloriealDeveIopmnl ofthe 
Indian Act (Onawa: DIAND, t978), lo-, 108-09. 

I25 Fmok Pediey, DSCIA, to Fnnk OLiwr, Minister of the Interior and Superintendent Genenl of Indian h8dirs, in 
Annual Report ofthe Departml of Indirm Affairs fa the Y'r Ended Marcb 31, 1 M  mo (iCC Docu- 
mena, p. 445). 

126 Canada, House of Commons, Oebates (March 30, 1906), cols. 94b50. 
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mented in an active way. On December 1, 1909, Oliver announced in the 
House of Commons that 725,517 acres of surrendered Indian lands had been 
sold by the Department of Indian Affairs between July 1, 1896, and March 
31, 1909.127 

One procedural tool developed by Oliver to assist in freeing up land for 
immigrant settlers was designed to give departmental officials greater latitude 
in offering cash advances during surrender negotiations. With the approval of 
the Minister, the surrender provisions of the Indian Act were amended to 
increase the permitted payment that could be made to bands on surrender, 
from the former ceiling of 10 per cent to a new maximum of 50 per cent of 
the total sale proceeds. The amendment also enabled the department to 
negotiate exactly how the increased amount could be provided to the band. 
As a result, the details of a surrender agreement could include expenditures 
for items such as agricultural provisions, fencing, or support for the elderly. 
These expenditures were to be included within the 50 per cent advance, 
thereby affording the department considerable flexibility in negotiating sur- 
renders. When introducing the amendment in the House of Commons, Oliver 
outlined his intentions as follows: 

This B'i contains only one section and has only one object. It is simply to change 
the amount of the immediate and direct payment that may be made to Indians upon 
the surrender of their reserve. At the present t i e  Indians on surrendering their lands 
are only entitled to receive ten per cent of the purchase price either in cash or other 
value. This we find, in practice, is very little inducement to them to deal for their 
lands and we find that there is a very considerable difficulty in securing their assent to 
any surrender .... It was brought to the attention of the House by several members, 
especially from the Northwest, that there was a great and pressing need of effort being 
made to secure the utilization of the large areas of land held by Indians in their 
reserves without these reserves being of any value to the Indians and being a detri- 
ment to the settlers and to the prosperity and progress of the surrounding countri. 
Several suggestions were made with the view of facilitating the object which seemed to 
be generally acceptable to the House and it seemed to me, in considering the matter, 
that one step that might be &en would be to provide for increasing this Erst payment 
to the Indians from ten per cent to as high as GEty per cent according to the judgment 
of the government in the matter and according to the case ....la 

127 Canads, House of Commons, Debates (December 1, 19091, col. 784. 
128 Canada House of Commons, DehIes (June 15, 1906). 5421-22 (Fmk Oliver. Superintendent Gened of 

I n d i a  Affairs) (ICC Documenls, p. 423). 



Combined, the new policy and procedural directives developed by the depart- 
ment had an immediate effect on the quantity of Indian land surrendered on 
the prairies, where agricultural land was deemed to be in great demand. 

In the spring of 1908, Dr E.L. Cash, the Member of Parliament for the 
MacKenzie constituency from 1904 to 1917,129 asked the department about 
the possibility of a surrender of The Key Reserve. Dr Cash had once been the 
medical officer assigned to the PeUy Agency and had been on contract to the 
department to provide services to the Indians there. In addition to knowing 
the departmental administrators in that region, Cash would have been famil- 
iar with the Agency's reserves.l3Wn receipt of Cash's inquiry, Deputy Super- 
intendent General Frank Pedley responded that the department was not aware 
of any "correspondence intimating a desire on the part of the Indians or any 
action towards a surrender of the Keys re~erve."l3~ 

Less than three months later, on July 24, 1908, Agent W.G. Blewett at PeUy 
reported to Inspector Graham that certain members of The Key Band had 
asked to seU 13 sections of their reserve to raise money to buy farm animals 
and implements: 

I beg to say that the members of Key Band have asked me to write you and request 
you to arrange with the Department for the Sale of part of their Reserve. They feel lhdt 
they have too much land and not enough horses and implements to work satisfacto- 
rily, so desire to sell part of their Reserve. They wish you to arrange with the Depan- 
ment before you come to see them so that you can pay them at once when you come 
to take the surrender. The conditions are as follows: - 

1st. To surrender a strip of land one mile wide off the West side of the Reserve, 
and a strip one and a half miles wide off the East side, in all 13 sections. 

2nd. Only those at present taking Treaty at Keys Reserve to participate. 
3rd. The first payment to be cash at the time of surrender and to be $80.00 per 

head. 
4th. Any one [sic] losing house or improvements by the surrender to be recom- 

pensed for the same. ... 
Personally, I think it would be a good thing to seU part of their Reserve and buy 

ouffits or those implements they are short of instead of getting Government assistance. 

I29 See Directov o f m h e r s  ofpadianent and FedrmlElectionr lor the Norlb- Wesl T~m'lm'esandSaskatch- 
ewm, 188i-1ja (~e~ina~Suhchchwan k c h i v e  Baud, I%?). 20. 

130 See R.S. Mcknde, In& Agent, la SCM July 15, 1WI. AnnualRepori of lba DBpartmenl of h d h  Affairs 
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U you think this is a good plan I hope you can have it arranged so as to settle the deal 
this Fd.'3z 

Graham forwarded Blewett's report to headquarters on August 13, 1908.'33 
In his transmittal letter, Graham noted that, although "this Band have a lot of 
poor land on one Section of the Reserve which would be impossible to sell," 
they possessed a quantity of "very fine land on another Section of the 
Reserve." In his opinion, if a portion were to be surrendered and sold "there 
would be enough land left, in fact more than the Band can ever use." Before 
surrender negotiations could be initiated, however, Graham noted that he 
would require J decision as to whether the Shoal River Indians would be 
allowed to vote on the surrender proposal.'" 

The record submitted for the purpose of this inquiry does not yield further 
correspondence relating to The Key Band surrender until January 1909. On 
this occasion, Graham informed his superiors that he bad met with an undis- 
closed number of The Key band members13j to discuss the detailed terms 
under which the Band would consider surrendering land: 

... 1 beg to say that I was on the Reserve on Monday last, the 18th inst., and met the 
Indians and discussed the matter with them. Instead of surrendering thirteen sections 
as they wished to do in the Erst place, 1 persuaded them to surrender seventeen 
sections 110,880 acres] as the Land in question is not being used and is veiy light 
and cut up with Sloughs, and scrub, and will not bring a high price. However, there is 
a time coming when the Land will sell. 

The Indians wanted $100.00 each down at the time of surrendering the thiaeen 
sections first mentioned, hut have agreed to accept this amount as a first payment on 
Seventeen Sections, should they surrender. I think this request is a reasonable one. 

The Indians would like to surrender this Land and receive a payment by April 
next, and I would be glad to h o w  what the Department intend to do in the matter. 

When this Reserve was set aside some thirty years ago, 1 understand the Shoal 
River Indians were induded in the dohnent hut as the Indians never resided on the 
Reserve from the beguuung, the Key band do not consider them as shareholders in 
their Reserve. The Shoal River Indians are living on a small Reserve at Shoal River 
and are, I understand, quite contented to remain where they are, and on the other 
hand the Key Band are quite contented to relinquish any claim they may have to the 
Shoal River Reserve. 

132 WC. Blewell. Indian AwnL h u c k .  w "Sir." Iulv 24. 1908, N 4  RG 10. d. 4039. Ole 329719 (ICC Docu- . .  , . . ~ 
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I34 wM. Cnham, !aspector of lndian Agencies, to Secretaly, Depamenl of lndian &a, Onaw, Augusl 13, 

1908. NA. RG lo. "01. 4039. Me 329759 (IU: Documents. DO. 455-56). 
I35 It u poss~ble tblc Graham arranged dus meeuny! on msmcl~& from Onaw The assembled record does not 

provide clari6ation. 



T H E  K E Y  FIRST N A T I O N  1 9 0 9  S U R R E N D E R  I N Q U I R Y  

There are at present about 87 lndLvls on Keys Reserve, it would take therefore 
about $8700.00 to make the payment, and perhaps an extra thousand dollars to settle 
for any improvements that might be on the Surrendered Land. The total payment will 
be less than one dollar per acre. 

I am enclosing herewith an old map (the only one I have) showing the land it is 
proposed to surrender. I would be glad to have the map returned.'" 

The $100 cash payment at the time of surrender, as well as expenditures 
relating to agricultural supplies and assistance for the elderly, was to be paid 
from the capital generated by the sale of the surrendered land.~.l3~ 

Chief Surveyor Bray reviewed the proposal thereafter and submitted his 
"Description for Surrender" on January 29: 

AU those certain two tracts of land situated in the Key Indian Reserve No. 65, in the 
Province of Saskatchewan containing together an approximate area of 11,500 acres 
and described as follows:- 

First:- AU that portion of the said Resene lying East of the East h i t s  of projected 
sections 4, 9, 16, 21, 2[?], and 33 in Township 32 Range One, West of the Second 
Meridian. 

Second:- AU that portion of the said Reserve lying West of the West limits of 
projected Sections etc 11, 14, 23, 26, and 35 in Township 32, Range 2, West of the 
Second Meridian. 

Note - The above includes the whole tmcL The area of land will prove to be consider- 
ably less as there are several small lakes to be excepted in the actual suwey. - S.B.')X 

At 11,500 acres, Bray's calculation of the proposed area to be surrendered 
was approximately 620  acres more than the estimated area of 10,880 acres 
discussed at the pre-surrender meeting of January 18, 1909, and was 3,180 
acres more than the Band had proposed be surrendered in 1908. The Deputy 
Superintendent General authorized the surrender as outlined on February 13, 
1909.L39 

A number of months passed before Inspector Graham was able to sched- 
ule his journey to the Pelly Agency to take surrenders from The Key and 

136 W.M. Cnhm, hspeeror of Indin Agencies, lo Frank Pedley, Depuly Superintendent Gened, Jmary 21, 1909, 
NA, RG 10, vol. 4039, fle 329759 (ICC Documenu, p. 461). 

137 "Surrender of land an Kq's Reselve." May 18, 1909. M, RG 10, ml. 4039. fle 329759 (ICC Documens, pp. 
47678). 

138 ' ~ e s c " ~ t i a n  for Surrender: S. Bny, Chief Surveyor, Janualy 29, IW,  NA. RG LO, MI. 4039, fde 329759 (ICC 
Documens, p. 463). 

139 Fnnk Pedlqi, DSCIA, la W.M. Gnham, tmpedor of Win &encies, Februaly 18, 1909. Nh RG 10, val. 4039, 
fde 329759 (ICC Documenu. p. 466). 
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Keeseekoose Bands.140 During this time, Agent Blewett wrote to the depart- 
ment to express concern on behalf of the bands about the delays: 

When Inspector Graham was here last Januaty, the Indians of the Key's and 
Keeseekoonse [sic] Bands asked him to try to arrange for a surrender of part of the 
Resem. They are very anxious to h o w  if the Department has sanctioned this and if 
so, when they can expect to have the surrender taken. I would like in ask, that if a 
surrender is to be taken, that it be done, if convenient, before the breaking season 
srarts (May 20th) so hat the Indians may get oxen etc. to start fanning early in the 
season."' 

Graham arrived in the Agency on May 13 and conducted surrenders at the 
Keeseekoose Reserve on May 15 and at The Key Reserve on May 18. He 
outlined both these transactions in his report to the Deputy Superintendent 
on May 21, 1909: 

1 have the honour to inform you that I arrived in this Agency on the 13th of this 
month and at once noti6ed the Indians of Keeseekoose Band of a meeting to be held 
on Saturday, May 15L, 1909, for the purpose of discussing the matter of surrendering 
a part of their reserve. The meeting was held on that date, and nearly every member 
of the Band was present. A vote was taken and the Band were unanimous for surren- 
dering. The papers were duly signed and I at once began to make the payment of $85. 
per head. There were 134 Indians present and the payment amounted to $11,390. 
There are still four Indians to pay, and I shall require $340. to pay them, as the 
amount sent to me was not large enough to complete the payment. 

With regard to improvements on the land surrendered, - I have made a carehl 
valuation, which is as follows, and I would ask that a cheque be sent me just before I 
next visit this Agency, so that 1 can make settlement, - ... 

I held a meeting of Key's Band on the 18th of the month, and the Indians of this 
reselve also agreed to surrender approximately 11,500 acres. Nearly all the members 
of the Band were present and the vote was unanimous. I made a payment of $100.00 - .  
to each of the In&. 

I paid out in all $19,990. which left a balance of $10. which is herewith enclosed. 
I herewith enclose the Forms of Surrender. dulv executed. the uavsheets and a 

statements [sic] accounting for Cheque No. 28,'$20:000., all of whiLh trust will be 
found satisfacto~.~" 

1.0 .\ ,tlrrpnJcr prop,d ful l  al*l buen rgrecJ lo by ihs Krmrk,ar. Bmo, m d  3 near idr.nu:d ,um,nicr 14rw- 
8acnl u.b conc..ded ullh !hat bmJ on Mn 1 3  190.1 

1.1 W C  RIeweu, lndlm Uc8tl. lo me Srcrnarv. Ill.\. run1 I 9  1Ch.J X r .  Rti lu, vul ,OW. fie 5L9-59 (ICE " .  , . . . . . . . . . ~ . ,  ~. . 
Documens, b. 469). 

142 W.M. Graham, lnspenor of Indian Agencies (at Ilunsack), to DSGIA, May 21, 1909, NA, RC 10, vol. 7770, Ne 
27117-3 (extract of this document can be found at ICC Dacumenrs, p. 481). 
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A completed surrender document bearing the purported signatures or marks 
of seven band members was also forwarded to Ottawa at this time: 

Surrender of Key 1.R. No. 65 - "Know all Men by these Presents hat we, the nnder- 
signed Chief and Principal men of The Key band of Indians residents on our Reseme' 
on the Assiniboine River in the province of Saskatchewan and Dominion of Canada, 
for and acting on behdf of the whole people of our said Band in Council assembled, 
Do hereby release, remise, surrender, quit claim and yield up unto Our Sovereign 
Lord the King, his Heirs and Successors forever, ALL AND SINGUIAR, those certain 
parcels or tracts of land and premises sibate, lying and being in the Key Indian 
Resewe, No. 65, in the Province of Saskatchewan containing together an approximate 
area of eleven thousand five hundred acres be the same or more or less being com- 
posed of [the 11,500 acres described by Bray] 

"It is hereby understood and agreed that the sum of One hundred dollars shall be 
paid to each Indian at the time of execution of these presents. 

"And upon the hrlher conditions as follow, - 
I. Indian children between the ages of twelve and eighteen to have their interest 

money funded for them. 
2. In the event of implements, wagons, machinety, harness and stock being 

required for Indians to start farming, these may be purchased from the proceeds 
of the sale of the land. 

3. That the land hereby surrendered be sold by public auction to the highest 
bidder."143 

The inquiry record contains no evidence confirming whether the seven signa- 
tories to the surrender represented a quorum of eligible voters in attendance 
at the surrender meeting because Inspector Graham's surrender report, 
dated May 21, 1909, does not provide an account of the number of voting 
members in attendance. The surrender paylist, dated the same day as the 
surrender meeting, shows that 17 eligible voting members of The Key Band 
received their $100 cash payment that day.!" The First Nation contends, bow- 
ever, that there were in fact 18 eligible voting members present on May 18, 
1909, since one of the young men of the Band had been mistakenly recorded 
as being 20 years old.L45 Neither figure is conclusive, however, owing to the 
deficiencies in the Graham report, as noted above. 

143 Surrender document, The Uey Band, dared May 18, 1909, NA RG 10, MI. 4039, Me 329759 (LCC Documents, 
pp. 47678). 

144 See the paylist included within "Those Eligible to Vote in the Alleged Surrender of The Key Resem May 1P. 
I W , "  Lockhan & Associates, January 31. 1997 (ICC Mibit 9). 

I45 Cwrge Brass. the son of No. 28 Willie Brass, was recorded by the departmental oficer as being 20 years of age 
an May 18. 1909. 111 her analysis of h e  paylist, however, Domlhy Lockharl, an experienced paykt researcher 
contracted by lhe First Nation, argued lh George Brass turned 21 years of age on January 14. IW, and was 
therefore eligible to vote at the surrender meeting in question See "Those *ble to Vote in the Alleged 
Surrender ol The Key Reserve May I*, 1909." Lockhart 8 Associates. January 31, 1997. p. 3 (ICC Mibit  9). 



A Form 66 affidavit declaring that the surrender provisions of the Indian 
Act had been followed was signed jointly by Inspector Graham and Chief The 
Key on May 19, 1909. This document stipulated, among other things: 

That the annexed release or surrender was assented to by a majority of the male 
members of the said Band of Indians of the Key Reserve of the full age of twenty-one 
years then present ... 

That no Indian was present or voted at said council or meeting who was not a 
habitual resident on the Reserve of the said Band of Jndians or interested in the land 
mentioned in the said Release or Surrender. ...'"' 

AU this documentation was forwarded to the Clerk of the Privy Council on 
June 8, 1909, along with a recommendation for acceptance from Superinten- 
dent General Oliver.L47 The surrender was codrmed by Order in Council PC 
1379 dated June 21, 1909,L48 and the surrendered lands were offered for 
sale by pubtic auction on December 1, 1910. Approximately 35 quarter sec- 
tions of the surrendered land. did not sell at the auction.14Y 

POST-SURRENDER EVENTS 

On November 13, 1910, The Key Band surrendered an additional parcel of its 
reserve land for sale to the Church of England,t5o so that the mission school 
and church built on reserve lands could be protected from encroachment in 
the event of further surrenders. The event was described by the Reverend 
H a w  B. Miller, a historian of The Key Band, in these terms: 

With the land being surrendered for white settlement less than a half-mile to the east, 
the area which included the St. Andrew's Church property was in jeopardy, as it also 
was reserve property. In order to assure its continued existence as part of the heritage 
of the people, it was decided that this property (9.09 acres), should be surrendered 
to "The King" for disposition to "the authorities of the Church of England ... The 
surrender was agreed to and signed on December 13, 1910, with "nearly all of the 
band members present." The principal men actually signing the document of surren- 

146 AKidavit signed by Wm. G h  and Chief the Key, May 19, 1909 (La Documents, p. 480). 
147 Prank Oliver, Superimendent Gened of Indian Afaia, to the Governor Gened m Council, June 9. 1909. NA, 

RG 10, vol. 4039, ae 329759 (102 Documents, p. 482). 
148 OCPC 1379, June 21, 1909, h!A, RG 2, Series 1 (ICC Documents, p. 483). 
I49 See W.M. Gnham, lmpector of Indian Agencies, to the Secretary, DM December 6, 1910 (ICC Documents, 

pp. 499-500), md Memorandum: Wd Orr, In Charge of Lands &Timber Branch, DM to the DSGLI, January 
30, 1911 (ICC Documents, p. 506). 

1% In 1955, the Church of England in On&, u it was lhen ho rn ,  became the Anglican Church of Canada. See 
Gaga CaMdin DiclioM?, (Toronto: Gage Educationd Pt~bbhing, 19831, 43. 
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der were: The Key - chief; George Brass - Headman; Thomas Brass, W i e  Brass Jr., 
Peter @Soup, Charles Thomas, James Key, George Brass Jr., Moses Brass. 

Thus it was assured that, no matter what might happen in fuhlre to other reselve 
property, St. Andrew's Church and property, as described in the surrender agreement, 
would remain, forever, the property of the church and the people of the Key 
Reserve.Ii' 

Agent Blewen took this surrender two weeks after the lands surrendered in 
1909 had been sold at public auction. The surrender documents forwarded 
to Ottawa by Blewett bear the signatures or marks of nine presumably eligible 
voting members: Chief The Key, Headman George Brass Sr., Thomas Brass, 
Wm. Brass, Peter O'Soup, Charles Thomas, James Key, George Brass Jr., and 
Moses Brass.152 An affidavit attesting to the validity of the surrender was exe- 
cuted in the presence of J.P. Wallace, Justice of the Peace, on December 23, 
1910. Signed or marked by Blewett and Chief The Key, the affidavit was wit- 
nessed by A.A. Crawford, the Agency Clerk.153 

In January 1911, Dr E.L. Cash, the local Member of Parliament, expressed 
interest in the sale of surrendered lands of The Key Band that had not sold 
when placed at public auction in December 1910. Perhaps as a result of this 
interest, the department decided to offer all unsold surrendered lands in the 
Pelly Agency for sale at public auction later that ~ear.I5~ As a result, the sale 
of these previously unsold lands generated additional revenue for The Key 
Band. 

Shortly after the second auction, members of The Key Band made inquir- 
ies concerning interest payments due to them under the conditions of the 
May 18, 1909, surrender agreement.15' Departmental accountants deter- 
mined that no funds were available fur distribution at the time, a decision 
that was conveyed to Blewen for explanation to the Band.l16 The record 
shows that an interest distribution of $10 per capita ($880 for entire Band) 

151 See Rw. Ha 8. Miller. Tk58 Tw Were Pioneers: T& Story of Tbs K q  l&n Re58n.e No 65 and tbe 
Genfenniol y t &  Cbunb, 1@181984 (Melville, Sark: Seniors Consulting SeMce, 1984), 39 (ICC Elhibit 6 ) .  

152 Surrender document, The Key Band, dated December 13, 1910 (ICC Documents, pp. 50143). 
153 Surrender Affida~l, dated December 23, 1910 (ICC Documents, p. 504). 
1% See Memorandum: WA Orr, In Charge of Lands &Timber Bmch, D h  lo the D S G h  Januzq  30, 1911 (ICC 

DowenLs, p. 5061, and "Key. Keeseekouse (2" Sale) &Cote, 2nd Sole " [sic] June 7, 1911 (ICC Documem, 
p. 507). In 1525, a third sale of unsold The Key IR 65 landii&ranged, with prospective tenders being 
received by hdian Commission W.M. Grabam. One such tender was received from W.G. Blewetl, the former 
Indian Agent, who had started a new career u a d estate and insurance salesman. See W.G. Blewett, Kun- 
sack, lo W.M. Grabam, hdian Commissioner, April 20, 1925 (ICC Documents, p. 555), and "Nauce of Sde of 
Indian Lands," W.M. Graham, Indian Commissioner, April 29, 1923 (ICC Documents, p. 544). 

155 A i l .  Crawford, Agenq Clerk, to the Secretary, DM, June 28, 1911 (ICC Documents, p. 508 ) .  
1% See J.D. MUem, kklanl Depuiy and Secretary, Dl& lo W.G. Blwett, Indian Agent, December 13, 1911 (ICC 

Documents, p. 509). 
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was paid to the hand members in January 1913.157 A subsequent interest 
distribution of $182 was paid to the Band in January 1914.'j8 It is not possi- 
ble to calculate the per capita payment for 1914, since the record does not 
include census information for that year. The record contains no further 
information concerning interest payments. 

Finally, the record in this inquiry does not include any evidence that any 
member of The Key Band made any contemporary complaint concerning the 
1909 surrender. 

157 Indian Agent, Kamsack lo he Seeremy, DU, January 28, 1913 (KC Documencl, p. 516). 
I58 W.G. BlewelG Indian Agent, lo Secrem~y, DIA, Jmualy 12, 1914 (ICC Docomenu, pp. 527-28) 
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PART I11 

ISSUES 

The Commission has been asked in this inquiry to determine whether Canada 
owes an outstanding lawful obligation to The Key First Nation as a result of 
events surrounding the surrender of a portion of IR 65 in 1909. The parties 
agreed to frame the issues before the Commission in the following manner: 

Issue 1: Was there a valid surrender in 1909 of a portion of The Key reserve 
by The Key Band? 

In particular, were the Treaty 4 provisions regarding the consent of bands to 
the alienation of their reserve lands complied with? 

Issue 2: Was the Indian Act, RSC 1906, c. 81, complied with? 

In particular, did a majority of the male members of The Key Band who were 
21 years of age and over assent to the surrender? 

Issue 3: Were the Shoal River Indians members of The Key Band at the time 
of the surrender in 1909, and, if so, were they entitled to vote on the 
surrender? 

Issue 4: Did Canada have any pre-surrender fiduciary obligations to The Key 
Band and, if so, did Canada fulfil or did Canada breach any such fiduciary 
obligations with respect to the surrender of 1909? 

In particular, was the surrender obtained as a result of undue intluence or 
misrepresentation? 

We will address these issues in the following section of this report, 
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PART N 

ANALYSIS 

ISSUE 1 VALIDITY OF THE 1909 SURRENDER 

Was there a valid surrender in 1909 of a portion of The Key reserve by The 
Key Band? 

In particular, were the Treaty 4 provisions regarding the consent of bands to 
the alienation of their reserve lands complied with? 

Applicability of Treaty 4 
A preliminary issue in this claim concerns the applicability of certain provi- 
sions of Treaty 4 to the process by which Indian reserve land is surrendered 
for sale or lease. 

The Indian Act includes several procedural requirements regulating the 
surrender of Indian reserve land. These provisions govern the means by 
which consent to the alienation of Indian reserve land is obtained from the 
band for whom the land has been set aside. The Key First Nation submits that 
the wording of the treaty provides for a threshold of consent that exceeds and 
overrides the threshold provided for in the Indian Act. This argument is 
based on the following provisions of Treaty 4: 

And Her Majesty the Queen hereby agrees, through the said Commissioners, to assign 
reserves for said Indians, such reserves to be selected by officers of Her Majesty's 
Government of the Dominion of Canada appointed for that purpose, after conference 
with each band of the Indians, and to be of sufficient area to allow one square mile 
for eachfamily offive, or in that proportion for larger or smalIerfarni1ie.s 

Provided, however, that it be understood that if, at the time of the selection of any 
reserves as afotesaid, there are any settlers within the bounds of the lands reserved 
for any band Her Majesty rerains the right to deal with such settlers as she shall deem 
just, so as not to diminish the extent of land alloned to the Indians; andprovided 
further that the aforesaid reserves of land, or any part t h J  or any interest or 
right therein, or appurtenunt tbereto, may be sou, leased or otherwise disposed 
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of by the said Government for the use and benejt of the said Indians, with the 
consent of the Indians entitled tberetojnt  hadand obtained; but in no wise shall 
the said lndians, or any of them, be entitled to seU or otherwise alienate any of the 
lands allotted to them as reselves.'~9 

In comparison, the surrender provisions of the 1906 Indian Act stipulated: 

49. Except as in this part otherwise provided, no release or surrender of a 
reserve, or a partion of a reselve, held for the use of the Indians of any band, or of 
any individual Indian, sball be valid or  binding, unless the release or surrarder 
shaU be assented to by a majority of the male membws of the band of the full age 
of twenty-one years, at a meeting or council thereof s w o n e d  for that purpose, 
according to the rules of the band, and held in the presence of the Superintendent 
General, or of an officer duly authorized to attend such council, by the Governor in 
Council or by the Superintendent GeneraL 
2. No Indian shall be entitled to vote or be present at such council, unless he 
habitually resides on or near, and is interested in the reserve in question. 
3. The fact that such release or surrender has been assented to by the band at such 
council or meeting shall be ceraed on oath by the Superintendent General, or by the 
officer authorized by him to attend such council or meeting, and by some of the 
chiefs or principal men present thereat and entided to vote, before some judge of a 
superior county or district court, stipendiary magistrate or justice of the peace, or, in 
the case of reserves in the province of Manitoba, Saskatchewan or Alberta, or the 
Territories, before the Indian commissioner, and in the case of reserves in British 
Columbia, before the visiting Indian Superintendent for British Columbia, or, in either 
case, before some other person or officer specially thereunto aulhorized by the Gov- 
ernor in Council. 
4. When such assent has been so certitled, as aforesaid, such release or surrender 
shall be submitted to the Governor in Council for acceptance or refusal." 

The First Nation submits that the provisions of Treaty 4 were clearly intended 
to set aside reserve land for the benefit of all band members. As a result, 
counsel argues that it could not have been intended that the consent required 
for a d i d  surrender would need to have been obtained only from males 
aged 21 and over, as provided in the Indian Act. At a minimum, according to 
the First Nation, consent to surrender would have had to be obtained from "a 
majority of the Band members of suficient age who would normally be 
involved in the decision making of the Band, given the custom of the Band at 

159 Tre* No 4 between Her M@essly tbe Q- and tbe Cree andsaultearu Tnbas oJlndians at pliyplk 
and Fort 611ice 6 (Ottawa: Queen's Printer. 1966) (la &)bit 15). Emphasis added. 

1C4 Indion Act, RSC 1906, c. 81, s. 49. Empharis added. 
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the time."lbl If this proposition were to be accepted by this Commission, it 
would clearly amount to a more stringent requirement than the provisions of 
the Act. These provisions require that a majority of male hand members over 
the age of 21 years and habitually resident on or near, and interested in, the 
reserve in question attend a duly constituted surrender meeting, and that a 
majority of those in attendance vote in favour of the surrender.162 

Aware that a similar argument was raised and rejected by this Commission 
in the Kahkewistahaw surrender inq~i ty ,~~3  the First Nation has attempted to 
distinguish the ruling in the present case. Counsel submits that the treaty 
must be interpreted in this case in accordance with The Key First Nation's 
traditions of "clan governance," which were attested to by Chief Papequash in 
the community sessions held during the course of this inquiry.'" Chief Pape- 
quash stated: 

In the exercise of leadenhip under the clan system a leader did not act upon his own 
initiatives, and that is the way that I act on behalf of my people today. I don't act upon 
my own initiatives. Like I said, the honour of one is the honour of all. In manets that 
concerned land, in matters that concerned government, defence, provisions of neces- 
sities, education and medical practices, he was expected to seek and rely upon the 
guidance of a council of leading clan fathers and mothers in the tribe.'bi 

The First Nation submits that, as there was no evidence led in the Kahkewis- 
tahaw inquiry regarding the internal government of that Band, it is open to 
this Commission to reach a different result on this issue in this case. 

Furthermore, the First Nation argues that its treaty right, having never been 
extinguished by the Indian Act, is therefore protected by section 35(1) of the 
Constitution Act, which would require the Crown to j u s ~  any infringement 
on that right in accordance with the principles enunciated by the Supreme 
Court of Canada in R. v. S p a r n ~ . ~ ~ ~  Since the original surrender provisions 
of the Indian Act were enacted in 1868,10 and therefore predate Treaty 4, 
the First Nation submits that it cannot have been intended that any legislated 

161 Submission on Behalf of The KW First Nation. April 20. 1999. vol. 1, D. 10 
162 Indian Act, RSC 1904 c. 81, ~ ' 4 9 .  
163 ladim Claims Commission, lnquiq inlo lbs I907Resm ~ d S u n m &  Claim of lbs Kabbewislabnu Firs1 

a t i o n  (Otlaw. F e b w  1997), reported (1998) 8 fCCP 3. 
164 Submission an Behalf of The Key Brst Nation, April 20. 1999, vol. I ,  y. 20. 
165 ICC Tmc"pr,  November 20, 1997, pp. 50-52 (Chief Papequash) 
166 R u S p a m  (19991, 56 CCC (3d) 263 (SCC). 
167 Submission an Behalf of The Key F i s t  Nation, April 20, 1999, MI. I, p. LO, citing Indian Act, SC 1868, c. 42, 

s. 8. 
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surrender provisions (even the subsequent 1906 Act) would have the effect 
of overriding the higher threshold established by Treaty 4.168 

In further support of its argument that the treaty right is protected by 
section 35(1) of the Constitution Act, 1982, the First Nation relies on the 
recent decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in R. v. In that 
case, the majority of the Court held that the nature of a treaty right may be 
determined with reference to extrinsic evidence concerning the historical and 
cultural context in which the treaty was concluded, even where the provision 
in question is not ambiguous on its face.17' The majority also held that the 
Court must give effect to the common intention of the parties at the time of 
treaty signing, as opposed to merely giving effect to the terms of the 
document.171 

Applying the above reasoning to the facts of his case, counsel for the First 
Nation submits that, at the time Treaty 4 was signed, it was the intention of 
the Crown and of the Band that consent to surrenders of reserve land would 
be obtained from "the Indians," or would be obtained "in accordance with 
the customs of the Band at the time." Counsel also argues that Canada has 
not introduced any evidence of an intention on the part of Parliament to 
modify or extinguish the treaty right in question. He states further that there 
is no evidence that the right has been modified or extinguished in fact, and 
that the burden of proof on this point lies on Canada.172 

Canada's position on this issue is to rely on the previous ruling of this 
Commission in the Kahkewistahaw surrender inquiry. In that inquiry, the 
Commission disposed of this issue on the basis of two separate lines of rea- 
soning. First, the Commission decided that no inconsistency exists between 
the 1906 Indian Act and Treaty 4 on the question of surrender require- 
ments, as the latter does not establish a required level of consent or a means 
of expressing that consent. In the alternative, the Commission held that, at the 
time that the 1906 Act was proclaimed, dominion legislation could substan- 
tively affect treaty rights without constitutional restraint, since section 35 of 
the Constitution Act, 1982, which affirms existing aboriginal and treaty 
rights, did not yet exist.I73 Canada has also raised several objections with 
respect to the First Nation's submission concerning "clan governance," the 

164 Submbuon on Behdf of The Key Firs1 Nation. April 20. 1999. vol. I ,  p. 11 
169 R u Manball, [I9991 SV no. 55. Gle 26014. 
170 R. 0. Manball. 119991 SCl no. 55. Me 26014 at oaraeraoh 11. 
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first two of which concern the evidence required to establish the existence of 
the alleged governance structure. 

First, counsel for Canada argues that there is insufEcient evidence on 
which to determine the nature of the Band's traditional governance structure, 
since the only evidence on this issue consists of excerpts of Chief Pape- 
quash's submissions at the community sessions. In support of this argument, 
he points to the lack of any formal research or analysis that establishes the 
exact nature of the First Nation's traditional form of government.174 

Second, counsel states that the only other evidence on the record relevant 
to the issue appears to be inconsistent with the position taken by the First 
Nation, in that it contradicts the notion that women took part in the internal 
government of the Band.175 As a result, counsel for Canada submits that, on 
the evidence, the alleged governance structure cannot be established as a 
fact. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing evidentiaty issues, Canada further states 
that, as a matter of law, the First Nation has not establishe I that any particu- 
lar decision-making process was imported into Treaty 4 that would acquire 
the protection of section 35(1) of the Constitution Act, 1782.176 As well, 
counsel contends that section 35(1) should not be applied retrospectively to 
a historical event that took place before the Constitution Act, 1782, created 
the right sought to be vindicated.177 

Finally, counsel for Canada states that the decision of the Supreme Court 
in Marshall is not applicable to the facts in The Key inquiry. First, he reiter- 
ates that, unlike the conflict between the particular treaty right and the spe- 
cific legislative provision in Marshall, no conflict exists between the "con- 
sent" pursuant to Treaty 4 and the surrender provisions of the Indian Act. 
Rather, according to counsel, the surrender provisions are merely a "reason- 
able expression of the consent required under the Treaty."178 Second, coun- 
sel submits that if there are any procedural inconsistencies between the sur- 
render provisions of the 1906 Indian Act and those of Treaty 4, the former 
prevail, according to legal principles reaffirmed by the Supreme Court in 

Third, counsel takes the position that there is no compelling 
extrinsic evidence to support The Key First Nation's allegation that Treaty 4 

174 Submlssion on Behalf of the Covement of Cmada. May 27,199, p. 19. 
175 Submission on Behalf of the Gawmment of Canada. May 27. 199,  p. 19. 
176 Submlssion on Behalf of the Cavemen1 of Canada. May 27. 1999, p. 20. 
177 Submixion on Behalf of the Government of Canada. May 27, 1999, p. 211. 
178 Richard Wex, Senior Counsel, D M  Legal Services, to Indian Clvms Commbrion, December 14, 1999, p. 3. 
179 Richard Wex, Senior Counsel, DUND Legal Services, to Indian Waims Conmasion, December 14, 1999, p. 3. 
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contemplated a particular process by which consent to surrenders would be 
obtained.lm 

As referred to earlier in this discussion, we determined in the Kahkewis- 
tahaw inquiry that the treaty was not in contlict with the 1/06 Act. As we 
stated at that time: 

The treaty does not establish a required level of consent or a means of expressing 
such consent. Accordingly, the smtoty  surrender requirements represented a rea- 
sonable expression of the consent required under the treaty and, to the extent that 
those stalutoty requirements were satishi, it can be said that the treaty requirements 
were likewise met.18' 

In the alternative, we held that, if the standards established by treaty and 
provided for in the Act were inconsistent, the surrender provisions of the Act 
would prevail: 

We agree with Canada that, when the 1906 Indian Act was proclaimed, federal legis- 
lation could substantively affect or regulate treaty rights to the extent that the legisla- 
tion winced a clear intention to m o w  a treaty right At the time of the surrender, 
there was no constitutional restraint to preclude Canada from enacting such legisla- 
tion since s. 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982, which recognizes and ffirms existing 
aboriginal and treaty rights, did not yet exist.I8' 

After the close of arguments in this inquiry, however, the Supreme Court 
of Canada released its decision in R. v. Marshall. This case held that extrinsic 
evidence concerning the historical and cultural context within which a treaty 
was concluded may be admitted for the purpose of interpreting a treaty right, 
even where the treaty provision in question is unambiguous. Since the First 
Nation's original submissions included the argument that the treaty term 
regarding "consent" to surrenders was to be interpreted with reference to 
Chief Papequash's oral evidence concerning "clan governance," the parties 
were given the opportunity to comment on the implications of Marshall, if 
any, to the facts of The Key inquiry. The respective submissions of the parties 
on this issue have been included in the above discussion, and have been 
considered by us in the course of making our determination on this issue. 

1m Richard W q  Senior Counsel, DIAND Legal SeMcs, to Indian Claims Commission, December 14, 1999, p. 4. 
181 Indian Claims Commission, Inquip inlo ibe 1907Resem L a n d S u d  C h i n  of lbe Kabhiatabaw Firs1 

Nation (Ottawa. February 1997), (1998) 8 ICCP 3. n. 176 11 p. 70. 
182 Indian Claims Commission, Inquip into tbs 1907Resm l a n d S u d  Claim of lbe Xabhistabm Firs1 

Nalion (Ottawa, Februav 1997), (1998) 8 ICCP 3, n. 176 at p. 70. 
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On consideration of all the submissions, and the decision of the Supreme 
Court in Marshall, we have determined that the evidence presented in this 
case does not support the conclusion put forth by the First Nation - namely, 
that The Key Band had a treaty right to have decisions regarding the surren- 
der of its reserve made according to its traditions of clan governance. 

We take note of the comments of Justice Binnie, writing for the majority in 
Marsbali, regarding the duty on the court in construing a treaty: 

The bottom line is the Court's obligation to "choose from among the various possible 
interpretations of the common intention [at the time the treaty was made] the one 
which best reconciles" the Mi'kmaq interests and those of the British Crown (empha- 
sis added) (Sioui, per Lamer J, at p. 1069).'" 

Justice Binnie, quoting above from the judgment of Lamer J in R. v. Sioui,lg4 
emphasized the importance of the intention of the parties at the time that the 
treaty was made. In the present inquiry, we do not have evidence that, at the 
time Treaty 4 was made, aU the parties intended to establish within its terms 
a standard or threshold of consent for the surrender of land. Therefore, as in 
the Kahkewistahaw inquiry, we conclude that there is no evidence in this case 
of a contlict between the terms of Treaty 4 and the surrender provisions of 
the Indian Act, and that the challenge to the surrender cannot be upheld on 
this basis. 

ISSUE 2 WAS THE INDIAN ACT, RSC 1906, 
C. 81, COMPLIED WITH? 

In particular, did a majority of the male members of The Key Band who were 
21 years of age and over assent to the surrender? 

Surrender Provisions of the 1906 Indian Act 
In order for a surrender of Indian reserve land to be valid, it is necessary 
that the parties comply with the procedural requirements in section 49, 
which, for ease of reference, we reproduce again: 

49. Except as in this part otherwise provided, no release or surrender of a reselve, 
or a portion of a reserve, held for the use of the Indians of any band, or of any 
individual Indian, shall be valid or binding, unless the release or surrender shall be 

183 R. v. Mnnball (1999). 177 DLR (4th). 513 al 526 (SCC), Binnie J. 
I84 R u. Sioui, [I9901 1 XR 1025 a 1069. 
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assented to by a majority of the male members of the band of the full age of twenty- 
one years, at a meeting or council thereof summoned for that pumse. accordinp, to 
the k e s  bf the band,&d held in the presence of the ~uperiniencient General, or of 
an officer duly authorized to anend such council, by the Governor in Council or by 
the Superintendent General. 
2. No Indian shall be entitled to vote or be present at such council, unless he 
habitually resides on or near, and is inlerested in the reserve in question. 
3. The fact that such release or surrender has been assented to by the band at such 
council or meeting shail be c e d e d  on oath by the Superintendent General, or by the 
officer authorized by him to attend such council or meeting, and by some of the 
chiefs or principal men present thereat and entitled to vote, before some judge of a 
superior county or district court, stipendiary magistrate or justice of the peace, or, in 
the case of reserves in the province of Manitoba, Saskatchewan or Alberta, or the 
Territories, before the Indian commissioner, and in the case of reserves in British 
Columbia, before the visiting Indian ~u~er in tkdent  for British Columbia, or, in either 
case, before some other person or officer specially thereunto authorized by the Gov- 
ernor in Council. 
4. When such assent has been so certified, as aforesaid, such release or surrender 
shall be submitted to the Governor in Council for acceptance or refu~al.'~' 

Although compliance with subsections (21, (3), and (4 )  has been raised by 
the First Nation and will he dealt with in the context of other issues in this 
claim, the Band's primary substantive objection to the validity of the surren- 
der lies in the allegation that the procedure by which the surrender was 
obtained did not comply with the requirements of section 49(1) of the Act. 

The Supreme Court of Canada has considered the meaning of section 49 
of the Indian Act in the case of Cardinal v. R.ls6 In that case, Estey J pro- 
vided the following summary of the Act's surrender provisions: 

It has also been argued that the interpretation which is now being considered is one 
which exposes the membership of the band to a risk of loss of property and other 
rights, contrary to the general pattern and spirit of the Indian Act. It is perhaps weU 
to observe UI u s  connection that there are precautions built into the procedures of 
Pl. I of the Act, dealing with surrender. Firstly, the meeting must be called to consider 
the question of surrender explicitly. It may not be attended to at a regular meeting or 
one in respect of which express notice has not been given to the band. Secondly, the 
meeting must be called in accordance with the rules of the band. Thirdly, the chief or 
principal men must cerbfy on oath the vote, and that the meeting was properly consti- 
tuted. Fourthly, only residents of the reserve can vote, by reason of the exciusionaq 
provisions of subs. (2) of s. 49. F i y ,  the meeting must be held in the presence of 

I85 Indian AcI, RSC 1906, c. 81. s. 49. 
186 Cardinal n. R., I19821 I SCR 508, 13 DLR (4th) 321, [I9821 3 GNU( 3 
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an officer of the Cmwn. And sixthly, wen if the vote is in the affirmative, the surrender 
may be accepted or refused by the Governor in Council. It is against this background 
of precautionary measures that one must examine the manner in which the assent of 
eligble members of the band is to be ascertained under s. 49.18' 

The main issue in Cardinal was the definition of the requisite "majority" 
pursuant to section 49(1) of the Act. Estey J decided that a valid consent to a 
surrender did not require that an absolute majority of all eligible voting 
members vote in favour. Rather, he held that the section required only that a 
majoriy of eligible voters be in attendance at the meeting, and that a majority 
of those in attendance give their assent to the surrender.la8 

Therefore, it is clear from the above that section 49(1) comprises four 
components: 

meeting must be summoned for the express purpose of considering the 
surrender; 

- the meeting must he summoned in accordance with the rules of the band; 

- the meeting must be held in the presence of the Superintendent General or 
an authorized officer; and 

a majority of the male members of the band of the full age of 21 years 
must attend the meeting, and 

a majority of those attending must assent to the surrender. 

The provisions of section 49(1) have been held to be mandatory in 
nature, with the result that a failure to comply with those terms will render a 
surrender v0idJi.m the outset. In the words of the trial judge in the case of 
Chippewa of Kettle and Stony Point: 

Section 49(1) lays down, in my view, in explicit terms, a true condition precedent to 
the validity of any surrender and sale of Indian reserve lands. It makes this abundantly 
clear by saying that no such surrender "shall be valid or biding" unless its directions 
are followed.'" 

I87 Cardinal v R, [198Zl 1 XR 508. 13 DLR (4th) 321. 119821 3 CNLR 3 at 10. 
188 Cardinnl a R ,  119821 1 SCR 508, 13 DLR (4h) 321, 3 CNLR 3 v 10. 
189 Cbippem ofKeltle and Slony Poinl v Altomg, Censrd of C a d ,  l19%1 1 CNLR 54 at 83, 
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This interpretation has been accepted by this Commission in previous inquir- 
ies.lW As a result, if it is found on the facts of this case that the provisions of 
section 49(1) were not followed, the surrender must be considered void. 

In this case, the parties have focused on the first and fourth of the forego- 
ing criteria - namely, the requirement that a meeting be called for the pur- 
pose of considering the surrender, and the necessity of a valid majority con- 
sent. Although counsel for the First Nation has briefly raised the issue of 
whether the meeting was summoned in accordance with the rules of the 
Band, there is no specific evidence before this Commission regarding the 
existence of any such rules, and, as a result, our analysis will concentrate on 
the above two factors. 

Surrender Meeting 
The First Nation submits that there is no evidence of any kind that notice of a 
surrender meeting was ever given to the Band, nor is there credible evidence 
that a surrender meeting actually took place. This submission is based on 
three arguments. First, the First Nation points to the fact that the existing 
documentation provides scarcely any detail concerning the events that took 
place at the meeting, and provides no information at all that would indicate 
whether any notice of the meeting was provided to the Band. Second, the 
First Nation questions the authenticity of the surrender documents them- 
selves. This objection is based on expert handwriting evidence concerning 
the appearance of the "X" marks that apparently signified the assent of the 
band members who signed the documents.191 Third, counsel argues that the 
Band has no oral history concerning a surrender meeting. Given the lack of 
detail concerning the meeting, and the expect's testimony casting doubt on 
the authenticity of the documents, the First Nation submits that the absence of 
oral history must lead to a conclusion that no meeting ever took place. 

In support of its argument that notice of the surrender meeting was not 
provided to the Band, the First Nation alleges that there exists no evidence in 
the historical record that any notice of any kind was ever provided by any 
departmental official in advance of the meeting allegedly held on May 18, 
1909.192 

190 See KC, Inquiry info fbe 1W7 Land Surrender Ul im o/tk K a b ~ t a b m  Firsl Nation (Omawl, February 
1997), (1998) 8 ICCP 3 at 68; ICC, Owcon's First Nalion lnyuiry Reprl on: 1928 Surrender Chin 
(Ottawa. September 1999). 171. 

191 ICC Transccipt, Juluaty 25, 1999 (Guy Mqny). 
192 Subrnlssion on Behalf of Thp Key First Nation, A p d  20, 1999, vol. I, p. 38. 
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In support of its allegation that no meeting took place, the First Nation 
points to the lack of a voters' list and to the absence of any minutes of the 
meeting identifying who was present, recording what was discussed, and tal- 
lying the votes for and against the surrender.l93 As part of this argument, it 
alleges that Inspector Graham's report concerning the ~urrenderl9~ contains 
so little detail that its value as evidence that a meeting took place is minimal. 
As a result, based on the lack of concrete evidence concerning a surrender 
meeting on May 18, 1909, counsel invites the Commission to draw an infer- 
ence that no such meeting took place. 

The First Nation further alleges that the surrender documents themselves 
(consisting of the surrender, Chief The Key's &davit, and the surrender 
paylist apparently documenting the advance paid to each band member) can- 
not be accepted at face value. The objection to those documents as evidence 
is grounded in the belief that the documents are not "authentic"; in other 
words, the "X" marks on the documents were not made by the band mem- 
b a s  themselves, but by some other party, likely Inspector Graham. 

In support of this allegation, the First Nation relies on the testimony of its 
expert witness, Guy Magny. Based on his opinion regarding the sigruficant 
combination of similarities and the absence of significant differences among 
the "X" marks on all three documents, Magny concludes that they were all 
written by the same person. He further concludes that all the " X  marks were 
likely made by the same person who signed his name "W.M. Graham" on the 
impugned do~uments.~9~ As Magny's evidence authenticates the "W.M. Gra- 
ham" signature by comparison with other signatures made by Graham in the 
ordinary course of business over a six-year period, the First Nation submits 
that the "X" marks on the documents were made by Graham himself, and not 
by members of the Band.I% 

In further support of the argument that the " X  marks are not authentic, 
the First Nation relies on Magny's observations in light of certain historical 
departmental instructions to Indian agents regarding the procedures to be 
followed when a signature was required from an illiterate person. On July 28, 
1904, Frank Pedley, the Deputy Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, cir- 
culated the following directive to Indian agents in the North-West Territories, 
which at that time comprised most of western Canada: 

193 Submission on Behalf of The Key Firs Nation, April 20, 1999, vol. 1, p 81. 
I94 W .  M .  Graham to Depzment of Indian AUairs, May 21, 1909. & RG 10. vol. 4039, We 329759 (ICC Dacu~ .~ . 

menl, p. 481). 
191 Submission on Behall of The Key Fist Nation. April 20, 1999, vol. I. pp. 18-64 
1% Submission an Behall of The Key Fin1 Nation, Apd 20, 1999, vol. I ,  p. 67. 
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The Department's attention has been drawn to the fact that in some instances when 
Agents make payments to Indians and issue receipts, which should be signed by mark 
(the Indian touching the pen), the mark is made when the Indian is not present. 
According to law a valid receipt cannot be given by an illiterate person unless he 
touches the pen when "his mark" is being made. Agents are therefore warned that in 
the future the mark of an Indian must be made by the Indian touching the pen, and 
the act must be witnessed by a third party, who must sign as witness. Before an Indian 
makes his mark to a receipt or other document the transaction should be fully 
explained to him. These instructions apply also to the endorsation [sic] of cheques 
issued in favour of Indians ...I9' 

Magny concludes that, if the above procedure had been followed, the "X" 
marks on The Key surrender documents would have displayed irregularities 
and inconsistencies of pressure and movement, instead of the uniformity that 
is evident on the face of the documents. 

As a result of all the above, the First Nation submits that the documents 
are not authentic. They cannot therefore be relied on in support of a conclu- 
sion that a surrender meeting took place in accordance with the require- 
ments of the Indian Act. 

The final basis for the First Nation's allegation that no meeting was held in 
accordance with the Act concerns the absence of any oral history among the 
elders of the Band about this event. Counsel for the First Nation refers to 
numerous examples from the transcript of the community sessions at which 
various individuals stated their belief that no meeting occurred. These beliefs 
are founded on the stories of their parents and grandparents to the effect that 
the surrendered portions of the reserve were taken from them by force or 
trickery, and not through any orderly process of consent. 

For example, Elder Edwin Crane commented: 

On that question on that 1 9 9  meeting, I asked the elder here, to his knowledge he 
was never ever even told about such a meeting, if there was meeting, a public meet- 
ing, he said he never recalled anythin& never been told about that land loss that we 
had there. AU of a sudden it's g m ,  Ws all he said.'q8 

Chief Papequash tesaed: 

In 1 9 3  to 1 9 9  there were no meetings amongst aboriginal peoples to discuss the 
land surrender. It was taken by force. ... The land surrender was imposed upon the 

197 Frank Pedly to J.H. Gooderhun, July 28, 1904 (ICC Exhibit 11). 
198 ICC Tnnscript, Janualy 24, 19%, p. 37 (Ed* m e .  I m b e d  by Uoyd E m ) .  



aborigmal peoples through the dictatorship of the Indian Agent. Under no circum- 
stances would our people ask for a surrender. Because our people at that time didn't, 
and our people today don't believe in omuship of the land, because it is the land 
that sustains the lives of the aboriginal peoples and a l l  other races of the world.'* 

Desmond Key stated: 

Well as far back as I can remember I never heard anything about the -what we had 
surrendered. My grandad never ever mentioned anything to me about surrendering 
land.2m 

Counsel for the First Nation also argues that there is a notable absence of 
oral history concerning the alleged payment of the $100 advance to each 
band member. This absence is signiEcant, in his view, because the receipt of 
$100 per member would have been a momentous event in the lives of each 
family, given the value of that amount of money in 1909.201 In support of this 
argument, counsel cites evidence such as the following statement by Elder 
Robert Gordon: 

No one has ever menfioned getting anydung for the h d  that was taken away from 
them. ... Well the understanding I got from the old people, that land was taken from 
them and they never received nothing for it." 

As a result, counsel submits that the lack of any historical memory concern- 
ing this event among the First Nation's elders is consistent with a theory that 
no meeting took place. 

Canada, in contrast, takes the position that adequate evidence exists from 
which the Commission can conclude that a valid surrender meeting took 
place. First, counsel for Canada argues that the Commission may infer from 
the pre-surrender conduct of the Band that correct procedures were fol- 
lowed by the department in obtaining the surrender. In particular, counsel 
points to the evidence that the Band itself requested the surrender in July 
1908,2O3 that a pre-surrender meeting took place in January 1909;" and that 

I 9  ICC Transcript, November 20. 1997. pp. 27-30 (Chief Papequash). 
z w  ICC Transcript, Mvch 10, 1998. p. 164 (Desmand Key). 
201 Submission on Behalf of The Key Fist Nation, April 20, 1999, vol. I ,  p. 77. 
202 ICC Tnnscripl, March 10, 1998, pp. 177-80 (Ronald Cordon). 
203 W.C. Bleweu lo Department of lndian AEairs, July 24, 1908, NA. RC 10,vol. 4039, file 329759 (ICC Documeovr, 
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the Band subsequently requested that the surrender be taken before plough- 
ing was to begin in the spring of 1909.205 As well, the evidence indicates that 
Canada intended to comply with its obligations regarding the procedures to 
be followed, as demonstrated by the fact that Inspector Graham was specif- 
c d y  instructed to take the surrender in accordance with the provisions of 
the Indian Act?M' 

Second, Canada finds support for its position in the fact that the surrender 
document was apparently signed, by mark or actual signature, by seven indi- 
viduals.'" Counsel also relies on the affidavit of Chief The KeyZo8 attesting to 
the fact of the meeting, and on the reporting letter of Inspector GrahamzW to 
the same effect. Third, Canada submits that the post-surrender conduct of the 
Band - including requests for sale proceeds, the subsequent surrender of a 
parcel of reserve land for church purposes, and the lack of any contempo- 
rary objection to the 1909 surrender - is consistent with a theory that the 
correct procedures were followed and that the surrender was not obtained 
by trickery or deceit. 

Fourth, Canada questions the evidentiary value of the oral history provided 
to the Commission at the community sessions. Counsel contends that the oral 
history provided in this case does not fit the definition of "oral history evi- 
dence" contemplated by the Supreme Court of Canada in Delgamuukw v. 
British Columbia.zLo It is argued that the Court referred to oral history evi- 
dence as the "sacred official litany, or recital of the most important laws, 
history, traditions" of a claimant which were "repeated, performed, and 
authenticated at important feasts."L11 Counsel for Canada submits that the 
Court intended that there be considerable formality and solemnity attached to 
such evidence: 

By way of content, oral history involves the recital of sweeping history over a lengthy 
rime period - it does not involve whether certain statutory requirements were met in 
respect of a single transaction."' 

205 W.G. Bleweu to J.D. McLean, A p d  21, 1909, NA, RG LO, vol. 4039, Me 329759 (ICC Documents, p. 469). 
206 Fmk Pedley to W.M. Gnham, Febmq 13, 1909, NA, RG LO, vol. 4039, fde 329759 (ICC Documents, p. 466). 
207 "Surrender of Kq I.R. No. 65," May 18, 1909, N& RG 10, vol. 4039, file 329759 (ICC Documents, 

pp. 476-79). 
208 " W t  of William M. Graham and The Key," May 19, 1909, NA, RG LO, val. 4039, Tde 329759 (ICC Docu- 

ments, p. 479). 
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In the alternative, Canada submits that, if the elders' statements are found to 
be "oral history evidence," with the result that they are admissible on an 
equal footing with other forms of evidence, they should be critically evaluated 
in order to determine their proper weight. In this context, cou~lsel argues 
that a critical review of the oral history evidence tendered by The Key First 
Nation leads to the conclusion that the evidence in question contains too 
many inconsistencies and contradictions to be given much weight in the 
determination of the factual issues in this claim. 

In support of this submission, counsel for Canada notes that a number of 
elders declared that they did not know about the events leading up to the 
1909 surrender or whether a meeting took pla~e.2~3 For example, he refers 
to the evidence of Raymond Brass, who stated: 

I don't really know a thing about the surrender. Its just stories that I've heard ... I 
don't really know a thing about the surrender. Its just little bits here and there that 
I've heard."' 

Counsel for Canada also refers to excerpts from the evidence of Charles 
Cochrane, Edwin Crane, William Papequash, Desmond Key, Helen Stevenson, 
and others to the same effect.z15 

In addition, counsel submits that the evidence of various band informants 
is inconsistent on the issue of the literacy of The Key band members at the 
time of the surrender,z16 and on other issues conflicts directly with documen- 
tary evidence on the record, including evidence not challenged by the Band's 
co~nsel.2'~ As a result, he submits that the oral history should not outweigh 
the documentary evidence in the determination of the issues in this case. 

Finally, Canada challenges the testimony offered by the First Nation's hand- 
writing expert. Atthough counsel for Canada takes issue with the correctness 
of some of Mr Magny's conclusions, in particular whether the " X  on Chief 
The Key's affidavit was also made by the same person who placed all the "X" 
marks on the surrender document, counsel's main objection to this testi- 
mony is based on its relevance.z18 

213 Submission on Behalf of the Gowrmenl of Canads, May 27, 1999, p. 34. 
214 I K  Transcript, Jarmary 24. 1996 ( I K  Exhibit 2,  p. 7) (Rapand Brass). 
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218 The Cmwn has made its submissiw regarding h e  expen testimony in connection with criterion 4 - "Majority 

Assent"; however, a5 the First Nation has dsed thh issue in connection with criterion I ,  the Crown's position 
will be discussed at this point. 



INDIAN C L A I M S  C O M M I S S I O N  P R O C E E D I N G S  

Canada submits that, even if every "X"' on the surrender document was 
placed there by one person, instead of by the individual members of the 
Band, that fact is legally irrelevant, since there is no legal requirement that 
any band members sign the surrender Furthermore, counsel 
submits that it is a longstanding principle of law that an illiterate person can 
validly "sign" a document if he authorizes another to sign it in his name or 
by a mark.2z0 Therefore, even if all the marks were made by Inspector Gra- 
ham, as Magny alleges, that fact by itselfis not legally sigtuEcant in the view 
of the counsel for Canada, since it is possible that band members authorized 
Graham to make the marks in question.221 

Canada further submits that there is no legal or statutory requirement that 
Indian agents comply with the 1904 departmental directive regarding "touch- 
ing the pennzz2 to vatidate documents signed by mark. As a result, according 
to counsel, Magny's testimony that the directive could not have been com- 
plied with in this case is of no sign16cance.~~3 

In conclusion, counsel for Canada submits that there exists sufficient evi- 
dence on the record to clearly establish that a surrender meeting took place 
on May 18, 1909. 

As the evidence with respect to the surrender meeting is intertwined with 
the evidence relevant to the question of majority assent, the findings of the 
Commission on both points will be discussed together, following our review 
of the parties' positions on the latter issue. 

Majority Assent 
As indicated previo~sly,2~ the Supreme Court of Canada in Cardinal has 
interpreted "majority assent" within section 49(1) of the Indinn Act to mean 
that a majority of the male band members of the full age of 21 years must 
attend the surrender meeting, and that a majority of those in attendance must 
in turn assent to the surrender. 

The First Nation takes the position that there exists no reliable evidence 
that the "double majority" referred to by Estey J was met in the present case. 

219 Submission on Behalf af the Ga~rnment  af Canada. May 27. 1999, p. 45. 
220 Submission an Behalf oi !he Government of Canada, May 27, 159 ,  p. 46, citing London CwnIy council a 

~ c u L t ~ m l  Fwd Pmducls, [I9521 2 AU ER 229 (a). 
221 Submlssian on Behdi of the Government of Canada, May 27, 1999, pp. 4647.  
222 Depamenlal Circular oi Fnnk Pedley, DSGU, to J.H. G o o d e r h ,  Indian Agent, July 28. 1904 (ICC Wlibil 

11). 
223 Inquiry into the Matler of The Key First Nation regarding the 1909 Surrender Cllim: Oral Submissiam. June 14, 

1999, PP. 160-61. 
224 Cardinal u. Tba w e n ,  119821 1 SCR 508, 13 DLR (4th) 321, [I9821 3 CNLR 3. 
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With respect to the first majority - namely, that a majority of eligible voters in 
the Band attend the surrender meeting - counsel relies on a report prepared 
by Lockhart and Associateszzi for this inquiry at the First Nation's request. 
The authors of this report conclude that there were 18 eligible voters at the 
time of the surrender, of whom ten would constitute a majority. Counsel for 
the First Nation states that the only documentary evidence concerning attend- 
ance at the meeting is Inspector Graham's letter of May 21, 1909. This letter, 
in which Graham reported that "nearly all the members of the Band were 
present,"z26 is ambiguous, in counsel's view, since it is not possible to deter- 
mine the age or genders of the members who attended. Therefore, it is sub- 
mitted that there is no proof that the required majority of eligible male voters 
attended.zz7 

The second majority referred to in the judgment of the Supreme Court in 
Cardinal concerns the requirement that a majority of voters in attendance at 
the meeting vote in favour of the surrender. Counsel for the First Nation 
argues that, although Graham's reporting letter states that the "vote was 
unanimous,"2z8 it cannot be determined if the second majority was met in 
this case because it is not known how many eligible voters attended the 
1neeting.2~9 

Counsel for the First Nation also finds it sigmficant that the surrender doc- 
ument itself was marked or signed by only seven band members, given 
Inspector Graham's comments that the vote had been unanimous. Counsel 
argues that, if a proper majority of at least ten voters had attended (out of the 
18 considered eligible by Lockhart and Associates), it would be expected that 
al l  of them would have marked or signed the d0cument.~3~ 

As well, the First Nation points out that the surrender paylists of May 18, 
1909, indicate that at least 14, and possibly as many as 17, males over the 
age of 21 years received their $100 advance on the day of the surrender. 
Assuming for the sake of the argument that the paylists are authentic, counsel 
submits that, if all these individuals attended the surrender meeting as well, it 
might be expected that this majority would have signed the surrender docu- 

225 'Those Eligibk to Vote in the Ueged Surrender of The Key Reserve May 18, 1909." Lockhan and Associates. 
Jmvy 31. 1997 (U *hiblt 9). 

226 W.M. Gnham la D e p m e a  of Indian ABain, May 21, 1909, NA, RG 10, "01. 4039, Me 329759 (ICC DOE"- 
men& n. 481) 
~ ~~~. 

227 Submii~ion on Behalf of The Key Plrsl Nation, April 20, 1999, val. I ,  pp. 89-90. 
22s W.M. G n h m  lo Depamenl of Lndian Maim, May 21, 1909, NA, RG 10, vol. 4039, file 329759 ( K C  Docu- 
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230 Submission on B e h a  of The Key Flrsl Nation, A p d  20, 1999, rol. 1, pp. 92- 95. 



ment. Therefore, he finds it suspicious that only seven signed or made their 
mark and, accordingly, he invites the Commission to infer that the majority 
requirement was not met.Z3L 

For its part, Canada submits that the historical documents created at the 
time of the surrender should be accepted at face value as proof that both 
majorities were met. 

In support of his argument that the "first majority" required by the Indian 
Act was attained, counsel for Canada relies on the surrender affidavit of Chief 
The Key and Inspector Graha1n.~3~ It attests to the fact that a majority of 
eligible voters was in attendance at the surrender meeting. He also relies on 
Graham's reporting letter:33 which states that "nearly all the members of the 
Band were present" at the surrender meeting, and finds further support in 
the surrender payli~t:3~ which indicates that at least 14 eligible voters were 
present on that day to receive their advance. 

Counsel for Canada also relies on the above affidavit and reporting letter 
in support of his position that the "second majority" was attained. Specifi- 
cally, he states that Graham's report that the "vote was unanimous" is the 
best evidence that a majority of voters present at the meeting voted in favour. 

With respect to the First Nation's argument that non-compliance with the 
Act can be inferred from the fact that only seven voters signed or marked the 
surrender document, counsel for Canada points out that there exists no legal 
requirement that any voters sign the surrender document. He also argues, 
for reasons discussed earlier, that the expert witness's conclusion regarding 
the author of the "X" marks is legally irrelevant to the issue of consent, since 
the voters could have authorized anyone, including Inspector Graham, to 
make the marks on their behalf.z35 

Finally, Canada submits that the Band's conduct following the surrender is 
consistent with a conclusion that the correct procedures were followed in 
obtaining the surrender. As discussed earlier, counsel points out that there is 
no record of any contemporaneous objection to the surrender on the part of 
the Band. Relying on the statement of Campbell J in Chippewas of Sarnia 
Band o. Canada (Attorney Gener~l)~~"o the effect that knowledge of a 

231 Submission on Behalf of The Key Fin1 Nation, April 20, 1999. vol. I, pp. 96-97. 
232 "Surrender hlfidavil," Chiel of The Key Band of Indians. May 19, 1909 (ICC Documents, p. 479). 
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236 Cbippeuuu ofSarnia Band v CaMda (Allomey Geneml), 119991 OJ No. 1406, Coun Pile No. 95-CU-92484 
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surrender, together with a failure to complain, may provide evidence of con- 
sent to the surrender, counsel submits that the Commission may infer that 
consent was given in this ~ a s e . ~ 3 ~  

Compliance with Section 49(1) of the Indian Act 
As alleged by the First Nation and conceded by Canada, this surrender was 
sparsely documented. The documents that do exist are a surrender document 
marked or signed by seven individuals, the affidavit of Chief The Key and 
Inspector Graham, and a brief report by Inspector Graham. Each of these 
documents, on its face, attests to the fact that a surrender meeting was held. 
The &davit of the Chief and Inspector Graham attests to the fact that a 
majority of eligible voters assented to the s~rrender?3~ Inspector Graham's 
report states that "nearly all" the band members attended the surrender 
meeting and that the vote was "unanimous."z39 

The Band submits that, given the scarcity of information concerning the 
surrender, the existing documents cannot be taken at face value in light of 
two factors: the expert evidence casting doubt on the authenticity of the "X" 
marks on the surrender, and the lack of any mention of the surrender in The 
Key First Nation's oral history. 

With respect to the testimony of handwriting expert Guy Magny, we do not 
propose to engage in a substantive discussion concerning his qualifications 
or methodology, or the substantive bases for his conclusions. Rather, it 
appears clear to us that, even if we accept all his conclusions - that all the 
"X" marks on the document were made by Inspector Graham - his testimony 
cannot determine whether band members authorized Graham to make the 
marks on their behalf. As correctly pointed out by counsel for Canada, the 
Indian Act does not mandate that the surrender document be signed or 
marked by those voting in favour. Further, at common law, a person may 
validly execute a document by authorizing another to sign or mark it on his 
hehatf. Therefore, Magny's testimony is not relevant to the issue of compli- 
ance with the procedural requirements of section 49(1) of the Indian Act, 
since the Act does not require that the eligible voters personally sign or mark 
the surrender document. As a result, Magny's testimony does not support the 

237 Oral Submissions. June 14, 1999, p. 141. 
238 Midavit of W i h m  M. Graham and The Key, May 19, 1909, h!4. RC LO. vol. 4039, fde 329759 (ICC Documents. 
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First Nation's allegation that a surrender meeting was not held, nor does it 
assist its contention that a proper majority was not attained. 

Parenthetically, we might add that one aspect of Magny's testimony may 
have had the unintended effect of supporting Canada's submission that the 
proper procedures were followed. From Magny's report, it appears that the 
signatures of "Peter O'Soup" and "Charles Thomas," the two band members 
who apparently signed the surrender document, "revealed a signiEcant com- 
bination of similarities and no sipficant differences"z40 when compared with 
the specimen signatures of those two individuals taken from later documents. 
Given that there has been no allegation, or any evidence, that these individu- 
als were involved in any irregularities in the procurement of the surrender, 
we find that the authentication of these signatures is evidence in favour of the 
surrender's validity. 

Turning to the oral history evidence, we are mindful of the decision of the 
Supreme Court in Delgarnuukw v. British Columbia24L in which Chief Jus- 
tice Lamer stated: 

Nohvithstanding the challenges crealed by the use of oral histories as proof of histod- 
cal facts, the laws of evidence must be adapted in order that this type of evidence can 
be accommodated and placed on an equal footing with the types of historical evi- 
dence that courts are familiar with, which largely consists of hislorical 

Although the Commission accepts and has applied the above principle in 
prior inquiries, we also take the view that the "equal footing" referred to by 
the Chief Justice does not amount to special status, nor does it have the effect 
of assigning greater weight to oral history than to any other evidence. Accord- 
ingly, any oral evidence submitted in this inquiry will be weighed and consid- 
ered along with all the other evidence in our determination of this issue. 

In the present inquiry, the First Nation submits that the lack of oral history 
concerning the surrender meeting must lead to the conclusion that the event 
never took place. We do not accept the principle that the absence of oral 
history evidence of necessity leads to this conclusion. Further, we have diffi- 
culty in accepting the notion that an absence of evidence, including oral 
history evidence, can fuU the obligation on a claimant to make its case in 
accordance with the SpeciGc Claims Policy. As we stated in the Moosomin 
inquiry: 
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The general principle with respect to the burden of proof and onus is that the First 
Nation, as the claimant, bears the burden of proving that the Crown has breached its 
lawful  obligation^.^^) 

In making the above determination, we are not criticizing in any way the 
evidence given by the elders at the community sessions. It is not in the least 
unexpected that the elders would not have information concerning an event 
which, in most cases, took place before they were born. Nor are we sug- 
gesting that the band members on whose information they relied were not 
telling the truth. Rather, we hold that the absence of oral history evidence is 
not determinative of the issue of compliance with the procedural require- 
ments of the Indian Act, and that we must examine all the evidence submit- 
ted in the inquiry before we can reach any conclusion on the issue. 

We are mindful of the scarcity of evidence regarding the surrender meet- 
ing itself, which is a situation that causes us some concern. As a result, we 
must determine from other evidence on the record in this inquiry whether 
the procedural requirements of the Indian Act, in particular the requirement 
of majority consent, were met in this case. We find support for this approach 
in the guiding principle governing the determination of a surrender's validity 
articulated by Justice Gonthier in Apsassin v. The Queen: 

An intention-based approach offers a si@cant advantage, in my view. As McLachlin 
J. observes, the law treats aboriginal peoples as autonomous actors with respect to 
the acquisition and surrender of their lands, and for this reason, their decisions must 
be respected and honoured. It is therefore preferable to rely on the understanding of 
the Band members in 1945, as opposed to concluding that regardless of their inten- 
tion, good fortune in the guise of technical land transfer rules and procedures ren- 
dered the 1945 surrender of mineral rights null and void ... In my view, when deter- 
mining the legal effect of dealings between aboriginal peoples and the Crown relating 
to reserve lands, the sui generis nature of aborigmal title requires courts to go 
beyond the usual restrictions imposed by the ccinmon law, in order to give &ect to 
the true purpose of the dealings.24' 

In the above case, Justice Gonthier noted that the Band had known for some 
time that an absolute surrender oE the reserve was contemplated, and he 
found that fact relevant in determining the band members' intention when 
they agreed to the surrender. 

213 ICC, Inquiry h l o  lbe 19@ Resem h d  S m d e r  Claim of lbe Moarornin Pirrl Nafian (Ouawa, March 
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Similarly, the trial judge in Chippewas of S m i a  Band v. Canada (Attor- 
ney GeneraI) stated that a failure on the part of band members to complain 
afler a surrender was taken could, in some circumstances, he evidence of 
consent: 

Although knowledge is not consent it may, in some cases, when coupled with lack of 
complaint, provide some evidence of consent or agree~nent?'~ 

The above approach is consistent with principles developed in the general 
law of contract to the effect that the existence of a legally binding contract 
may be inferred from the subsequent conduct of the parties, even in circum- 
stances where there exists an imperfect written instrument that one party 
seeks to AS a result of all the foregoing, we have taken note of 
documentary evidence concerning events that both preceded and followed 
the surrender in making our determination of the surrender's validity. 

As pointed out by counsel for Canada, it appears that the Band requested 
the surrender in July 1908,247 and that it subsequently requested that the 
surrender be taken before ploughing was to begin in the spring of 1909.248 
Further, the First Nation does not dispute that a pre-surrender meeting took 
place in January 1909, at which the Band, on the one hand, and Inspector 
Graham, representing the department, on the other, apparently agreed to new 
terms of ~urrender .~~9 

As well, a number of significant events took place after the surrender. The 
paylist dated May 18, 1909,Z50 indicates that each band member was paid 
$100 in fulfilment of one of the terms of the surrender. While it is true that 
the First Nation has challenged the authenticity of this document, based on 
handwriting expert Guy Magny's testimony that the "X" marks were not made 
by band members, we stand by our earlier conclusion that we do not Bud 
Magny's testimony to be relevant to the issue of the authenticity of the docu- 
ments, since it is possible that band members authorized Inspector Graham 
to make the marks on their behalf. 

245 Cbippem of Sarnin Bond a CaMda (Altompy Gsnaml), [I9991 OJ No. 14% n paragraph 220 (Onlaria 
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Of equal significance is the evidence that band members conducted them- 
selves long after the surrender in a manner consistent with the theory that the 
correct procedural requirements of the Indian Act, including a meeting and 
consent by the proper majority, had been followed. For example, more than 
a year after the 1909 surrender, the Band surrendered another parcel of its 
reserve land for sale to the Church of England.2jL As well, the land surren- 
dered in 1909 that remained unsold after the first auction was offered for 
sale again on June 7, 1911. h e r  that month, Chief The Key approached the 
agent inquiring when band members could expect interest money generated 
from the  ale.^'^ An interest payment of $10 per capita was paid to band 
members in January 1913,2j3 followed by a further distribution of interest 
funds in January 1914.2% 

We have discussed the post-surrender conduct of the Band in some detail, 
because, of necessity in our view, it assumes greater importance in circum- 
stances where the evidence surrounding the surrender itself is scarce or 
equivocal. Although we are not satisfied with the lack of evidence concerning 
events on the day of the surrender, we conclude that, in this case, the post- 
surrender conduct is consistent with the theory that all the proper surrender 
procedures were followed. Therefore, based on a l l  the evidence, including 
the Band's actions in pursuing the surrender, the existence of two apparently 
authentic signatures on the surrender document, and the post-surrender 
conduct of the Band, we conclude that the First Nation has not discharged 
the general burden upon it to establish that Canada did not comply with the 
surrender procedures of the Indian Act. 

ISSUE 3 WERE THE SHOAL RIVER INDIANS MEMBERS OF THE 
KEY BAND IN 1909? 

Were the Shoal River Indians members of The Key Band at the time of the 
surrender in 1909, and, if so, were they entitled to vote on the surrender? 

Membership and Eligibility to Vote 
Because the surrender provisions of the Indian Act require that a majority of 
male members of the Band over the age of 21 attend any surrender meeting, 

. i l  Surrmic,r The h Band 01 lnduti, Drrm>bcr 13 lJlU ,111: IJnrtolr.?a. 1111 iU I+1  
151 q.4 L'nufur~ lo  Illr \cTrt,lsq I l ~ ~ y r m . c n l  of Indim \nun. June !n. 141 1 ICC Ir~c~nanl.. p i O l l  
1 5 %  lndlan .Qent. Km<ark. a. thc Sc;rnu\., U~p%nmrnl of lndldn \Rurr J m l m  15. 1913 ,lCC D n i o m r n ~ ~  

,> i n * ,  ,.",. 
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it becomes important to determine whether the Shoal River Indians were 
members of The Key Band at the date of the surrender. As it appears from 
the historical evidence that the Shoal River Indians were followers of Chief 
The Key at one time, it must therefore be determined whether they achieved 
autonomy as a band prior to the date of surrender. If they did, then they 
would not have been members of The Key Band and, accordingly, would not 
have had any right to attend the surrender meeting or vote on the surrender. 
If they did not constitute a separate band by the relevant date (and were 
therefore members of The Key Band), then it is necessary to determine 
whether they were habitually resident on or near, and interested in, the 
reserve within the meaning of section 49(2) of the Act, since the latter 
requirement will further determine their eligibility to vote on the surrender. 
If they were eligible to vote according to the provisions of the Act, then the 
surrender is void, since it is not in dispute that they did not attend the sur- 
render meeting or vote on the surrender. The addition of their numbers to 
the eligible voting population would mean that the Act's majority voting 
requirements were not met. 

Autonomy 
The First Nation takes the position that the Shoal River Indians were "simply 
members of The Key Band who may not have resided on the Reserve," and 
that representatives of the department improperly excluded them from voting 
on the surrender."ls In support of this argument, counsel for the First Nation 
relies on several factors which, in his view, constitute evidence that the Shoal 
River Indians and the followers of Chief The Key at PeUy were in fact one 
band for the purposes of the Indian Act. 

First, counsel finds it significant that IR 65 was surveyed to include 38 
square miles, which, under the terms of Treaty 4, was approximately suffi- 
cient for both groups. He also states that, for many years, the department 
refused to give the Shoal River Indians their own reserve and expected them 
to relocate to Pelly.ZS6 AS well, when reserve land was finally set aside at 
Shoal River, several of the orders in council establishing the reserves 
referred to the land as having been surveyed for "the Band of Chief 'The 

~oeumenrs, pp .  14245)  
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Key"'257 and "The Key Band."z58 Counsel states that the division of the Band 
into two separate paylists in 1902 was an administrative convenience for the 
department, and not an acknowledgment of the Shoal River Indians' auton- 
omy as a band. He finds support for this argument in the view of Inspector 
Graham, who appeared to believe that an "order of the Department" was 
required to separate the original band into two autonomous b a n d ~ . ~ ~ 9  

Canada takes the opposite position on this issue and submits that, from at 
least 1882, The Key Band and the Shoal River Indians were two separate 
bands for the purposes of the Indian Act.Z" In support of this conclusion, 
counsel relies on the fact that the Shoal River Indians did not follow Chief 
The Key to the new reserve at Pelly in 1881, but instead requested that the 
department give them reserve land and pay them their annuities at Shoal 
River.z61 Counsel further points out that the Shoal River Indians petitioned the 
department for their own reserve at least three times: in 1882,262 in 1884:'j3 
and in 1885.2" He argues that, on these occasions, the Shoal River Indians 
repeated their desire to remain where they were, repudiated the leadership 
of Chief The Key, and disavowed any interest in the new reserve at Pell~."~ 

Counsel also states that the two groups diered ethnically, lived 90 miles 
apart, and pursued different economic livelihoods. He points out that, in 
1893, the Shoal River Indians were granted the use of a number of reserves 
around Shoal River. In 1902, the department placed the Shoal River Indians 
on a separate paylist entitled "Shoal River Band paid at Shoal River Reserve" 
and transferred responsibility for them to the Iake Manitoba Inspectorate, 
actions that, Canada submits, amounted to official recognition of their status 
as a separate band. Canada also submits that The Key Band at Pelly viewed 
itself as politically distinct from the members of the Shoal River group, as 
evidenced by the fact that the latter were not included in discussions con- 
cerning the 1903 surrender, and were expressly excluded by The Key Band 
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from any participation in the 1909 surrender  discussion^.^^ Counsel for 
Canada also points out that evidence from First Nation member William Pape- 
quash presented at the March 10, 1998, community session supports its sub- 
mission that the two groups were autonomous by 1909: 

Q. Do you h o w  if they got involved with each other's band councils ... did they ... 
get involved politically behveen the two bands? 

k Not that I can remember, like you could always leu them apart ... But no, I don't 
think ... they got logether politi~ally.~~' 

Counsel for Canada refers to the decision of this Commission in the Young 
Chipeewayan inquiry, in which we stated that a "band within the meaning of 
the Indian Act refers to a body of Indians who live as a "collective commu- 
nity" under the legislative scheme established by the Act. Based on the fore- 
going evidence, he submits that the followers of Chief The Key at Pelly and the 
Shoal River Indians did not exist as a "collective community" at the time of 
the 1909 surrender. As a result, counsel submits that the Shoal River Indians 
were an autonomous band and did not have the right to attend the surrender 
meeting or vote on the surrender of part of IR 65. 

The Commission notes that the Indian Act of the day did not provide for 
the division of one band into two separate and autonomous bands. Rather, 
since 1876, the Act has defined a "band" as 

... any tribe, band or body of Indians who own or are interested in a reserve or in 
Indian lands in common, of which the legal titie is vested in the Crown, or who share 
alike in the distribution of any annuities or interest moneys for which h e  Government 
of Canada is responsible ...'@ 

We have had occasion to comment on this definition in the Young 
Chipeewayan inq~iry ,~~9 in which we stated: 

In our view the term "band within the meaning of the Indian Act clearly refers to a 
body of Indians who live as a collective community under the auspices of that 
legi~lation.~''' 
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267 Submixion on Behalf of the Government of Canada, May 27, 1999, p. MI, clung IU: Communily Sersion, 

March 10, 1998, pp. 1 5 6 5 7  (Wil!iam Plpequash) (Exhibit 3). 
268 Indian Ad, RSC 1876, c. 18, as amended. 
269 IU:. Tbe Young Cbipewayan Inquiry info ibe Claim regarding Stone. K w U  Indian Resme No. 107 

(Otlawl. December 1994), (1995) 3 ICCP 175. 
110 LCC, Tbs Yarng Cbipewqan Inquirg inlo lbs Waim regarding Stow KnoU Indian Resem No 107 

(Otwm, December 1994), (1995) 3 ICCP 175 at 198. 



We are impressed in this case by the evidence indicating that the two groups 
- the followers of Chief The Key at Pelly and the Shoal River Indians - 
repeatedly communicated their intention to live separately as autonomous 
entities. As early as 1882, the Shoal River group presented a petition to the 
Indian Agent in which they repudiated the leadership of Chief The Key, dis- 
avowed any interest in IR 65, and requested that they be given their own 
reserve at Shoal River.271 Similar petitions From this group were forwarded to 
officials of the department in 1884 and 1 8 8 5 . 2 7 2  The evidence also indicates 
that, by January 1909 at the latest, the followers of Chief The Key did not 
consider the Shoal River Indians to be "shareholders in their Reserve" and 
were "quite contented to relinquish any claim they may have to the Shoal 
River 

The Department of Indian Affairs separated the two groups administra- 
tively in 1902, placing the Shoal River Indians on a separate paylist, paying 
them annuities in their community, and transferring responsibility for them to 
the Lake Manitoba Inspectorate. While this administrative action is signifi- 
cant, it is not in our view determinative. Rather, it appears to us that it is the 
intention of the band, or of the groups within a band, that must take priority 
in determining whether a single "band separated into two autonomous 
"bands" within the meaning of the Indian Act. 

In light of the above evidence, especially the evidence relating to the 
mutual intention of the two groups to live as autonomous entities, it cannot 
be said that the Shoal River Indians and the followers of Chief The Key consti- 
tuted a "collective community" of the kind contemplated in our previous 
decision in the Young Chipeewayan inquiry. As a result, we hold that the two 
groups were not one "band for the purposes of the Indian Act. 

In the event that we are wrong and that the two groups were one band for 
the purposes of the Indian Act, we will make a further determination regard- 
ing the eligibility of the Shoal River Indians to vote on a surrender pursuant 
to the residency requirements of the Act. 

271 John Beardie. Headman [and 17 alheo], lo Indian Agent, Treaty 4, August 26. 1882. NA, RG 10, val. 7770, 
fie 27117-2 (ICC Documents, pp. 109-10). 

272 John Beardie et al. to 1. Vankoughnpt, January 1, 1884. Nh RC 10, MI. 7770, Me 27227-2 (ICC Documenls, 
pp. 127-30); John Beudie, Headman land one orher], lo E. McCoU, Febmaq 20, 1885, Nh, RC 10, VOI. 3575, 
fie 215 (ICC Dacurnenb, pp. 1 3 8 4 1 ) .  

273 W.M. Graham lo Frank Pedley, January 21, 1909, NA, RC 10, ml. 4039, rde 329759 (ICC Documents, 
pp. 460-62). 
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Habitual Residence 
As we have seen, the Indian Act permits only those band members who 
habitually reside on or near, and are interested in, the reserve in question to 
vote on its surrender. 

The First Nation has not made any arguments with respect to the habitual 
residence of the Shoal River Indians, other than the general statement that 
the latter were improperly excluded from the surrender vote.z74 Canada, how- 
ever, has made several arguments in support of its position that the Shoal 
River Indians were precluded from voting on the surrender because they 
were not habitually resident on or near the reserve, as required by the Act. 

In Canada's view, the evidence clearly indicates that none of the Shoal 
River Indians lived "on" The Key Reserve, and, as a result, the only issue is 
whether they lived "near" it, within the meaning of the Act. Although this 
provision of the Indian Act has not been interpreted by the courts, counsel 
for Canada argues that "near" is a relative term and must be interpreted 
according to the particular circumstances of the case. In this case, according 
to counsel, the circumstances in question include "the lifestyle of the band 
members, the distances travelled by band members in accordance with this 
lifestyle, reliance by the Indians on the reserve in question for economic, 
social, or other purposes as well as the need to ensure an efficient means for 
a band to be able to surrender its reserve land."275 

Applying these principles, counsel submits that the evidence establishes 
that the Shoal River group did not reside "near" The Key reserve within the 
meaning of the Indian Act. His reasons in support of this hding include the 
fact that the lifestyle of the Shoal River Indians was largely centred around 
fishing in the Shoal River area, and that there is no evidence that they pur- 
sued their hunting and fishing lifestyle by travelling distances equal to the 
distance between their reserves and The Key reserve. Counsel also states that 
prior to the department's 1902 decision to pay annuities to the group at 
Shoal River, members of that group repeatedly complained about having to 
travel to The Key reserve for their payments. Moreover, they did not rely on 
The Key reserve for social, economic, or any other purpose by the time of the 
1909 surrender.z76 
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Based on the above evidence, it appears clear to this Commission that the 
Shoal River Indians did not have the right to vote on the 1909 surrender 
pursuant to section 49(2) of the Indian Act, which states: 

49(2). No Indian shall be entitled to vote or be present at such council, unless he 
habihlally resides on or near, and is interested in the reselve in question."' 

After an examination of various judicial authorities, we commented on the 
meaning of the term "habitually resides" in the recent Duncan's First Nation 

We concluded: 

In summary, we take from these authorities that an individual's "habitual" place of 
residence will be the location to which that individual customarily or usually returns 
with a sutficient degree of continuity to be properly described as settled, and will not 
cease to he habitual despite "temporary or occasional or casual absences." ... such 
residence entails "a regular physical presence which must endure for some time 
... .12n 

In the above inquiry, we also discussed the meaning of the word "near" 
within the context of section 49(2) of the Act. We determined that the con- 
cept was a relative one, to be decided on a case-by-case basis, having regard, 
among other things, to the general use of the reserve and the residence pat- 
terns of the band members.28o 

The evidence in this inquiry clearly establishes that the Shoal River Indians 
never Lived on IR 65, that until 1902 they travelled there only once a year to 
collect their annuities, and that after 1902 they made no use of the reserve at 
all. Furthermore, although the parties did not argue the point, we find it 
difficult to see how the Shoal River Indians can be considered to have been 
"interested in" IR 65 at the time of the surrender, having repeatedly dis- 
avowed any interest in it from 1882 forward. 

Therefore, as a result of all the above, we have determined that the Shoal 
River Indians were not entitled to vote on the surrender because they did not 
reside on or near, and were not interested in, IR 65 at the relevant time. 

",, .." "., .- .,"", .. "., ". .,\",. 
278 ICC, Duncan's Firsf NaIion Icquiry Repoe On: I928 Sumnder Claim(Mtlwa, Seplernber 1999). 
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ISSUE 4 DID CANADA BREACH ITS FIDUCIARY OBLIGATIONS TO 
THE KEY BAND? 

Did Canada have any pre-surrender fiduciary obligations to The Key Band 
and, if so, did Canada fulfil or did Canada breach any such fiduciary obliga- 
tions with respect to the surrender of 1909? 

In particular, was the surrender obtained as a result of undue iduence or 
misrepresentation? 

Nature of the Pre-surrender Fiduciary Duty 
In several of its prior inquiries involving allegedly wrongful surrenders, and 
most recently in the Duncan's First Nation ~laim,2~l the Commission has con- 
ducted extensive examinations of the legal authorities governing the fiduciary 
obligations of the Crown before the taking of a surrender of reserve land. 
Although this analysis will not be repeated in detail, it is useful to highlight 
the principles that have evolved from the courts' consideration of the above 
issue. 

Beginning with the decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in Guen'n v. 
The Queen, which established the principle that the Crown stands in a fiduci- 
ary relationship with aboriginal peoples, Canada has been required to con- 
duct itself according to a strict standard of conduct when a surrender of 
reserve land is obtained. As we stated in our report concerning the land 
surrender claim of the Kahkewistahaw First Nation: 

The Guerin case is instructive for two reasons: first, it determined that the relation- 
ship between the Crown and First Nations is fiduciary in nature; second, it clearly 
established the principle that an enforceable tlduciaq obligation will arise in relation 
to the sale or lease of reserie land by the Crown on behalf of, and for the benefit of, a 
band to a third partyJoUouring the surrender of reserve land to the Crown in trust. 
However, the Supreme Court of Canada was not called upon in Cuerin to address the 
question whether the Crown owed any fiduciary duties to the band prior lo the sur- 
render. That issue was not specifically addressed until Apsassin appeared on the 
Court's 

' he  decision of the Supreme Court in Apsassin v. The Queenza3 not only 
codrmed that Canada must conduct itself according to the high standards 

281 ICC, Duncan's Pirsi Nation Inquiry Report o s  1928 Surrender Inquiry (Ottawa, September 1999). 
i82 ICC. Inquiry into t k  1907 R e s m  Iand S U ~  Claim of lk ffibkmisrabaw first Nulion (OL11~h 

February 1997). (1998) 8 ICCP 3 at 76. 
283 Sub nom Bluebeny Ricer Indian &md a C a d  (Deport-I of lndim Affair mdNorl6em Deuelop- 

m l ) ,  [I9951 4 SCR 344. 119961 2 CmR 25, 130 DLR (4th) 193. 



required of a fiduciary in its dealings with a Band prior to the taking of 
surrender, but also set out the principles by which it would be determined 
whether that duty had been met. As the Commission stated in its report con- 
cerning the Moosomin surrender claim: 

The Court's comments on the question of pre-surrender Gduciary obligation may be 
divided into those touching on the contezr of the surrender and those concerning the 
substantive result of the surrender. The former concern whether the context and 
process involved in obtaining the surrender allowed the Band to consent properly to 
the surrender under section 49(1) and whether its understanding of the dealings was 
adequate. In the fouowing analysis, we will Grst address whether the Crown's dealings 
with the Band were "tainted and, if so, whether the Band's understanding and con- 
sent were aEected. We will then consider whether the Band dectively ceded or abne- 
gated its autonomy and decision-maldng power to or in favour of the Crown. 

The substantive aspects of the Supreme Court's comments relate to whether, given 
the facts and resuits of the surrender itself, the Governor in Council ought to have 
withheld its consent to the surrender under section 49(4) because the surrender 
transaction was foolish, improvident, or otherwise expl~itacive.~" 

As a result, it can be seen that the Court has established at least four distinct 
benchmarks by which Canada's conduct in the exercise of its pre-surrender 
fiduciary obligations will be measured: where a Band's understanding of the 
terms of the surrender is inadequate; where the conduct of the Crown has 
tainted the dealings in a manner that makes it unsafe to rely on the Band's 
understanding and intention; where the Band has abnegated its decision- 
making authority in favour of the Crown; and where the surrender is so fool- 
ish or improvident that it must be considered exploitative. 

In the application of the foregoing principles to the facts of this inquiry, 
we must also consider the question of the onus of proof. We have stated that, 
in accordance with the Specific Claims policy, the claimant bears the onus of 
establishing that Canada breached its lawful obligation in taking a surrender 
from the Band in 1909. This position is consistent with the "guiding princi- 
ple" referred to in the majority and minority judgments in Apsassin, mandat- 
ing that the decisions of aboriginal people with respect to the surrender of 
their lands be respected and honoured.z85 Notwithstanding the above, how- 
ever, McLacMn J (as she then was) pointed out that the trial judge was 

284 ICC, Inquiuity into the 1909 Resem Land Surrender Waim of Ibe M m n i n  Firs1 Nalion (Ollawa, March 
19971, (1998) 8 ICCP 101 at 18243. 

285 Blueb"y R i w  Indian &md v Canada ( D e p m n l  of Indian Affairs md Norlbem Development), 
119951 4 SCR 344, [I9941 2 CNLR 25, 130 DLR (4th) 193 at 358 (SCR) [majotitql, 371 [minotiryl. 
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correct in his view that a fiduciary involved in a contlict of interest "bears the 
onus of demonstrating that its personal interest did not benefit from its fidu- 
ciary 

The trial judge, Addy J, had drawn an analogy based on the fiduciary rela- 
tionship between the Crown and a band, on the one hand, and, on the other, 
the various "special" or "contidential" relationships that the law of contract 
recognizes as giving rise to a presumption that the stronger party has exerted 
iduence over the weaker. In the above situation, the law will require the 
stronger party to bear the onus of rebutting the presumption of undue 
iduence. 

In the context of a challenge to the validity of a surrender, however, Addy J 
stated: 

Finallv. even where there exists a swcial relationshio between the oarties. when an 
agreement in writing is bemg challGged and especdy an indentureaunde; seal such 
as the present one, it seems that there would have to be some thin^ more than a bare 
allegation of improper conduct before there is any duty on the $mn in the domi- 
nant position to adduce evidence to establish that he special duty was properly 
Wed."'  

Undoubtedly, the circumstances of each case will determine whether the 
above presumption arises, and, as a consequence, whether the onus has 
been shifted to Canada to rebut the allegation that it improperly exerted influ- 
ence to obtain the surrender. Justice McLachlin's judgment in Apsusssin, how- 
ever, appears to indicate that, in circumstances where Canada faces codict- 
ing political pressures in the form of preserving the land for the band, on the 
one hand, and, on the other, making it available for sale to other parties, 
Canada bears the onus of demonstrating that it did not breach its fiduciary 
duty to the band.m 

Findy, we are mindful that the above principles regarding the onus of 
proof, which were developed by the courts to provide equitable relief in cir- 
cumstances where it would be unfair to allow an agreement to stand, are 
subject to certain bars to relief. One circumstance in which the courts will 
decline to grant relief to a weaker party, despite the fact that undue iduence 
has been alleged or presumed, is where that party has a r m e d  the transac- 

2% Blue@ River Indian &md u. C a d  (DeparlmW of Indian Affairs and Northern Development), 
I15951 4 SCR 344, 119961 2 CNLR 21, 130 DLB (4th) 193 i t  379 (XU). 
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tion, once the possibility for undue intluence has ended.z89 In other words, 
the presumption may be rebutted by the weaker party's acquiescence after 
the fact. 

A discussion of the application of the above principles to the facts of this 
case follows. 

Inadequate Understanding 
In his judgment for the majority in the Apsassin case, Justice Gonthier wrote 
that he would have been "reluctant to give effect to this surrender variation if 
[he] thought that the Band's understanding of its terms had been inadequate, 
or if the conduct of the Crown had somehow tainted the dealings in a manner 
which made it unsafe to rely on the Band's understanding and intention."290 

The Key First Nation submit. that an Aquute understanding of the terms 
of a surrender, within the meaning contemplated by the Supreme Court in 
Apsassin, requires that a band give its informed consent to the s~rrender.~9' 
Based on the evidence in this case, counsel contends that The Key Band 
clearly could not have expressed any informed consent to the 1909 surren- 
der. First, he says that there is no evidence that the department ever 
explained to The Key Band all the relevant facts surrounding the surrender, 
or any of the other options available to it as an alternative to surrender, 
before the May 18, 1909, vote.29z Counsel has listed some of the information 
that he feels ought to have been provided to the Band: 

... the effect of a surrender; the option to give the surrender, or not to give the 
surrender, material background facts to the surrender, or legal advice; any technical 
advice about the agricultural or economic benefits or drawbacks of a surrender; that 
thev were eivine uo their riehts to the Indian reselve lands forever: that a surrender of " " =  
the'soa in question was p&nanent and irrevocable; the shoa o; long term implica- 
tions of a surrender; whether or not a surrender was in the best interests of the Band; 
the nature of the proposed surrender, its gravity, any material risks and any special or 
unusual risks; what ihe risks were in proceeding with a surrender or what the risks 
were in not proceeding with the surrender; whether it was more in the interests of the 
Band to seek an exchange of land; what the other options were for acquiring farm 
equipment (i.e. to lease some land to acquire any necessaty funds as a means of 
generating money to be used to assist the band or to purchase farm equipment, rather 

289 S.M. Waddms, Tbs Law o Conlracl, 44t ed. (Tomnla: Canada Law Book, 1999), paragraph 552, citing 
M&*h v. Kennv, 11939f3 DLR 556 (0111. SC). 
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than surrendering and selling the land); that the surrender was for the benefit of 
others; that the government was interested in taking the surrender to acquire Indian 
reserve land for non-Aboriginal settlement and not for the benefit of the Band; that the 
department may not have been able to get a good price for the land; or that Graham 
himself considered that the department should supply any farm equipment that the 
Band needed."' 

In Further support of his contention that the Band's understanding of the 
surrender and its consequences was inadequate, counsel points to the lack of 
any evidence that the surrender document was ever explained to the Band as 
a whole, or that the affidavit of May 19, 1909, was ever explained to Chief 
' he  

Furthermore, the Band points to the significance of the absence of an 
interpreter at the surrender meeting and the fact that Chief The Key marked 
the surrender affidavit on that occasion, especially since some band mem- 
bers, including Chief The Key, did not speak English. According to counsel 
for the First Nation, the fact that some band members in 1909 may have been 
able to speak some English does not imply that they could have adequately 
understood or translated the technical legal terms of a surrender docu- 
n ~ e n t . ~ ~ ~  In this context, counsel submits that there was an additional obliga- 
tion on the representatives of the department to ensure tkdt the Band 
received independent legal advice concerning the effect of a 

Finally, the First Nation takes the position that The Key Band's participa- 
tion in surrender discussions in 1903 does not imply that it had an adequate 
understanding of the 1909 surrender. In counsel's view, the fundamental 
nature of each of the two events was completely different, since the first sur- 
render contemplated a land exchange, whereas the latter concerned a sur- 
render for ~ a l e . ~ 9 ~  

Not surprisingly, Canada takes the position that The Key Band appreciated 
the nature and consequences of the 1909 surrender, in that its members 
understood that they were giving up forever all rights to the surrendered 
land.29 

In Canada's view, the most persuasive evidence in support of the position 
that the Band's understanding was adequate is found in three facts: first, 

293 Submission an Behalt ol The Kq. First Nation, April 20, 1999, vol. 2,  pp. 222-23. 
294 Submission on Behalt 01 The Key Rnt Nation, A p d  20, 1999, "01. 2, p. 222. 
295 Submission on Behalf 01 The Key First Nation. April 20, 1999, vol 2, pp. 223-25. 
296 Submission on Behalt ol The K e y  First Nation, A p d  20, 1999, vol. 2, p. 226. 
297 Reply Submissions on Behalf of The Key Bnt Nation, June 8. 1999, pp. 36-38. 
298 Submission on Behalt of the Cowmment 01 Canada, May 27, 1999, p. 72. 
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surrenders had been discussed with the Band since 1902-03; second, Chief 
The Key understood that a surrender involved a "taking" of reserve land; and, 
third, this knowledge formed the basis of the Chief's initial opposition to the 
1903 proposal.z99 Counsel for Canada also states that the failure to provide 
an interpreter did not constitute a breach of its fiduciary obligation, since the 
evidence indicates that band member George Brass (who was in attendance 
at the surrender meeting) was a noted interpreter for the 

In our consideration of the above issue, we note that the First Nation's 
submission emphasizes that The Key Band lacked the information, including 
independent legal advice, necessary for it to form an informed consent to the 
surrender. Because it was raised and discussed at trial in Apsmsin, this issue 
has acquired some significance in the context of the discharge of the onus of 
proof where undue intluence had been presumed owing to the existence of a 
"special relationship." 

First, given the remarks of Justice McLachlin in Apsmsin concerning the 
effect of contlicting political pressures on the Crown, it appears that Canada 
in this case bears the onus of establishing that it did not exert undue intlu- 
ence on the Band to obtain the surrender, and that the Band's understanding 
of the nature and effect of the surrender was adequate. The record in this 
inquiry clearly establishes that, at the time of the surrender, the government 
had in place a policy to free up unused Indian lands for non-aboriginal 
settlement. 

The proposition that Canada bears the onus of establishing that the Band's 
consent to the surrender was "informed was raised at trial in Apsassin. In 
this context, Justice Addy stated: 

[Clounsel for the plainMs .,. went on to state that, in view of the relationship existing 
behveen the parties, it was now incumbent upon the defendant to prove positively rhat 
some 16 matters ... had been explained to the Band before informed consent could 
be found to have existed and that, failing the discharge of this burden, the plaintiffs 
would succeed. In the Erst place, 1 totally reject the argument that all these matters 
had to be explained. Many of them are redundant or irrelevant, others would obvi- 
ously be known to the Indians, and others would be required only if they were not 
only dependant persons but actually non cmpos mentis, in which case no consent 
could validly be obtained. In the second place, it would be manifestly ludicrous to 
require now, 40 years after the event, when all of the p e r s m  who might have given 

?1r Slbmlra~n do kl~t'f 01 the iosrrn~n.tti <I Lanalll ,  May 17. 149 .  pp '2 - 2 3  
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advice ate either deceased or t w  senile to test& that the defendant establish posi- 
tively that advice was given on all these matters." 

Given that the events which form the basis For The Key First Nation's claim 
occurred more than 90 years ago, we adopt the approach articulated by Jus- 
tice Addy. We do not require that Canada, in order to discharge the burden 
upon it, establish by positive evidence that advice was given on all the matters 
referred to earlier by counsel for the First Nation. We are supported in this 
view by our review of both judgments of the Supreme Court in Apsassin, 
which, whde not specifically addressing the foregoing issue, make clear that 
the burden on Canada is not as onerous as alleged by counsel for the First 
Nation. 

This determination does not dispose of the issue, however. The test articu- 
lated by Addy J in Apsmsin, and approved by Justice Gonther in the Supreme 
Court, requires us to determine whether the evidence establishes that the 
eligible voting members of the Band understood that, by the surrender, they 
were giving up forever all rights to their reserve?02 In the recent Duncan's 
inquiry, we determined that the relevant factors to be examined in the course 
of the above determination included whether the Band had been aware of the 
surrender plan for some time before the event, and whether the matter 
appeared to have been discussed and the terms negotiated before the v0te.3~3 

In the current inquiry, Canada has adduced evidence that the Band had 
discussed, and that a majority of its members had voted in favour of, a sur- 
render of the same land in 1903. The earlier proposal had also contemplated 
a sale of certain portions of the reserve to fund the acquisition of agricultural 
implements.3" At that time, Chief The Key voted against the proposal, fearing, 
according to Agent Carruthers, that "it was the thin edge of the wedge, and 
that his whole Reserve would ultimately be taken from hi1n."3~j Subsequently, 
according to the agent, the Chief acknowledged that the plan was for the 
good of the Band. This change in view indicates to us that Chief Tne Key, who 
was still Chief in 1909, understood not only the nature and effect of the 
proposed 1903 surrender but also its terms, which, with the exception of the 

301 Apmsin u. Camda (Deplrfmnf oflndian AffainmdNodhemMlopmenf), 119881 3 FC 20 at 65 (TD). 
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exchange portion, were substantially similar to the terms of the surrender at 
issue in this inquiry. 

There is also evidence that the Band apparently initiated surrender discus- 
sions with Agent Blewen in July 1908, and that the terms of the surrender (in 
particular the amount of the immediate payment) were renegotiated by the 
Band during a meeting with Inspector Graham in January 1909.3" As well, it 
appears that, in April 1909, members of the Band inquired of the department 
when the surrender would be taken.'07 

On the basis of the above, we conclude that the Band's understanding of 
the nature, effect, and terms of the surrender was adequate, and, as a result, 
we hold that Canada has discharged the burden upon it. In the alternative, we 
note that band members appeared to a r m  the surrender by actions taken 
long after any undue iduence could still have been in existence. These 
actions include a request made in June 1911 by Chief The Key and the 
Headmen of the Band for interest payments accruing from the sale proceeds 
of the surrendered 1and.m As a result, Canada has not breached its fiduciary 
duty to the Band on this ground. 

Tainted Dealings 
As discussed earlier in this report, Justice Gonthier, writing for the majority 
in Apsassin, indicated that he would be reluctant to give effect to a surrender 
if the conduct of the Crown had somehow tainted the dealings in a manner 
that made it unsafe to rely on the Band's understanding and intention. In this 
case, The Key First Nation has argued that a number of circumstances sur- 
rounding the taking of the surrender amount to "tainted dealings" within the 
meaning contemplated by Justice Gonthier, and that, as a result, Canada 
breached the fiduciary duty it owed to the Band. 

First and foremost, the First Nation submits that it was not in the best 
interests of the Band that the land be surrendered and sold. Although the 
express justifications for the surrender were that the quantity of reserve land 
was in excess of the Band's needs, and that capital was required to purchase 
implements, counsel for the First Nation submits that the evidence does not 
support these reasons.3w To the contrary, the evidence, in his view, indicates 

3% W.M. Gnham lo Frank Pedley, Janualy 21, 1909, Nh RG LO, vol. 4039, Rle 329759 (ICC Documents, pp. 
4 M 2 ) .  

307 W.G. Blewett to J.D. McLean, Apd 19, 1909, NA, RG 10, MI. 4039, fie 329759 (1% Documena, p. 469). 
308 AA. Crawford lo Secrelq,  D e p m e n t  of I n d i i  AEairs, June 28, 1911 (ICC Documents, p. 508). 
309 Submhsron on Behalf af The Key First Nation, April 20, 1 5 9 ,  vd. 2,  pp. 23638. 
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that the Band was self-sufficient, that it was actively engaged in stock raising, 
and that it was purchasing its own implements. 

The evidence referred to consists of information provided by departmental 
officials of the day. For example, Agent Blewett's March 1909 report stated 
that "these Indians have almost all the necessary implements, and are buying 
all needed from their own re~ources ."J~~ Counsel for the First Nation points 
out that Blewett's report of the following year, which followed the surrender 
but predated the sale of the surrendered land, was essentially to the same 
effect.3" As well, the "Land Sales Research report?l2 prepared for the Com- 
mission in July 1998, appears to indicate that only a fraction of the proceeds 
generated by the sale of the surrendered lands was actually spent on imple- 
ments and related expenditures. 

Similarly, the notion that the Band had too much land for its own use is 
contradicted, in the First Nation's view, by evidence such as Agent Jones's 
warnings of 18953L3 and 18993L4 of anticipated hayland shortages due to the 
increasing numbers of livestock. Also seen as significant by the First Nation is 
the department's 1904 advice to Agent Carruthers to the effect that it might 
not be prudent to surrender the eastern portion of the reserve (as proposed 
in 1903) because the original surveyor had appeared to believe that the land 
contained hay swamps useful to stock growers.31r Moreover, counsel finds it 
suspicious that Inspector Graham's memorandum of January 1906, stating 
that the Band had "sufficient l a n d  for its purposes, made no mention of an 
excess of land, yet in 1908 Graham advised his superiors that a surrender 
would still leave the Band with more land than it could ever use.316 

Another factor that the First Nation considers to be evidence of "tainted 
dealings" within the meaning of Apsmsin was the 1906 amendment to the 

310 Submission on Behalf of The Key First Nation, A p d  20, 1999, "01, 2,  pp. 256, citinj W.G. Blouett. "Annual 
Report." March 3, 1909, Cvladl Parliament, Sessional P@R 1910, Depament a hhan Mars, "Annual 
Repon." 1909 (ICC DocmenB. p. 468). 

311 Submisjan on Behalf of The Key Firs1 Nation, April 20, 1999, vol. 2, p. 258, cilinf W.G. Blewen to Frank 
Pedley, i\pd 11, 1910, Canada, Barlimenl, Sessional Paprs,  1911, Department o hdlan &urs. "Annual 
Report: 1910 (ICC Docwnenct, p. 494). 

312 Public Hislory hc., 'The Key Band 1909 Surrender Land Sales Research." July 1998 (ICC Exhibit 7). 
313 Submission on Behalf of The Kq. First Naion, A p d  20, 1999, vol. 2 ,  p. 266, citing W.E. Jones to D S G k  March 

28, 1895 (ICC Docmenu, pp. 269-71). 
314 Submission on Behalf of The Key First Nation, A p d  20, 1999, MI. 2, p. 267, citing W.E. Jones to C ~ o f d  Slftan, 

August 30, 1899, Canada, Parliunent, SeSSi0~l Papers.1900, No. 9, Depament of Indian h8dirs. "Annual 
Repon," 1899 (ICC Docmenu, pp. 3 W I ) .  

315 Submission on Behalf of The Key First Nation, A p d  20, 1999, vol. 2. pp. 267-68. ciling H A .  Carruthers lo 
David Laird, December 21, 1903, NA, RG LO, vol. 3561, file 82/1 (ICC DacumenU, pp. 35b64). 

316 Submission on Behalf of The Key Pint Nation, April 20, 1999, MI. 2. pp. 27&74, citing W.M. Graham to 
Seeretuy, Deplment  of Indian A5in, January 18, 1906, NA, RG 10, vol. 7770, file 27117-2 (ICC DocumenU, 
p. 439); W.M. G B h a m  to Secretq,  Oeparlment of Indian Aflain, A u p t  13, 1908, Nb RG 10, vol. 4039. fie 
329759 (ICC Docmenls, pp. 455-56). 
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Indian Act, which changed the maximum amount of the immediate and 
direct payment that could be made to band members on a land surrender 
from 10 to 50 per cent of the purchase price of the land. According to the 
First Nation, this amendment was openly intended to induce land surrenders 
in order to facilitate non-aboriginal settlement, a policy reiterated in Deputy 
Superintendent General Pedley's Annual Report for 1 9 0 8 . 3 1 7  

Furthermore, Inspector Graham acknowledged that he had "persuaded 
the Band to surrender 17 sections of land instead of the 13 originally con- 
templated, an action which the First Nation submits is evidence of an attitude 
that favoured the promotion of surrenders over the best interests of the 
B a n d . 3 I 8  The First Nation also points out that Graham offered the Band a cash 
inducement of $100 per capita at the very meeting at which this "persuasion" 
had taken place. As a result, in the First Nation's view, Canada failed in its 
duty to properly manage the competing interests of the Band, on the one 
hand, and, on the other, the promoters of non-aboriginal agricultural 
~ettlement.~I9 

In summary, the First Nation submits that all the foregoing circumstances 
"add up to an overwhelming indication that tainted dealings surrounded the 
purported surrender" of The Key reserve in 1 9 0 9 .  As a result, counsel con- 
cludes that, in the spirit of Justice Gonthier's remarks in Apsassin, it would 
be unsafe to rely on the apparent intention of the Band at the time. 

In contrast, Canada argues that a close examination of all the factors rele- 
vant to this issue leads to the conclusion that its conduct did not amount to 
"tainted dealings" of the type contemplated by Justice Gonthier. 

First, counsel for Canada submits that the surrender was initiated by the 
Band itself in July 1908, in the absence of pressure from any third parties or 
from Canada. In his view, the evidence indicates that the Band restated its 
intention to surrender the land to the department in January 1909, and again 
in April 1909.320 He points out that there exists no evidence of a "concerted 
campaign" or "continual barrage" of local and departmental pressure, as 

317 Submission on Behallof The Key Firs1 Nation, April 20, 1'39, vol, 2, pp. 2 4 6 4 8 ,  citing Frank Oliver, June 15, 
1906, Canada, House of Commons, Debates, 1906, vol. 111 (ICC Documents, pp. 423-30); Frank Pedley in 
Canada, .Sessional &pm, 1909, Department of Indim AKzirs, " h u a l  Repon: 1908 (ICC Documents, 
p. 445). 

318 Submission on Behdf of The Key First Nation, Apd 20, 1999, MI. 2, pp  249-50, citing W.M. Graham lo Frank 
Pedley,Jmuary 21, 1909, NA, RG 10, val. 4039, fde 329759 (ICC Documenrs, pp, 460-62). 

319 Submission on Behall of The Key F k l  NaLon, April 20, 1999, val. 2, pp. 3 0 4 4 1 .  
320 Submission m Behllfaf the Government of Canada, May 27, 1999, p. 76, citing W.C. ffleweu lo Department of 

Indian Hairs, July 24, 1908. NA. RG 10, 701. 4039, Me 329759 (ICC Documents. p. 454); W.M. Grahm to 
mnk Pedley, January 21, 1909, NA, RG 10, vol. 4039, i& 329759 (ICC Documents, pp. 460-62); W.G. Blwen 
lo J.D. M c h ,  April 19, 1909, NA, RG 10. val. 4039, Me 329759 (ICC Documents, p. 469). 
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was found to exist in the Moosomin and Kahkewistahaw inquiries conducted 
by this Commission, but only a single request from Dr Cash, the local MP.jZ1 
Sigmflcantly, in Canada's view, Deputy Superintendent General Pedley did not 
pursue the matter with the Band as a result of Dr Cash's letter, but instead 
disposed of his inquiry in a fairly summary fashion. 

Furthermore, Canada states that the surrender vote was not timed or 
staged to obtain a technical consent Erom the Band. Counsel points out that 
the vote took place almost a year after the Band's initial request, and that, at 
the time of the vote, The Key Band was not poor, starving, or without effective 
leadership.jz2 Counsel also submits that the Band, and not Inspector Graham, 
initiated the increase in the proposed cash advance (from $80 to $100 per 
capita) at the pre-surrender meeting in January 1909. As a result, he argues 
that the cash advance could not have been an improper inducement?23 

As well, Canada takes the position that Inspector Graham's action in "per- 
suading" the Band to surrender 17 sections instead of the original 13 cannot 
be considered coercive or an example of undue influence because the actual 
vote took place four months after the "persuasion" in question. Further, 
counsel submits that the actions or motivations of Inspector Graham in other 
surrenders should be considered irrelevant, since the issues in this case 
should be decided solely on the basis of the facts before the Commission in 
this inqui1y.3~~ 

Finally, Canada submits that the post-surrender conduct of the Band is 
consistent with the conclusion that its members truly intended to consent to 
the surrender. The conduct in question includes a subsequent surrender, the 
lack of any reported contemporaneous objections, and repeated requests 
concerning receipt of the proceeds of sale of the surrendered land.j2' 

In conclusion, Canada submits that there were no "tainted dealings" sur- 
rounding the 1909 surrender such that the Band's understanding and intent 
were impaired in any way. 

In the Kahkewistahaw, Moosomin, and Duncan's inquiries, we looked at 
the manner in which the Crown managed competing interests to determine 
whether a breach of the fiduciary duty had occurred. Keeping in mind our 
earlier comments about the onus of proof, our consideration of this issue 

321 Submission on Behall of [he Gowmment of Canada. May 27. 1999, p. 75. 
3Z Submission on Behalf of the Gowmment of Canada, May 27, 1999, pp. 77-78. 
323 Submission an Behall of !he Gowrnrnent of Canada, May 27, 1999, p. 80, citing W.M. Gnham KI Frank Pedley, 

January 21, 1909 (ICC Documenls, pp. M42). 
324 Submission on Sehall of the Gwemmenl of Canada. May 27. 1999, p. 79. 
321 Submission on Behall of the Government of Cmda. May 27, 1999, pp. 78-79. 
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will involve a determination of whether Canada has established that it acted 
honourably and in the best interests of the Band when it obtained the 
surrender. 

In this inquiry, as in past inquiries, we find instructive the criteria set out 
by the trial judge in Apsassin in his determination that the dealings in that 
case were not tainted. These criteria include whether the Band knew for 
some time that an absolute surrender was contemplated; whether the matter 
had been discussed by the Band and officials of the department on several 
occasions; whether the Band members had discussed the matter among 
themselves; whether the matter had been EuUy discussed at the surrender 
meeting; whether there was evidence that Canada attempted to inhence the 
Band at or before the surrender meeting; whether representatives of the 
department had explained the consequences of surrender to the Band; and 
whether the band members understood that, by surrendering, they were for- 
ever giving up all rights in their land in exchange for money. 

In the matter before us, it is apparent that the evidence does not include 
any details of the events which took place at the surrender meeting. We note, 
however, that surrender discussions between the Band and either the agent 
or Inspector Graham had taken place on at least three occasions over a 
period of ten months before the actual surrender meeting, and that those 
discussions were apparen$ initiated by the Band. We are aware that Inspec- 
tor Graham reported in January 1909 that he had "persuaded the Band to 
surrender 17 sections of land instead of the 13 originally contemplated. At 
the same meeting, however, it appears that the Band negotiated an increase 
in the payment to be received immediately after execution of the surrender 
from $80 to $100 per capita. Such bargaining indicates to us that both par- 
ties renegotiated the terms of the surrender to their advantage. In previous 
inquiries in which the Commission has held that Canada's conduct amounted 
to "tainted dealings" within the meaning of Apsassin, we have at times seen 
evidence of a concerted and sustained campaign of pressure brought to bear 
on the Band by departmental officials over a period of years. In the current 
inquiry, the evidence does not suggest that Canada engaged in such conduct. 
Rather, it appears that departmental officials dropped the subject of surren- 
der in 1903-04 after the land proposed to be exchanged for the surrendered 
land was no longer available. Further, unlike the situation in Kahkewistahaw, 
where pressure was brought to bear on the Band by virtually every figure of 
authority in the local community over a 22-year period, the evidence before 
us in this inquiry indicates that the department received only one isolated 



I N D I A N  C L A I M S  C O M M I S S I O N  P R O C E E D I N G S  

request concerning the possible surrender of the land, a request that Deputy 
Superintendent General Pedley disposed of in a summary fashion. 

We are aware of the policy of the government of the day to permit surren- 
ders in situations where the department considered that a band was holding 
land in excess of its needs. This policy, which appeared to be in furtherance 
of a concurrent policy to encourage non-aboriginal agricultural settlement, 
arguably placed Canada in a position of conaict of interest of the type con- 
templated by Justice McLacachlin in Apsussin. As a result, Canada bears the 
onus of establishing that it discharged its duty to ensure that its dealings with 
the Band were conducted honourably. Based on all the foregoing, and espe- 
cially in the absence of the kind of coercive behaviour referred to above, we 
conclude that Canada has discharged the onus on it to establish that its deal- 
ings with the Band were not "tainted within the meaning of Apsussin. As a 
result, Canada did not breach its fiduciary duty to the Band on this basis. 

Cession or Abnegation of Decision-Making Power 
The Key First Nation relies on the reasoning of this Commission in the Sumas 
inq~iry3~"in which we adopted the views of Justice McLachlii in Apsassin) 
that it is necessary to look behind the ostensible consent of the Band to 
determine whether any unfair advantage has been taken of the Band as a 
result of its relative vulnerability vis-a-vis the Crown. Applying this test to the 
facts of the present inquiry, counsel for the First Nation submits that the Band 
was manipulated into surrendering its land - in effect, ceding its decision- 
making power to the C r o ~ n . 3 ~ ~  

The primary argument offered by the First Nation in support of this allega- 
tion concerns the fact that the surrender documents were apparently exe- 
cuted by someone other than the members of the Band. This fact, in conjunc- 
tion with the absence of any evidence concerning what transpired at the 
surrender meeting, must lead, in counsel's view, to an inference that "Canada 
assumed the power of The Key First Nation over whether or not a portion of 
the Indian reserve of The Key First Nation would be s~rrendered."3~~ Accord- 
ing to the First Nation, Canada's representatives were therefore subject to a 
speciGc fiduciary duty to act solely in the best interests of the Band, a duty 
they breached by also considering the interests of non-aboriginal settlers. In 

326 ICC, Sums Indian Band: 1919 Sunolder of Indiun Resene No. 7 lquiry (Onam, Augusl 19971, (1998) 8 
LCCP 28 1. 

327 Submission on Behalf of The Key Fin1 Nalion, April 20, 1999, vol. 2. p. 331. 
328 Submission on Behalf of The Key Fist Nation. April 20. 1999, vol. 2, pp. 331-32. 
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this context, the First Nation once again relies on all the foregoing arguments 
raised in relation to the subject of "tainted dealings." 

Canada's perspective on this issue is that the evidence does not support 
the contention that the Band abnegated or entrusted its power of decision 
over the surrender to the Crown, for several reasons. First, counsel for 
Canada states that the subject of surrenders had been discussed with this 
Band for seven years, and that the 1909 surrender had been discussed with it 
for ten months before the vote. Second, the evidence, in counsel's submis- 
sion, indicates that The Key Band initiated the surrender discussions and met 
with various departmental officials on at least three occasions before the vote 
to discuss the merits and terms of the proposed surrender. Third, Canada 
relies on its prior arguments regarding "adequate understanding" and 
"tainted deahngs" as support for the submission that the Band understood 
the consequences of the surrender before the vote, and that Canada did not 
coerce the Band into executing the surrender. Fourth, Canada submits that 
the Band had effective leadership at the time of the surrender, as Chief The 
Key had previously proven himself capable of voting against a surrender that 
be felt was not in the best interests of the Band. Finally, Canada takes the 
position that the post-surrender conduct of the Band confirms that the Band 
intended to surrender its land, since it was interested in obtaining the pro- 
ceeds of ~ale.3~9 In conclusion, Canada submits that The Key Band did not 
cede to the Crown its power to consent to the 1909 surrender. 

It has generally been acknowledged that the judicial basis for this aspect 
of the pre-surrender fiduciary duty is to be found in the judgment of McLach- 
lin J in Apsassin. In her judgment, she drew on several Supreme Court deci- 
sions dealing with the law of fiduciaries in the private law context: 

Generally speaking, a fiduciary obligation arises where one person possesses unilat- 
eral power or discretion on a maner aEecting a second "peculiarly vulnerable" per- 
son: seeFramv. Smitb, I19871 2 SCR 99 [[I9881 1 CNLR 152 (abridged version)]; 
Norberg u. Wynrib, 119921 2 SCR 226; and Hodgkinson v. Simms, [19943 3SCR 
377. The vulnerable party is in the power of rhe party possessing the power or discre- 
tion, who is in turn obligated to exercise that power or discretion solely for the 
benefit of the vulnerable party. A person cedes (or more ojenfinds himev in the 
situation where someone eke has ceded for him) his power over a maner to 
another person. The person who has cedad power imIs the person to whom power 

329 Submission on Behalf of the Government af Cmada, May 27, 1999, pp 9G91. 
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is ceded ~o exercise the power with loyalty and care. This is the notion at the heart of 
the Educiary obligati~n.)~ 

In the Kahkewistahaw and Moosomin inquiries, one of the most siflcant 
factors causing us to conclude that the bands in those inquiries had ceded 
power of consent to the Crown was the state of the Bands' leadership at the 
time of surrender. In Kahkewisthaw, we found that surrender proposals had 
been repeatedly rejected by the Band as long as Chief Kahkewistahaw was 
alive, but that soon after his death, and at a time when the Band had no 
strong leader, it reversed its position and consented to the surrender. Simi- 
larly, in Moosomin, we held that the vacuum in the Band's leadership at the 
time of the surrender contributed significantly to the cession or abnegation of 
its decision-making power in granting consent to the surrender of its reserve 
lands. The facts of the present inquiry t i e r  significantly from the above, in 
that Chief The Key, who had voted against the 1903 surrender proposal 
reportedly on the basis that he thought it would lead to the whole reserve 
being "taken" from hirn,33'  was still Chief of the Band at the time of the 1909 
surrender. As a result, we see no evidence that The Key Band was powerless 
at the relevant time in the way that characterized the hands in the earlier 
inquiries. 

Similarly, we see no evidence of persistent attempts on the part of depart- 
mental officials to secure a surrender despite all obstacles, nor any evidence 
that the members of the Band were in any way resigned to the inevitability of 
the event. Rather, the evidence indicates that band members initiated surren- 
der discussions; that they renegotiated one of its terms in their favour; that 
they made inquiries of the agent as to when the surrender might be expected; 
and, after the fact, that they took an interest in the receipt of the sale pro- 
ceeds. As a result, we conclude that The Key Band did not cede or abnegate 
its decision-making power regarding the surrender to or in favour of the 
Crown. 

Exploitative Bargain 
The First Nation submits that the 1909 surrender of a portion of The Key 
Reserve was "exploitative" within the meaning contemplated by the Supreme 
Court of Canada in the Apsussin case. In the words of Justice McLachlin: 

130 BIuebeny R i m  Indim &md u C a d  ( D B p r M  cf Jndian Aff#irs and Norlbem Demlopmenl) 
(19951, 119951 4 SCR 344. I19961 2 CNLR 25. 130 DLR (4th) 193 at 371-72 (SCR). McLachPnJ. Emphasis 
added. 

311 HA. Car~lhers lo DaMd Laird, Much 11,  1904, NA, RG 10, wl. 3561, fie 82/1 (ICC Docurnenvl, pp. 36-72) ,  
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It follows that under the Indian Act, the Band had the right lo decide whether to 
surrender the resetve, and its decision was to be respected. At the same time, if the 
Band's decision was foolish or improvident - a decision that constituled exploitation 
- the Crown could refuse to consent. In short, the Crown's obligation was limited to 
preventing exploitative bargains.33z 

The First Nation takes the position that the surrender in this case was foolish 
and improvident because it lacked foresight or concern for the future of the 
Band. In counsel's view, there was no good economic or agricultural reason 
for the Band to have surrendered the land, since the evidence indicates that it 
was self-sufficient in cattle raising and that the majority of the surrendered 
land was either arable or useful for grazing.333 Counsel further submits that a 
surrender of some 11,500 acres, amounting to nearly one half of the reserve, 
would inevitably have a negative impact on the Band's agricultural future, 
especially since there existed no equivalent lands for which the surrendered 
land could he exchanged. As a result, the First Nation concludes that the 
surrender can only he considered exploitative, especially since departmental 
officials had consistently taken the view that the Band's future agricultural 
prospects were promising. Therefore, in the First Nation's opinion, the Gov- 
ernor in Council was subject to a fiduciary obligation to refuse to consent to 
the ~urrender.33~ 

For its part, Canada takes the position that the surrender was not 
"exploitative," as that term has been defined by the Supreme Court, hut 
rather was "entirely reasonable when viewed from the perspective of the 
Band at the time." Counsel for Canada frames the test in the following terms: 

Can it be said, at the time and from the Band's perspective, that the surrender made 
some sense?)" 

To answer this question, counsel submits that a number of factors must be 
reviewed: the use of the land prior to surrender; the quantity and quahty of 
the remaining land in the context of the Band's perceived needs and inter- 
ests; the demographics of the Band; the views of contemporary officials; the 
Band's existing and contemplated way of Me; and the potential benefits asso- 
ciated with the surrender. 

332 BIuebeny R i w  Indion Bond v Canada (Oepmtment of Indian Affairs and Nortbem &uclopmenl). 
119951 4 SCR 344, 119961 2 CNLR 25, 130 DM (4th) 193 at 370-71 (SCC). 

333 Submission on Behalf of The K q  Rst Nation, April 20, 1999. vol. 2. pp. 323-24. 
334 Submission on Behalf of The Key First Nation, April 20, 1999, ual. 2, p. 328. 
331 Submission an Behllf of the Government of Culada, May 27, 1999, pp. 81- 82. 
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Applying these factors to the evidence presented in this case, Canada sub- 
mits that the surrender was not exploitative. First, counsel point. out that the 
quantity of land remaining after the surrender sigmilcandy exceeded the 
treaty land entitlement of the band members resident on it, since the Shoal 
River Indians never followed Chief Key to the new re~erve.~~"econd, Canada 
relies on the report of Serecon Valuation and Agricultural Consulting Inc., 
prepared at the request of the Commission, to the effect that the surrender 
did not reduce the productive capacity of the reserve on a per acre basis. In 
other words, the surrender did not have the effect of taking only the best 
la11d.33~ 

In addition, counsel for Canada submits that, on the evidence, the surren- 
dered lands were not used by the Band for economic or residential purposes 
before the surrender. In support of this argument, he cites a Local history of 
the Band which indicates that the majority of the Band had moved to the 
centre of the reserve by 1908.3% Further, Agent Blewett's report of July 24, 
1908, indicated that the proposed surrender would not cut off any buildings 
or improvements;339 similarly, Inspector Graham's report on the pre-surren- 
der meeting advised that the land in question was not being n ~ e d . 3 ~ ~  

Counsel further states that, although the Band was beginning to make 
steady agricultural progress in the years leading up to the surrender, its pre- 
dominant economic activities at that time were hunting and freighting. As a 
result, there may not have been a pressing need for implements in 1904, 
when Inspector Graham reported that the department would furnish enough 
for the Band's needs. In the years that followed, however, the evidence indi- 
cates the development of a gradual trend towards farming as a way of life.341 
In Canada's submission, the Band would then have required capital to 
acquire additional implements. Confirmation that further equipment was 
required and purchased to meet the Band's expanding farming activities can 

336 Submiss~on on Behalf of the Government of Canada, May 27, 1999, pp. 82-83. 
131 Submisston an Behalf of he Government of Caoada, Mzy 27, 1999, p. 84, citing Serecon Valuation and Agncul- 
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be found, according to counsel, in the annual reports from 1910 through 
1913.4L2 

Finally, Canada submits that, after the surrender, The Key Band, compris- 
ing 80 to 90 people, was left with more than 8,000 acres of arable land, 
nearly 2,000 acres of marginally arable land, and ahnost 5,000 acres of land 
suitable for past~re.3~3 Counsel argues that this quantity was sufficient to pro- 
vide for the Band's existing and foreseeable needs, with the result that the 
surrender cannot have been exploitative. 

Our decision on this issue is guided by the reasoning of the trial judge in 
Apsassin, which was approved in the Supreme Court of Canada. On the facts 
in Apsassin, Addy J had found that the decision to surrender the reserve 
made good sense when viewed from the perspective of the Band at the time. 
In her judgment in Apsassin, Justice McLachlin concurred, reasoning that a 
band's decision to surrender its reserve was to be respected, unless its deci- 
sion was so foolish and improvident that it constituted exploitation. If the 
decision was exploitative, however, the Governor in Council, acting pursuant 
to the surrender provisions of the Indian Act, was obliged to withhold its 
consent. 

In our prior inquiries into the surrenders of the Kahkewistahaw and 
Moosomin reserves, we adopted the notion that the determination whether 
the bargain was exploitative was to be made from the perspective of the band 
at the time OF surrender. Furthermore, in the Duncan's inquiry, we held that 
even if the decision to surrender would today be considered misguided, the 
Crown would not be guilty of a breach of its fiduciary duty under this heading 
if, at the time, it acted honestly and in what it perceived to be the Band's 
best interests. 

In all the above three inquiries, the determination of this issue largely 
revolved around the impact of the surrender on the respective bands' way of 
Life and, in particular, on their ability to make a Living from agriculture: For 
example, in Kahkewistahaw, we held that the surrender was exploitative since 
it had the effect of taking 90 per cent of the arable land located within the 
reserve. In Moosomin, the Band surrendered its entire reserve of prime 
farming land in exchange for land of inferior quality elsewhere, a transaction 

342 Submission on Behalf of the Government of Canada, May 27, 19-39, p. 88, citing W.G. Blewen to Frank Pedlqi, 
April 11, 1910, Canada. Parliament. Sesrionol P o p s ,  1911, Department of India Atlain, " h u a l  Repon: 
1910 (ICC Documents, p. 4%); Public History Inc., "The K q i  Band 1909 Surrender Lmd Sales Research: July 
1998, MI. 1, table 3. pp. 35, 37, 38 (ICC Exhibit 7). 

343 Submission on Behalf d the Cavernment of Canada. May 27. 19-39, p. 88, citing Serecon Valuation and Agncul- 
lord Consulting hc, An H~ioric Agmmic Valuation o/lndian R e m  Lank Key Idhn R e s m  No 65, 
Sosba~rcbewan (September 1998) 
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that, in our view, was clearly foolish and improvident. In the Duncan's 
inquiry, however, after asking ourselves whether the land remaining after the 
surrender would be sufficient to satisfy the Band's existing and foreseeable 
agricultural needs, we concluded that the surrender could not be considered 
exploitative in the context of the time. 

It appears that the issue of whether The Key surrender constituted an 
"exploitative bargain" within the meaning of Apsassin will likewise be deter- 
mined by reference to the economic activities of the Band and the quality and 
quantity of reserve land surrendered. The evidence in this inquiry indicates 
that the surrender took nearly one half of the land comprising the reserve, 
and that all the surrendered land was arable or suitable for grazing. The 
evidence also indicates that, after 1900, there was a gradual shift in the 
Band's economic activities horn hunting and freighting to agriculture, espe- 
cially among its younger members. The land remaining in the reserve after 
the surrender was more or less equal in quality to the land that had been 
surrendered, according to an expert's report. It is also apparent that the 
Band, numbering some 80 to 90 individuals, was cultivating approximately 
100 acres of land at the time of the surrender, and that, after the surrender, 
some 8,000 acres of arable land, plus more than 5,000 acres of grazing land, 
remained in its control. This reasoning is not meant to convey any suggestion 
that the Crown may j u s ~  a surrender by the mere fact that the land remain- 
ing in a reserve after the surrender is sufficient to Fulfil, or in fact exceeds, 
the Band's treaty land entitlement. From the perspective of the Band at the 
time, however, and in light of the fact that the Band itself apparently initiated 
surrender discussions with representatives of the department, we conclude 
that this surrender cannot be considered "exploitative" within the meaning 
contemplated by the Supreme Court in Apsussin. 
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PART V 

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION 

The Commission has been asked to inquire into and report on whether the 
Government of Canada owes an outstanding lawful obligation to The Key First 
Nation. We have concluded that it does not. 

First, we have concluded that there is no evidence in this inquiry that the 
terms of Treaty 4 should be interpreted to include notions of the Band's 
traditional clan governance. As a result, we hold that there is no evidence of 
a conflict between the treaty and the surrender provisions of the Indian Act, 
as there is no evidence before us that the parties at the time of treaty 
intended to establish within its terms a particular standard or threshold of 
coilsent. 

Second, we find that the Shoal River Indians were not members of The Key 
Band at the time of the surrender, owing to the mutual intention of the Shoal 
River Indians, on the one hand, and of the followers of Chief The Key, on the 
other, to live as autonomous bands. In the alternative, we find that the Shoal 
River Indians did not habitually reside on or near, or were interested in, IR 
65 at the time of the surrender, with the result that they were not eligible to 
vote pursuant to section 49(2) of the Indian Act. 

Finally, we End that, in the 1909 surrender of IR 65, the procedural 
requirements of section 49 of the Indian Act were satisfied, and it does not 
appear to us that the Crown breached any fiduciary obligations to the Band in 
the course of the surrender proceedings. SpeciEcally, we see no evidence 
that the Band's understanding of the terms of the surrender was inadequate, 
that the conduct of the Crown tainted the dealings in a manner that would 
make it unsafe to rely on the Band's understanding and intention, that the 
Band ceded or abnegated its decision-making authority to or in favour of the 
Crown in relation to the surrender, or that the surrender was so foolish or 
improvident as to be considered exploitative. 
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In conclusion, we therefore recommend to the parties: 

That the claim of The Key First Nation regarding the surrender of a 
portion of IR 65 not be accepted for negotiation under Canada's 
Specac Claims Policy. 

FOR THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION 

P.E. James Prentice, QC Carole T. Corcoran Roger J. Augustine 
Commission Co-Chair Commissioner Commissioner 

Dated this 27th day of March, 2000. 
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APPENDIX A 

THE KEY FIRST NATION 1909 SURRENDER INQUIRY 

1 Planning conferences September 12, 1995 
June 9, 1997 

2 Community sessions 

Three community sessions were held, 

1st community session: The Key First Nation, Community Centre, 
January 24, 1996 

The Commission heard evidence from Chief O'Soup, Raymond Brass, 
Susan Brass, Clarice Brass, Sterling Brass, Edwin Crane, Charles Coch- 
rane, and Norman Audy. 

2nd community session: The Key First Nation, Community Centre, 
November 20, 1997. 

The Commission heard evidence from Chief Campbell Papequash, 
Charles Cochrane, Edwin Crane, Miles Musqua, Helen Stevenson, Greg 
Brass, and Sterling Brass. 

3rd community session: The Key First Nation, Community Centre, 
March 10, 1998 

The Commission heard evidence from Chief William Papequash, William 
Papequash, Dorothy Crow, Emily Durocher, Desmond Key, Auntie Helen, 
DarreU Papequash, Helen Stevenson, Ronald Gordon, DarreU Cote, Har- 
old Papequash, Sterling Brass, Susan Brass, Charles Cochrane, and Fred 
Brass. 

3 Expert session Regina, Saskatchewan, January 25, 1999 

The Commission heard evidence from Guy Magny 

4 Legal argument Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, June 14, 1999 



5 Content of formal record 

The formal record for The Key First Nation 1909 Surrender Inquiry con- 
sists of the following materials: 

the documentary record (3 volumes of documents) 

16 exhibits tendered during the inquiry (including 4 volumes of tran- 
scripts of the community and expert sessions) 

written submissions of counsel for Canada and written submissions 
and rebuttal submissions of counsel for the Key First Nation, including 
authorities submitted by counsel with their written submissions and 
transcript of oral submission. 

The report of the Commission and leners of transmittal to the parties d 
complete the formal record of this inquiry. 




